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AGENDA
CITY OF WESTMINSTER
Mayor and Common Council Meeting
Monday, March 8, 2021 at 7 pm
https://www.facebook.com/westminstermd/
1. CALL TO ORDER
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A) Mayor and Common Council Meeting of February 22, 2021
B) Closed Session of February 22, 2021
3. PRESENTATION
A) FY 2020 Financial Reports – Wanda Lynn and Ryan Harshman of Brown Schultz Sheridan &
Fritz
4. CONSENT CALENDAR
A) Approval – Settlement Agreement between CTC Technology and Energy, Inc. and the Mayor
and Common Council of Westminster – Mayor Dominick
B) Approval – Amendment to Dark Fiber Lease and Network Operation Agreement between Ting
and the Mayor and Common Council of the City of Westminster, Maryland – Extension of
Services Outside City Boundaries – Ms. Matthews
C) Approval – City Administrator Recruitment Proposal by GovHR USA – Mayor Dominick
5. REPORT FROM THE MAYOR
6. COVID-19 PANDEMIC UPDATE
7. REPORTS FROM STANDING COMMITTEES
A) Arts Council
B) Economic and Community Development Committee
C) Finance Committee
D) Personnel Committee
E) Public Safety Committee

F) Public Works Committee
G) Recreation and Parks Committee
H) Technology Committee
8. COUNCIL COMMENTS AND DISCUSSION
9. ORDINANCES & RESOLUTIONS
A) Adoption – Ordinance No. 932 – An Ordinance of the Mayor and Common Council of
Westminster Authorizing the Disposition of Certain Real Property Known as the “Winters Lot”,
Located at the Norther Quadrant of the Intersection of West Main Street and John Street,
Westminster, Maryland 21157, Consisting of Lots 1297 and 1298, Comprising Collectively
10,714 Square Feet, and Improved with a Parking Lot – Ms. Matthews
B) Adoption – Resolution No. 21-01 – A Resolution Supporting the City of Westminster’s
Participation in the Sustainable Maryland Municipal Certification Program – Ms. Matthews
10. NEW BUSINESS
A) Vote to go into Closed Session
11. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
12. DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS
13. CITIZEN COMMENTS
Please submit comments to Shannon Visocsky, City Clerk, at Comments@westgov.com. If you
would like your comments to be submitted as part of the record, please provide your full name and
address. The Council President will read submitted comments that include the required information
during the meeting, and they will be reflected in the meeting minutes.
14. ADJOURNMENT
15. CLOSED SESSION

AGENDA
CITY OF WESTMINSTER
Mayor and Common Council Meeting
Monday, March 8, 2021 at 7 pm
https://www.facebook.com/westminstermd/
1. CALL TO ORDER
2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
A) Mayor and Common Council Meeting of February 22, 2021
B) Closed Session of February 22, 2021
3. PRESENTATION
A) FY 2020 Financial Reports – Wanda Lynn and Ryan Harshman of Brown Schultz Sheridan &
Fritz
4. CONSENT CALENDAR
A) Approval – Settlement Agreement between CTC Technology and Energy, Inc. and the Mayor
and Common Council of Westminster – Mayor Dominick
B) Approval – Amendment to Dark Fiber Lease and Network Operation Agreement between Ting
and the Mayor and Common Council of the City of Westminster, Maryland – Extension of
Services Outside City Boundaries – Ms. Matthews
C) Approval – City Administrator Recruitment Proposal by GovHR USA – Mayor Dominick
5. REPORT FROM THE MAYOR
6. COVID-19 PANDEMIC UPDATE
7. REPORTS FROM STANDING COMMITTEES
A) Arts Council
B) Economic and Community Development Committee
C) Finance Committee
D) Personnel Committee
E) Public Safety Committee

1

F) Public Works Committee
G) Recreation and Parks Committee
H) Technology Committee
8. COUNCIL COMMENTS AND DISCUSSION
9. ORDINANCES & RESOLUTIONS
A) Adoption – Ordinance No. 932 – An Ordinance of the Mayor and Common Council of
Westminster Authorizing the Disposition of Certain Real Property Known as the “Winters Lot”,
Located at the Norther Quadrant of the Intersection of West Main Street and John Street,
Westminster, Maryland 21157, Consisting of Lots 1297 and 1298, Comprising Collectively
10,714 Square Feet, and Improved with a Parking Lot – Ms. Matthews
B) Adoption – Resolution No. 21-01 – A Resolution Supporting the City of Westminster’s
Participation in the Sustainable Maryland Municipal Certification Program – Ms. Matthews
10. NEW BUSINESS
A) Vote to go into Closed Session
11. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
12. DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS
13. CITIZEN COMMENTS
Please submit comments to Shannon Visocsky, City Clerk, at Comments@westgov.com. If you
would like your comments to be submitted as part of the record, please provide your full name and
address. The Council President will read submitted comments that include the required information
during the meeting, and they will be reflected in the meeting minutes.
14. ADJOURNMENT
15. CLOSED SESSION

2

MINUTES
CITY OF WESTMINSTER
Mayor and Common Council Meeting
February 22, 2021 at 7 pm
https://www.facebook.com/westminstermd/
CALL TO ORDER
Elected Officials Present: Councilmember Chiavacci, Councilmember Dayhoff, Mayor Dominick,
Councilmember Gilbert, President Pecoraro, and Councilmember Yingling.
Staff Present: Director of Finance Colston, Director of Technology Services Davidson, Director of
Community Planning and Development Depo, Director of Public Works Glass, Director of Recreation
and Parks Gruber, Chief of Police Ledwell, City Attorney Levan, City Administrator Matthews, Director
of Human Resources McCullough, and City Clerk Visocsky.
Guest: Tim Ailsworth, Executive Director, Local Government Insurance Trust.
APPROVAL OF MINUTES
President Pecoraro requested a motion to approve the following minutes:
•

Mayor and Common Council Meeting of February 8, 2021;

•

Closed Session of February 8, 2021;

•

Special Mayor and Common Council Meeting of February 15, 2021; and,

•

Closed Session of February 15, 2021.

Councilmember Chiavacci noted a clerical error was made in the Special Mayor and Common Council
Meeting minutes of February 15, 2021.
Councilmember Dayhoff moved, seconded by Councilmember Gilbert, to approve the minutes with
correction of the error noted by Councilmember Chiavacci.
VOTE
AYES: President Pecoraro, Councilmember Chiavacci, Councilmember Dayhoff, Councilmember
Gilbert, and Councilmember Yingling.
NAYS: None.
PRESENTATION
LGIT Health Claims Reimbursement Check
President Pecoraro welcomed Tim Ailsworth, Executive Director of the Local Government Insurance
Trust (LGIT). Mr. Ailsworth presented a check in the amount of $295,533, representing the City’s claims
fund surplus for the FY 2020 plan year. He then outlined some of the services provided by LGIT.
CONSENT CALENDAR
President Pecoraro requested a motion to approve the Consent Calendar, which consisted of one item
– Approval of the January 2021 Departmental Operating Reports.
Councilmember Dayhoff moved, seconded by Councilmember Chiavacci, to approve the Consent
Calendar.
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VOTE
AYES: President Pecoraro, Councilmember Chiavacci, Councilmember Dayhoff, Councilmember
Gilbert, and Councilmember Yingling.
NAYS: None.
REPORT FROM THE MAYOR
Mayor Dominick reported that, on February 22, 2021, he and President Pecoraro met with City staff to
discuss the expansion of the Westminster Fiber Network outside the City limits. He advised his
colleagues that good progress had been made at the meeting, including how to calculate the cost that
would be assessed for different types of builds.
Mayor Dominick then suggested to his colleagues that they begin discussing how to handle parades
and similar events for the graduates of 2021. He noted that customary graduation ceremonies may not
be held in 2021 due to COVID-19 pandemic concerns.
Mayor Dominick concluded his report by thanking City staff members who worked during the recent
snowstorm. He then read an email from a community member, who expressed their appreciation for
the excellent street plowing by the Public Works Department.
COVID-19 PANDEMIC UPDATE
None.
REPORTS FROM STANDING COMMITTEES
There were no reports from the following Standing Committees: Arts, Economic and Community
Development, Personnel, Recreation and Parks, and Technology.
President Pecoraro, on behalf of the Finance Committee, reported that staff continued to work on the
FY 2022 budget. He advised his colleagues that staff had developed a FY 2022 budget calendar, which
included two meetings of the Finance Committee during the month of March. Other key dates in the
budget schedule are the following:
•

April 12, 2021: Budget Presentation and Introduction of the Budget Ordinance;

•

April 19, 2021: Budget Work Session #1 and Budget Public Hearing #1;

•

April 26, 2021: Public Hearing #2, Constant Yield Tax Rate Public Hearing, and Budget Work
Session #2; and,

•

May 10, 2021: Adoption of the Budget Ordinance.

President Pecoraro thanked Ms. Matthews and Ms. Colston for providing the budget calendar.
Councilmember Chiavacci, on behalf of the Public Safety Committee, thanked staff members of the
Westminster Police Department and the Public Works Department for their work during the recent
snowstorm. During inclement weather, the Police Department responds to an increased number of
calls for vehicular accidents and emergency assistance for falls and other incidents. Councilmember
Chiavacci concluded his report by advising that the City’s crime rate continued to remain low.
Councilmember Yingling, on behalf of the Public Works Committee, reported that the Committee met
on February 19, 2021. Agenda items included a discussion of the water re-use pilot project, as well as
concerns related to Union Alley.
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Councilmember Yingling first provided an update on the water re-use pilot project, reporting that an
area had been selected for the pilot project and construction would begin soon. He then shared that he
and Mayor Dominick received an email from Jeff Fretwell, current Director of the Water Quality
Financing Administration for the Maryland Department of the Environment (MDE) and former Legislative
Liaison to MDE Secretary Ben Grumbles. The email stated that Secretary Grumbles had met with the
Water Finance Exchange, a non-profit organization that partners with organizations that provide funding
for projects such as the water re-use pilot project. Mr. Fretwell shared with Mayor Dominick and
Councilmember Yingling that Secretary Grumbles highlighted the City’s water re-use pilot project during
that meeting, noting the leadership position taken by the City on such matters in the State.
Councilmember Yingling then reported on the Committee’s discussion regarding safety concerns about
Union Alley, noting prior discussions among the members of the elected body regarding the suggested
closure of the alley and/ or getting a traffic study of the area. In addition to those discussions,
Councilmember Yingling stated that the Committee also considered the interests of the surrounding
business owners and homeowners, and the impact that such decisions would have on them. In
considering a traffic study, the Committee members agreed that any such study should include
downtown Westminster as opposed to exclusively focusing on Union Alley; the Public Works Committee
recommended that the Finance Committee review the projected cost of a more expansive traffic study
and determine if the City had the resources to undertake one. Councilmember Yingling then addressed
the suggestion of closing the alley, stating that doing so could possibly create an unsafe situation for
pedestrians visiting downtown businesses and the surrounding area. He stated that the Committee
recommended that Union Alley remain open.
Councilmember Dayhoff expressed his support for moving forward with a traffic study to identify any
safety concerns associated with the various alternative solutions. A particular area of concern is the
Colonel Rosser Parking Lot exit onto Union Alley.
Mayor Dominick pointed out that the issue at hand was the location of a resident’s garage only inches
away from the alley. Snow removal and traffic through the alley created issue for the resident due to
the proximity of the garage to the alley. Mayor Dominick noted that several discussions had occurred
between the City’s elected officials, as well as with Chief Ledwell and Mr. Glass. In light of those
discussions and the issues raised during them, Mayor Dominick stated that a downtown traffic study
was the appropriate next step as recommended by the Committee.
Councilmember Gilbert asked if the Committee had given any consideration to the large trucks that
travel the alley, as the turning radius from the Colonel Rosser Parking Lot onto the alley seemed to be
the primary issue. She also inquired about restricting the height of commercial trucks. Mayor Dominick
shared that the property owner in question stated at a prior meeting that a truck had struck their garage
while driving down Union Alley. It was not a commercial vehicle, and was not turning from the Colonel
Rosser Parking Lot when the accident occurred. The accident appeared to be the result of distracted
driving. Mayor Dominick expressed concern that adding a height restriction could create an issue on
Main Street if a commercial truck did not see the restriction prior to turning; in this instance, a truck
would have to back up, causing other traffic safety concerns. Councilmember Yingling concurred with
Mayor Dominick’s comments, noting that a height restriction would impact emergency vehicles and
snow equipment when needed in the alley.
President Pecoraro concluded the discussion, stating that the recommendation of the Public Works
Committee would be forwarded to the Finance Committee to assess the cost of a traffic study for
downtown Westminster and what resources were available to fund the same. He noted that Chief
Ledwell and Mr. Glass would be a part of that discussion. President Pecoraro expressed support for
conducting a traffic study, given the completion of the 45 West Main Renovation Project and the planned
redevelopment of the former Stocksdale Property.
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COUNCIL COMMENTS AND DISCUSSION
Councilmember Chiavacci thanked Councilmember Yingling for holding a Public Works Committee
meeting to discuss Union Alley. He endorsed the Committee’s recommendation to conduct a traffic
study, stating that it was important to address the concerns of the residents who approached the City.
Councilmember Dayhoff echoed Councilmember Chiavacci’s comments about the Union Alley matter.
He then shared that he would like for Graham Dodge, Executive Director of the Mid-Atlantic Gigabit
Innovation Collaboratory (MAGIC), to provide a report to the Mayor and Common Council on MAGIC’s
autonomous vehicle initiative. Councilmember Dayhoff then spoke favorably of incorporating a mural
as part of the Diffendal Retaining Wall Project, and suggested that the City explore other public art
opportunities downtown. He concluded his report by thanking the Public Works Department staff for its
excellent work in responding to the many recent snow events.
Councilmember Gilbert echoed Councilmember Dayhoff’s comments regarding the work of the Public
Works, and agreed with Councilmember Chiavacci’s remarks about the importance of addressing the
residents’ concerns.
Councilmember Yingling shared that he installed a fence and large rocks to help protect his own
property. He noted that the property owners may wish to consider taking similar actions.
ORDINANCES & RESOLUTIONS
Ordinance No. 932
Ms. Matthews stated that, on July 31, 2018, the City renewed its lease with Winchester West, L.L.C. for
office space at 56 West Main Street. The adjacent parking lot at the corner of West Main Street and
John Street (Winters Lot) is owned by the City. Section 11 of the lease provides for the City’s sale of
the lot to Winchester West, L.L.C. upon the expiration of the lease agreement, at a sale price of
$120,000.
Ms. Matthews informed the Mayor and Common Council that Ordinance No. 932 provides for the
disposition of the Winters Lot, and authorizes the Mayor’s execution of the associated Purchase
Contract. The terms of the Purchase Contract include a 45-day study period by Winchester West, L.L.C.
Ms. Matthews recommended that the Mayor and Common Council introduce Ordinance No. 932 – An
Ordinance of the Mayor and Common Council of Westminster Authorizing the Disposition of Certain
Real Property Known as the “Winters Lot”, Located at the Northern Quadrant of the Intersection of West
Main Street and John Street, Westminster, Maryland 21157, Consisting of Lots 1297 and 1298,
Comprising Collectively 10,714 Square Feet, and Improved with a Parking Lot.
Councilmember Chiavacci thanked Ms. Matthews for her work on this matter, adding that the sale of
the property would be beneficial to the City, the building owner, and future tenants. He then clarified
his statement that was recently published in a Carroll County Times article regarding 56 West Main
Street. Councilmember Chiavacci stated that it had been a good site for the City’s administrative offices
for many years, and the landlords were great to work with.
Councilmember Dayhoff echoed Councilmember Chiavacci’s comments. He suggested that the City
look for other opportunities to sell its property holdings that were non-performing and could be better
utilized by another party.
President Pecoraro noted the history of 56 West Main Street, which was at one time was a JCPenney
department store, and its key location in downtown Westminster. He then expressed his appreciation
to the building owner, who had treated the City well over the years. President Pecoraro noted that the
sale of the parking lot to Winchester West, L.L.C. would add value to the 56 West Main Street property.
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Councilmember Chiavacci moved, seconded by Councilmember Gilbert, to introduce Ordinance No.
932.
VOTE
AYES: President Pecoraro, Councilmember Chiavacci, Councilmember Dayhoff, Councilmember
Gilbert, and Councilmember Yingling.
NAYS: None.
UNFINISHED BUSINESS
Sustainable Maryland Program
Ms. Matthews stated that Sustainable Maryland was a free and voluntary certification program for
municipalities in Maryland that want to go green, save money, and take steps to sustain their quality of
life over the long term. Sustainable Maryland was a collaborative effort between the Environmental
Finance Center at the University of Maryland and the Maryland Municipal League.
To become Sustainable Maryland Certified, a municipality must complete and document actions worth
a total of 150 points (including two mandatory actions and two of six priority actions) and submit the
appropriate documents as evidence that the program requirements have been satisfied. Ms. Matthews
advised the Mayor and Common Council that once a municipality is certified, the certification is valid for
three program years. Re-certification is required prior to the end of the third year.
Councilmember Chiavacci stated that the City would like to be a good steward of the environment. He
noted that the City was already engaged in many of the activities encompassed by the Sustainable
Maryland program. Councilmember Chiavacci recommended that the mandatory “Green Team” be
comprised of community members, with staff support as needed.
Councilmember Dayhoff concurred, noting that becoming Sustainable Maryland certified was in keeping
with other City activities, including being designated as a Tree City USA and becoming a Bee City USA.
He stated that he was glad to see the City pursuing Sustainable Maryland certification.
Ms. Matthews informed the Mayor and Common Council that Ordinance No. 573 was enacted in 1993,
creating a Westminster Environmental Advisory Board; however, it had been inactive for a number of
years. The Mayor and Common Council may wish to consider reconstituting the Environmental Advisory
Board to serve as the City’s “Green Team.” Councilmember Dayhoff asked Ms. Matthews to forward a
copy of the relevant section of the City Code to the Mayor and Common Council.
President Pecoraro asked Ms. Matthews what was needed for the City to initiate the Sustainable
Maryland certification process. Ms. Matthews replied that the first step in the process was adoption of
a resolution stating the municipality’s intent to pursue Sustainable Maryland certification and
designating a person to be the formal liaison and contact with Sustainable Maryland.
President Pecoraro confirmed the consensus of the elected body to move forward with the necessary
resolution.
NEW BUSINESS
Warner Construction Change Order No. 23
Ms. Matthews informed the Mayor and Common Council that Change Order No. 23 to the City’s contract
with Warner Construction provided for the installation of a revised sewage ejector configuration and
connections. As she had advised the Mayor and Common Council via email on February 18, 2021, the
work associated with the change order was a critical path item; therefore, it was important for the City
to authorize Warner Construction to proceed with ordering the necessary equipment at the earliest
opportunity. With the concurrence of the Common Council, Mayor Dominick executed Change Order
No. 23 on February 19, 2021 so as not to impede completion of the 45 West Main Renovation project,
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as the necessary equipment needed to be ordered at the earliest opportunity for final inspections. The
Common Council’s formal approval would ratify that action.
Ms. Matthews shared that Change Order No. 23 had an associated cost of $4,775.83. It would extend
the contract time for completion by three days.
President Pecoraro requested a vote to approve Change Order No. 23. With no objection, the Common
Council unanimously approved Change Order No. 23 in the amount of $4,775.83.
VOTE
AYES: President Pecoraro, Councilmember Chiavacci, Councilmember Dayhoff, Councilmember
Gilbert, and Councilmember Yingling.
NAYS: None.
Infinite Love Project’s “Be Kind” Initiative
Ms. Matthews stated that, during his quarterly progress report on October 12, 2020, Graham Dodge,
Executive Director of the Mid-Atlantic Gigabit Innovation Collaboratory (MAGIC), referenced the
Infinitive Love Project’s “Be Kind” initiative. Mr. Dodge subsequently sent an email to the Mayor and
Common Council, providing additional information regarding the initiative. Eric Hyde Miller and Tina
Thomas, co-founders of the Infinite Love Project, provided additional information in their response to
Mr. Dodge’s email.
On February 8, 2021, Councilmember Gilbert requested that a discussion of the “Be Kind” initiative be
placed on the next meeting agenda.
Mayor Dominick spoke favorably of the “Be Kind” initiative and the associated signs, and that the idea
of adopting the same as the City’s official motto had merit. He noted the potential for conflict, as the
“Be Kind” initiative is a commercial endeavor.
President Pecoraro stated that the initiative brought back memories of his father, who was a school
principal; his father would often end his remarks to students by saying “be kind.” He then noted that
the City Attorney had raised certain concerns, and suggested that the matter be referred to the
Economic and Community Development Committee for a recommendation.
Councilmember Chiavacci voiced his support for the initiative, noting that he had a “Be Kind” sign
hanging at both his home and business. He suggested that the Mayor and Common Council consider
endorsing the initiative via adoption of a resolution.
Councilmember Yingling expressed concern about the City’s endorsement of a private initiative, which
could be leveraged for private gain.
Councilmember Dayhoff shared his support for Councilmember Chiavacci’s idea of a resolution. He
added that he has a number of the “Be Kind” signs. Councilmember Dayhoff stated that he would like
to explore community art projects that would align with the initiative.
Closed Session
Councilmember Chiavacci motioned to go into Closed Session following the Regular Meeting, to consult
with counsel to obtain legal advice on a legal matter. Councilmember Dayhoff seconded the motion.
VOTE
AYES: President Pecoraro, Councilmember Chiavacci, Councilmember Dayhoff, Councilmember
Gilbert, and Councilmember Yingling.
NAYS: None.
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DEPARTMENTAL REPORTS
Finance Department
Ms. Colston reported that the FY 2020 audit had been completed, and staff would distribute a final copy
of the financial statements to the Mayor and Common Council by the end of the week. She shared that
the auditor would make a presentation at the next Mayor and Common Council meeting on March 8,
2021.
Technology Services Department
Mr. Davidson advised the Mayor and Common Council that the server infrastructure would be relocated
from 56 West Main Street to 45 West Main Street on March 5, 2021, with an anticipated six-hour outage.
Community Planning and Development Department
Mr. Depo reported that, on February 11, 2021, the Planning and Zoning Commission approved the site
development plan for the CFT Plaza. He also reported that Tyler Codd, the newest member of the
Commission, had attended his first meeting and Lyndi McNulty was elected to serve as the
Commission’s Vice-Chair.
Mr. Depo then reported that staff met with Starbucks and the Maryland State Highway Administration
to address Starbucks patron traffic backing up onto Route 140. Once the proposed site redesign was
received, he would review the same with Chief Ledwell and Mr. Glass.
Public Works Department
Mr. Glass provided updates on various projects, as outlined below:
•

The Inflow and Infiltration Project was in the permitting stage; materials were being ordered for
the project.

•

The Storm Drain Lining System installation was delayed due to inclement weather and would
begin later in the week.

•

The Parking Garage Precast Deck Repair Project was also delayed due to inclement weather;
the project would now begin on March 8, 2021.

•

The preconstruction meeting for the Diffendal Parking Lot Retaining Wall Project was held earlier
in the day.

•

On February 25, 2021, staff held the kick-off meeting for the Well # 8 PFAS study.

Mr. Glass concluded his report by informing the Mayor and Common Council that the City had used
1,500 tons of salt due to the multiple winter weather events.
Recreation and Parks Department
Ms. Gruber reported that a Save the Date was posted on February 19, 2021 via Facebook for the hybrid
Wine Stroll. She then reported that summer camp registration would begin March 4, 2021. Ms. Gruber
noted that this year’s camp program would follow State guidelines and provide additional safety
measures, such as requiring a two-week minimum registration. Ms. Gruber then shared that more than
350 runners had registered for the Celtic Canter.
Ms. Gruber concluded her report by noting that the third and final community input meeting regarding
the development of a master plan for Wakefield Valley Park would be held on March 3, 2021.
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Westminster Police Department
Chief Ledwell reported that Rape Crisis Intervention Services had scheduled a virtual Walk A Mile in
Her Shoes event on April 10 through April 11, 2021. The Police Department would share information
regarding this event on its Facebook page.
Chief Ledwell then reported that the Police Department had increased crosswalk enforcement in light
of a recent incident in which a pedestrian was struck by a vehicle while in a crosswalk in front of the
Library. In addition, the Department was providing educational videos and flyers and taking other
measures to enhance safety in such areas.
Chief Ledwell concluded his report by sharing that the Police Department was planning its annual
awards ceremony and for Leadership Carroll’s Justice and Law Day.
CITIZEN COMMENTS
None.
ADJOURNMENT
President Pecoraro adjourned the meeting at 8:38 pm.

Respectfully Submitted,

Shannon Visocsky, City Clerk

Full audio version is available on www.westminstermd.gov

10

8

Presentation – FY 2020 Financial Statements

To:

Mayor and Common Council

From: Lydia Colston, CPA, Director of Finance
Date:

March 4, 2021

Re:

Presentation – FY 2020 Audited Financial Reports

Background
In accordance with §4-12.B of the City Code, an audited statement of the finances of the City is prepared on an
annual basis as of the end of the preceding fiscal year. As is required by Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles (GAAP), the audit is performed by a firm of independent Certified Public Accounts (CPA’s) and the
auditor’s opinion is included in the financial statements. An independent audit is essential to demonstrate the
accountability of government officials’ use of public resources and provides a basis for user acceptance of the
audited financial statements. The City contracted with Brown, Shultz, Sheridan, Fritz, CPAs to perform an outside
audit and to prepare the City’s annual Financial Reports for fiscal year 2020.
The Mayor and members of the Common Council were provided a copy of the Financial Reports for fiscal year
2020 via email on February 26, 2021.
Discussion
The City’s audit was conducted in conformity with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards (GAAS). These are the
standards that a CPA must follow when auditing financial statements. In an independent audit, the CPA
expresses an opinion as to whether the financial statements present fairly the financial position and results of
operations for the year ended. The fiscal year 2020 audit report includes this unqualified opinion. The report
includes the Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and
Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing
Standards; the Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Program; and on Internal Control
over Compliance required by the Uniform Guidance.
There were four findings on the fiscal year 2020 financial statements. A brief summary of the four findings is
provided below:
•

Finding 2020-001 concerns transactions not recorded as a result of financial reporting system errors.

•

Finding 2020-002 relates to modifications that were required to properly state restricted cash and
various nonspendable, restricted, and assigned fund balances.

•

Finding 2020-003 involves the allocations of costs charged to the Public Housing Agency.

•

Finding 2020-004 addresses the filing of the monthly Voucher Management System reports by the Public
Housing Agency.
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The Financial Reports reflect the reporting format (GASB 34) and classifications of fund balance (GASB 54), which
are required for all government entities. The overall goal of the GASB 34 format is to answer the question of
whether a government as a whole is in better or worse financial condition than the preceding year. In fiscal year
2020, the City of Westminster’s government-wide change in financial position was a net increase of $20,581,294.
Net position is a term that most closely resembles equity in private sector financial statements, and represents
the difference between the City's assets, deferred inflows of resources, deferred outflows of resources, and
liabilities.
The classifications of fund balance, required in governmental funds in accordance with GASB 54, serve to further
clarify the constraints on the uses of funds by the level of authority where such constraints are placed. At June
30, 2020, the City's unassigned General Fund balance was $9,090,411 while total fund balance was $16,102,284.
All governmental funds, with the exception of the Fiber Fund, ended the year with positive net positions.
Recommendation
Staff recommends acceptance of the Annual Financial Reports, as presented.
Attachment
• FY 2020 Audited Financial Statements
cc:

Barbara B. Matthews, City Administrator
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER,
MARYLAND

2020
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for the FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020
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February 12, 2021

The Honorable Mayor and Common Council
and the Citizens of the City of Westminster:
State law requires that all general-purpose local governments publish a complete set of audited financial
statements within six months of the close of each fiscal year. After receiving an extension, we hereby issue
the comprehensive annual financial report for the City of Westminster, Maryland, for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2020.
This report consists of management's representations concerning the finances of the City of Westminster.
Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all of the
information presented in this report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control that it has
established for this purpose. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their benefits,
the City of Westminster's comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to provide
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements will be free from material
misstatement. As management, we assert that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, this financial report
is complete and reliable in all material respects.
The City of Westminster's financial statements have been audited by Brown Schultz Sheridan & Fritz (BSSF),
a firm of licensed certified public accountants. Based on this audit, the independent auditor concluded that
there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion that t h e City of Westminster's financial
statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 and are fairly presented in conformity with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). The independent auditor's report is presented as the first component
of the financial section of this report.
The independent audit of the financial statements of City of Westminster was part of a broader, federally
mandated "Single Audit" designed to meet the special needs of federal grantor agencies. The standards
governing Single Audit engagements require the independent auditor to report not only on the fair
presentation of the financial statements, but also on the audited government's internal controls and
compliance with legal requirements, with special emphasis on internal controls and legal requirements
involving the administration of federal awards.
Management's discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent auditor's report
and provides a narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the basic financial statements. The MD&A
complements this letter of transmittal and should be read in conjunction with it.

1

17

Profile of the Government
Westminster was founded in 1764 by William Winchester of England. Winchester originally named his planned
community "Winchester's Town." The community changed its name to Westminster in 1768 because mail was
frequently mistakenly delivered to nearby Winchester, Virginia.
In 1764, Winchester located Westminster on one of the three main western-bound routes in what is now known
as Carroll County. Today, these routes are known as Route 30, Route 140 and Route 26. These roadways were
critical for the economic expansion of the fledgling colony of Maryland. Winchester established Westminster ten
miles - one day's travel - between Reisterstown and Taneytown, Maryland. This resulted in Westminster quickly
establishing hotels, eating establishments and provisioning stores.
Westminster's first settlers were predominately Germans and Scotch-Irish, who moved to the Westminster area
from southern Pennsylvania. Much of the early industry was agriculture, tanning, banking and a wide variety
of merchants and craftsmen. Hotels and restaurants were also an important part of local commerce, catering to
westward bound travelers well into the late 1800s.
According to "What Ever Happened to our Hotels," written by former Historical Society curator Lillian Shipley
in September 1971, as late as "around the turn of the (20th) century Westminster had 7 churches, 7 hotels and
18 saloons." "The hotels (were the) Eastern or East End, the Main Court, the Central, the Westminster (Charles
Carroll Hotel,) the Albion, the Montour House and the Anchor."
Originally, Westminster sat on the boundary line between Frederick and Baltimore Counties. In 1837, Carroll
County was created from portions of Frederick and Baltimore Counties.
Until a formal organized municipal government was adopted in 1818, the Union Meeting House, and its board
of trustees, was utilized as a "governing body" for the early settlers. Westminster was originally incorporated
in 1818 and provided for the community to be governed by a burgess and six commissioners elected annually.
The 1818 incorporation also consolidated three adjoining towns into one town called Westminster: Westminster,
New London and Winter's Addition to Westminster. From the initial incorporation passed by the Maryland
General Assembly in Chapter 128, Acts of 1818, through a subsequent incorporation in 1830, until 1856,
Westminster had a Burgess and Commissioner form of government. The first "Mayor" of the City of Westminster
was Francis Shriver, who served from 1856 to 1858.
Of note is that Westminster was not recognized as a "city" until the 1838 charter - incorporation was amended
by Chapter 335 of the Acts of the Maryland General Assembly of 1856. This action re-characterized the
municipality as a "city" and changed the titles of the elected officials to the Mayor and Common Council of
Westminster.
The year after Carroll County was formed in 1837, Westminster was re-incorporated and made the county seat
because of the aggressive advocacy of its citizens and because of Westminster's central location. Carroll County
is the birthplace of Methodism in America and is near the home of Francis Scott Key, the author of our national
anthem. The first countywide rural-free delivery of mail started in Westminster in the late 1890s.
Today, Westminster is an exciting community of approximately 19,000 citizens. It has grown from its humble
beginnings of 0.745 square miles to its current size of 6.55 square miles. It is located strategically in the rolling
countryside foothills of the Blue Ridge Mountains, 30 miles northwest of Baltimore, Maryland, and 60 miles
north of Washington, D.C. Westminster is the county seat of Carroll County and is located in the middle of the
county.
Westminster is governed by a Mayor and a five-member Common Council. The Mayor and Common
Councilmembers are elected at large and serve staggered elected terms of four years each. The City
Administrator oversees the day-to-day operations of the City government, assisted by the directors of each
department. Westminster has a full-time equivalent staff of approximately 168 employees.
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Westminster residents enjoy a high quality of life, with easy access to parks, recreational activities, places of
religious worship and meaningful employment. The community has a low crime rate. The Carroll County Public
School System consistently ranks as one of the best in Maryland.
Local Economy
Westminster is steeped in tradition and history, but progressive when it comes to technology and business
development. As the county seat of Carroll County, Westminster is the center of fast growing commercial and
industrial sectors, with a strong manufacturing base located in the industrially zoned parcels near the County's
only airport.
The City's retail spaces include large box retail along major thoroughfares and a mall. Downtown Westminster
provides a unique shopping, dining and cultural experience in a small town atmosphere; the Main Street area
is pedestrian friendly, with wide sidewalks, mature shade trees and brick crosswalks. The City hosts numerous
downtown events, including Fallfest, the Miracle on Main holiday parade, the Celtic Canter, the Flower and
Jazz Festival, a summer concert series and numerous 5k runs. The City's renovation of the historic Carroll
Theater into the Carroll Arts Center established Westminster as an emerging cultural heritage and arts
destination.
Westminster also continues to experience growth in residential construction. The City has seen approximately
50 to 100 new housing starts annually, since the availability of a new water source in 2015. Most new houses
are in the middle range of value from $400,000 to $600,000.
Three of the City's largest employers are public sector agencies – Carroll County government, Carroll County
Public Schools and the City itself.
Westminster is also home to McDaniel College, formerly known as Western Maryland College. This nationally
ranked liberal arts college was chartered in 1868.
Long-term Financial Planning
Real Property Tax Rate
The real property tax rate is set by the Mayor and Common Council annually during the adoption of the budget.
For fiscal year 2020, the Mayor and Common Council adopted a real property tax rate of $0.56 per $100 of
assessed value, unchanged from the prior year. This rate is split into two rates – one for operations and one for
capital improvements. All tax revenues collected for capital improvements are restricted for use in the capital
improvement budget in the General Fund.
Personal Property Tax Rate
The personal property tax rate is also set annually by the Mayor and Common Council during adoption of the
budget. For fiscal year 2020, the Mayor and Council adopted a personal property tax rate of $1.10 per $100 of
assessed value, unchanged from the prior year.
Utility Personal Property Tax Rate
The utility personal property tax rate is also set annually by the Mayor and Common Council during adoption of
the budget. For fiscal year 2020, the Mayor and Common Council adopted a tax rate of $1.40 per $100 of assessed
value, unchanged from the prior year.
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Operating Budget
The City maintains a balanced Operating Plan and a six-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) for expenditures
based on projected revenues. The development of these plans requires the City to evaluate the impact of current
decisions on the long-term financial position of the City.
Capital Projects
The City's six-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) is focused on maintaining existing infrastructure and
improving and expanding economic development opportunities. The CIP projects include renovation of the City’s
future administrative office building located at 45 West Main Street, road improvements, an upgrade to the
wastewater treatment plant for enhanced nutrient removal and improved biosolids processing and equipment,
sewer main rehabilitation to reduce inflow and infiltration of extraneous water into the system and a water reuse project to increase the City’s available water capacity. Additional projects include GIS layers for water and
sewer mains, water mains and vehicles and equipment.
Debt Administration
The City plans long and short-term debt issuance to finance its capital budget based on cash flow needs,
sources of revenue, available financing instruments, trends in bond market structures and trends in
interest rates. A financial advisory firm and bond counsel assist in developing a bond issuance strategy,
preparing bond documents and marketing bonds to investors.
Users of this document, as well as others interested in the programs and services offered by the City, are
encouraged to read the City's Adopted Fiscal Year 2020-2021 Budget. The budget document details the City's
long-term goals and financial policies; describes departmental activities, accomplishments and initiatives; and
provides more detail concerning the City's Capital Improvement Program. The budget document is available on
the City of Westminster's website at www.westminstermd.gov.
Financial Policies and Practices
General
1. The City of Westminster's departments will carry out the Mayor and Common Council's goals, objectives
and policies through a service delivery system funded by the City's operating and capital budgets.
2. The City will take positive steps to improve the productivity of its programs and employees, and will seek
ways to eliminate duplicative functions within the City government and between the City of Westminster
and other public agencies in the community. Specifically, intensive reviews of the efficiency and
effectiveness of certain City services will be periodically undertaken.
3. Whenever feasible, City activities will be considered enterprises if they will increase efficiency of service
delivery or recover the cost of providing the service from the benefiting entity by user fees.
4. Adequate reserves will be maintained for all known liabilities.
5. Efforts will be coordinated with neighboring governmental agencies to achieve common policy objectives,
share the cost of providing governmental services on an equitable basis and support favorable legislation at
the state and federal level.
6. The City will seek out, apply for and effectively administer federal, state and foundation grants that address
the City's current priorities and policy objectives.
7. The City will initiate, encourage and participate in economic development efforts to create job opportunities
and strengthen the local economy.
8. The City's Finance Department staff will carry out all policies responsibly, ethically and professionally for
the betterment of the City of Westminster.
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Budget
1. The City Administrator, on behalf of the Mayor, will develop a recommended budget in conjunction with the
City's department directors. The Finance Director will coordinate all aspects of the City's budget process.
The recommended budget will be presented to the Common Council for its consideration and adoption.
2. The recommended budget will be developed based on the Government Finance Officer Association (GFOA)
budget document development guidelines as a planning document, and will present key economic issues for
public discussion.
3. As required by state law, the Common Council shall adopt a balanced budget by an ordinance appropriating
funds prior to the beginning of the fiscal year.
4. All governmental fund budgets presented to the Mayor and Common Council for adoption will be balanced,
with projected expenditures equal or less than projected revenues and applied fund balance.
5. The relationship between the operating and capital budgets will be explicitly recognized and incorporated
into the budget process. Funding for these budgets shall be sufficient to provide municipal operating
services, as well as maintenance or enhancement of capital assets needed to support public demand for City
services.
6. Common Council approval is required to transfer balances from one department to any other department.
7. These financial policies will be included as part of the budget document.
Revenue Policies
1. Budgeted revenue estimates will be based on reasonably conservative and realistic expectations.
2. Non-recurring revenues and financing sources will not be used to finance continuing operations per City
Code requirements.
3. Long-term financial commitments for continuing outlays will be avoided unless sustained revenue growth
is assured.
4. The City will be aggressive in collecting revenues owed to it.
5. The City will establish all user charges fees at a level related to the full costs of providing the service. The
City will review fees/charges periodically.
6. The City will consider market rates and charges levied by other area municipalities of similar size for like
services in establishing rates, fees and charges. The fee structure will be reviewed during the budget process
and will be included in the budget document.
7. Enterprise operations will be self-supporting.
8. For the FY 2010 - 2011 budget year, the Common Council approved an increase in the real estate property
tax rate for the intent of funding capital projects. Any and all revenue received above the FY 2009 - 2010
tax rate is hereby directed into a Capital Projects account to be used only in support of Common Council
appropriated capital projects.
9. The City bills for services provided. These may include, but are not limited to, fees associated with levies
authorized by legislation, fines issued for violations of City Code provisions and charges for utility usage.
Each receivable is booked when billed, and is associated with a customer account that represents an
obligation to the City. It is assumed that charges incurred will be paid according to the terms and conditions
of the obligation; however, not all receivables are honored in full and it may not be cost effective for the City
to pursue in collection. As a result, a receivable may need to be written-off and bad debt expense recorded.
A receivable should be written-off to loss when cost-effective means to collect monies due have been
performed and further effort would be more costly than the proceeds received. Cost-effective means include,
but are not limited to, using City resources to provide notice to the obligor as provided for by City policy and
Code, and filing liens as the laws of the State of Maryland provide. Each action taken is documented in
accordance with internal control procedures and is utilized to support the write-off decision.
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Expenditure Accounts
1. The City shall operate on a current funding basis. Expenditures shall be budgeted and controlled so as not
to exceed current revenues plus the planned use of fund balance accumulated through prior years.
2. The City shall take immediate corrective actions if at any time during the fiscal year expenditure and
revenue re-estimates are such that an operating deficit is projected at year end. Corrective actions may
include a hiring freeze, expenditure reductions, fee increases or use of contingencies. Expenditure deferrals
into the following fiscal year, short-term loans or use of one-time revenue sources shall be avoided.
3. The City Administrator shall undertake periodic staff and third-party reviews of City programs for both
efficiency and effectiveness. Privatization and contracting with other governmental agencies will be
evaluated as alternatives to service delivery. Programs that are determined to be inefficient and/or
ineffective shall be reduced in scope or eliminated.
4. The City shall make every effort to maximize any discounts offered by creditors/vendors, and partnering
with other governmental agencies for resource purchasing shall be encouraged.
5. If budgeted funds are not available, the Director of Finance shall be contacted to assist in identifying a
funding source prior to the purchase occurring.
6. A department director is able to make transfers up to $10,000. Any transfers over $10,000 require the
Common Council's approval, even if involving a reallocation of funds within the same department. Common
Council approval is required for all transfers between departments.
Capital Improvement Policies
1. The City will develop a multi-year plan for capital improvements, which will be updated annually. The
Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) will include a description of each project, its cost and its funding source(s).
All capital improvements during the year will be made in accordance with the CIP and City Code
procurement requirements.
2. The City will maintain its physical assets at a level adequate to protect the City's capital investment and to
minimize future maintenance and replacement costs. The budget will provide for adequate maintenance
and orderly replacement of capital assets from current revenues whenever possible.
3. The capital budget process works in conjunction with the regular operating budget process. CIP projects are
noted as funded or unfunded depending on whether or not the forecasted operating budget can support or
fund the project. All funded CIP projects are included in the adopted budget for the current fiscal year.
4. Carryover or multi-year projects will be included in the CIP.
Capital Asset Management Policy
1. Capital (fixed) assets are tangible items that are acquired by procurement, transfer, capital lease, donation
or other method that transfers ownership and have the following characteristics:
a) Have an estimated useful life of five or more years;
b) Are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations; and
c) Are acquired or constructed with the intention of being used, or being available for use, by the entity to
conduct business.
2. The capitalization threshold used in determining if a given asset qualifies for capitalization is $10,000 and
a useful life of five years.
3. Adequate insurance shall be maintained on all capital assets consistent with the results of the annual
physical count/inspection.
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Accounting, Auditing and Financial Reporting Policies
1. The Director of Finance prepares and presents regular reports to the City Administrator and the Mayor and
Common Council that analyze, evaluate and forecast the City's financial performance, position, and
economic conditions.
2. The Finance Committee of the Common Council and the State of Maryland require an independent audit to
be performed annually. The audit results are available to the public on the City's website.
3. The City will issue annual financial reports in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP) as outlined in the Governmental Accounting, Auditing and Financial Reporting (GAAFR)
publication.
Purchasing Policy
1. The City shall ensure that all purchasing actions are fair and impartial with no impropriety or appearance
of impropriety. All qualified buyers and sellers will have equal access to City business and no individual or
firm shall be arbitrarily excluded.
2. To the maximum extent possible, purchasing actions will be conducted in a competitive environment.
3. Purchases will be made by the Director of Finance. Responsibility for certain purchasing actions may be
delegated to other senior City officials by the Director of Finance.
4. All budgeted purchase requisitions are subject to the following approvals:
a) Purchases up to $25,000 are approved by the Mayor, City Administrator or department director.
b) Purchases above $25,000 are approved by the Common Council.
c) Purchases of budgeted capital items and vehicles may be authorized by the City Administrator to take
advantage of state, county or other local purchasing options. The Common Council will be notified of
such purchases.
5. Purchases up to $100 may be made through petty cash.
6. The City will maintain yearly open purchase orders to cover purchases from vendors that supply the City
with a high volume of the same or similar goods or services during the year.
Investment Policy
1. Public funds will be invested in a manner consistent with the greatest safety and protection for the City's
investments. This investing of funds will, while protecting the safety of the City's investments, produce the
highest investment return for meeting the cash flow requirements of the City and conform to all Maryland
State statutes, City ordinances and policies governing the investment of public funds.
2. The standard of prudence to be applied by the Director of Finance in managing the City's overall portfolio
shall be the "Prudent Person Rule" which states: "Investments shall be made with judgment and care, under
circumstances then prevailing, which persons of prudence, discretion and intelligence exercise in the
management of their own affairs, not for speculation, but for investment, considering the probable safety of
their capital, as well as the probable income to be derived."
3. The Director of Finance, acting in accordance with the City's Investment Policy and exercising due diligence,
shall be relieved of personal responsibility for an individual security's risk or market price changes, provided
deviations from expectations are reported in a timely fashion and appropriate action is taken to control
adverse developments.
4. All investments will be governed by the following objectives:
a) Safety of principal is the primary objective of the City's investment program. Investments of the City
shall be undertaken in a manner that seeks to ensure the preservation of capital in the overall portfolio.
To achieve this objective, some diversification may be required in order that potential losses on
individual securities do not exceed the income generated from the remainder of the portfolio.
b) The City's investment portfolio shall be designed with the goal of attaining a market rate of return
throughout budgetary and economic cycles, taking into account the City's investment risk constraints
and the cash flow characteristics of the portfolio.
5. The Common Council will annually review the overall Investment Policy during budget deliberations as it
relates to the City's financial objectives and make any necessary modifications to the Policy.
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6. Officials and employees involved in the investment process shall refrain from personal business activity
that could conflict with proper execution of the investment program, or which could impair their ability to
make unbiased investment decisions.
7. The Director of Finance will maintain a list of financial institutions and security dealers authorized to
provide banking and investment services to the City.
Debt Management Policy
1. The City will ensure that future debt service payments can be made without jeopardizing the provision of
essential services.
2. There will be an acceptable degree of flexibility to meet unanticipated expenditures.
3. Outstanding debt obligations will not threaten long-term financial stability.
4. The amount of outstanding debt will not place undue burden on community residents and businesses.
5. Debt issuance is subject to the City of Westminster's Charter and State of Maryland requirements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Mayor and Common Council
City of Westminster
Westminster, Maryland

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities and each major fund of the City of Westminster, Maryland, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2020
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Westminster’s basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The City of Westminster's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement whether
due to fraud or error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.
Opinions
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities and each major fund of the City of
Westminster as of June 30, 2020, and the respective changes in financial position, and where applicable, cash
flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that Management's Discussion
and Analysis, budgetary comparison information, Schedule of Changes in the Total Other Postemployment
Benefits Liability and Related Ratios, Schedule of the City’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability and
Schedule of the City’s Pension Plan Contributions on pages 12 through 25 and pages 81 through 85 be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquires of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.
Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City of Westminster’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, schedule of
expenditures of federal awards (pages 86 – 87), as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations, Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and the financial
data schedules (pages 106 – 110), as required by the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development, are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.
The schedule of expenditures of federal awards and the financial data schedules are the responsibility of
management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used
to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the
schedule of expenditures of federal awards and the financial data schedules are fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
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The introductory section and HAP and admin equity calculations have not been subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion
or provide any assurance on them.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated February 12, 2021 on
our consideration of the City of Westminster's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters.
The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Westminster's internal control over
financial reporting and compliance.

Westminster, Maryland
February 12, 2021
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED
JUNE 30, 2020

As management of the City of Westminster, Maryland, we offer readers of the accompanying financial
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Westminster for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2020. The objective of this discussion and analysis of the City's financial statements is to
provide an overview of its financial activities for the past fiscal year.
Financial Highlights

















The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $148,350,618
(net position). Of this amount, $56,530,663 was for governmental activities and $91,819,955 was for
business type-activities. The amount of net position that was unrestricted at year end was $3,199,464
for governmental activities and $19,730,120 for business-type activities. The total net investment in
capital assets was $117,869,789 at June 30, 2020, compared to $100,047,449 at June 30, 2019.
Total net position increased by $20,581,294, or 16%, over fiscal year 2019’s net position. Governmental
activities increased by $6,506,393, while business-type activities increased by $14,074,901. The
increases are attributed to capital improvement projects.
As of June 30, 2020, the City's governmental funds reported combined fund balances of $16,102,284 an increase of $63,547 from the prior year. Approximately 56% of the combined fund balance is
available to meet the City's current and future needs (unassigned), 13% is restricted or committed for
future use, 29% is assigned for items for which the City intends to use the funds, and 2% is nonspendable, meaning it is in the form of receivables and inventory.
At the end of fiscal year 2020, the unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $9,090,411. This
amount is available to meet the City's current and future needs.
The City’s real property tax rate remained unchanged at $0.56 per $100 of assessed value. The real
property tax base increased by 2.4% from the prior year.
All benefited employees received a 2% across-the-board salary increase in fiscal year 2020. In addition,
Phase II of the City’s Compensation and Classification Study was implemented, resulting in additional
salary increases for some staff members.
The City purchased real property located at 17-25 West Main Street during fiscal year 2020, at a cost of
$775,134 using General Fund reserves.
Following completion of a comprehensive rate study, new water and sewer utility rates were set
according to Ordinance No. 893, as part of the adoption of the FY 2019 budget. The ordinance
established rates for a five-year period, with fiscal year 2020 being the second year.
The Director of Community and Development resigned his position in August 2019. The City
Administrator performed the duties of the position for approximately four months, until a new Director
was hired in December 2019. This resulted in a minimal savings in salary and benefits.
Construction of the 45 West Main Renovation Project got underway in January 2020. The City will
relocate its administrative offices from the current leased space to this location upon completion of the
Project. In fiscal year 2020, a total of $2,362,179 was expended. This amount includes both construction
costs and architectural/engineering fees.
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED
JUNE 30, 2020





Work continued on the multi-year ENR and Biosolids Upgrade Project at the City’s Wastewater
Treatment Plant. The portion of the Project associated with upgrading the Plant to meet Enhanced
Nutrient Removal standards is partially funded by the State of Maryland. Work on the County’s portion
of the Septage Facility is being paid for 100% by Carroll County. In fiscal year 2020, $19,166,885 was
expended on the ENR and Biosolids Upgrade Project.
The City expended $1,113,500 during the fiscal year on its annual road paving project. In the Sewer
Fund $579,671 was spent on the Septage Facility.

Overview of the Financial Statements
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City's basic financial statements.
The basic financial statements are comprised of three components:
1) Government-wide financial statements,
2) Fund financial statements, and
3) Notes to the financial statements.
This report also contains other required supplementary information in addition to the basic financial
statements themselves.
Government-Wide Financial Statements: The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the City's finances, in a manner similar to a private sector business.
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City's assets and deferred outflow of
resources, and liabilities with the difference between them reported as net position. Over time, changes
in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position and condition of the City is
improving or deteriorating.
The statement of activities presents information showing how the government's net position changed during
the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported when the underlying event giving rise to
the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported
in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (for example, earned but
unused annual leave).
Both of the government-wide financial statements referenced above distinguish functions of the City that are
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other
functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and
charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City include general government, public
safety (police), public works (streets and sanitation), recreation and parks and community development
(including the Public Housing Agency). The business-type activities of the City include the sewer, water and fiber
services.
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Fund Financial Statements: A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state or local
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into two different categories: governmental funds
and proprietary funds.
Governmental Funds: Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the governmentwide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows
of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year.
Such information may be useful in evaluating a government's near term financial requirements.
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term financial
decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison.
The City maintains two governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the governmental fund
balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund
balances for:
1) The General Fund, and
2) The Public Housing Agency Fund (PHA)
The City appropriates annual budgets for its governmental funds.
Proprietary Funds: The City maintains only one type of proprietary fund: enterprise funds. Enterprise funds
are used to report the same functions presented in business-type activities in the government-wide financial
statements. The City uses enterprise funds to account for its sewer and water services, as well as recently
created fiber services.
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements,
only in more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the Sewer,
Water and Fiber Funds, which are considered to be major funds of the City.
Notes to the Financial Statements: The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.
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Required Supplementary Information: In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying
notes, this report presents certain required supplementary information concerning the City. A budgetary
comparison schedule has been provided for the General Fund and Public Housing Fund.
Financial Analysis of the City as a Whole
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial condition
and position. In the case of the City, assets and deferred outflows of resources exceeded liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources by $148,350,618 at the close of fiscal year 2020. The City's net position is
divided into three categories: net investment in capital assets, restricted net position and unrestricted net
position. The largest portion is the City's net investment in capital assets (e.g., buildings, improvements,
streets, bridges, equipment, vehicles, sewer and water systems and furniture and fixtures, less any related
debt used to acquire those assets that is still outstanding, and accumulated depreciation). These net capital
assets represent 79% of the total net position reported. The City uses these capital assets to provide services
to citizens; consequently, these capital assets are not available for future spending. Although the City's
investment in its capital assets is reported net of debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay
this debt must be provided from operating revenue, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to
liquidate these liabilities.
Restricted net position of $7,551,245 represents 5% of total net position. Restricted net position is resources
that are subject to external restrictions or enabling legislation on how they may be used. Unrestricted net
position of $22,929,584 represents 16% of total net position and may be used to meet the government's
on-going obligations to citizens and creditors.
At the end of fiscal year 2020, the City is able to report positive balances in all three categories of net
position, for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type
activities, except for the Fiber Fund.
During fiscal year 2020, the City had an increase in income and real estate taxes of approximately $491,000.
There was also an increase in intergovernmental revenue, of which $249,000 relates to additional rental
assistance in the Housing Fund and the General Fund received $124,951 in Coronavirus relief funds.
The City had various capital outlay increases during 2020. Approximately $2,000,000 in capital outlay was
related to the construction of the 45 West Main Renovation Project and to the purchase of the Stocksdale
property.
The Sewer Fund received capital contributions of $12,021,045 during 2020; $573,754 of this amount was related
to the ENR Upgrades project. $10,613,412 was received from the Bay Restoration Grant. Finally, $425,212 was
provided from benefit assessments and $408,667 from developers.
The Water Fund received capital contributions of $639,455 during 2020; $418,188 of the contributions came
from benefit assessments and $221,267 came from developers.
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The Fiber Fund had an increase in depreciation expense of approximately $468,000 during 2020. Also, interest
expense decreased in the Fiber Fund by $188,881 due to bond issuance costs in the prior year of $385,897 and
the full amount of the 2019 infrastructure bonds being outstanding for all of fiscal year 2020.
City of Westminster, Maryland
Condensed Statements of Net Position
June 30, 2020 and 2019
Governmental Activities
2020
2019
Assets:
Current & Other Assets
Non-Current Assets
Capital Assets Net

$ 19,112,079
194,583
51,135,749

75,004,789

70,442,411

131,576,558

111,777,324

206,581,347

182,219,735

2,386,074

2,660,507

826,193

793,450

3,212,267

3,453,957

$ 77,390,863

$ 73,102,918

$ 132,402,751

$ 112,570,774

$ 209,793,614

$ 185,673,692

$

$

$

$

$

$

Deferred Outflows
of Resources

Liabilities:
Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Deferred Inflows
of Resources
Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total Net Position
Total Liabilities, Deferred
Inflows of Resources and Net Position

2,389,375
16,189,738
18,579,113

3,824,537
18,281,800
22,106,337

$

31,672,160
654,331
99,250,067

4,272,044
35,730,466
40,002,510

$

30,723,481
32,374
81,021,469

Government-Wide Totals
2020
2019

$ 17,676,559
181,310
57,146,920

Total Assets

Total Assets and
Deferred Outflows of Resources

Business-Type Activities
2020
2019

6,300,082
28,117,962
34,418,044

$

49,348,719
835,641
156,396,987

6,661,419
51,920,204
58,581,623

$

49,835,560
226,957
132,157,218

10,124,619
46,399,762
56,524,381

2,281,087

972,311

580,286

407,676

2,861,373

1,379,987

51,275,772
2,055,427
3,199,464
56,530,663

44,808,049
1,187,403
4,028,818
50,024,270

66,594,017
5,495,818
19,730,120
91,819,955

55,239,400
5,043,126
17,462,528
77,745,054

117,869,789
7,551,245
22,929,584
148,350,618

100,047,449
6,230,529
21,491,346
127,769,324

$ 77,390,863

$ 73,102,918

$ 132,402,751

$ 112,570,774

$ 209,793,614

$ 185,673,692
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City of Westminster, Maryland
Condensed Statements of Activities
For the Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
Governmental Activities
2020
2019
Program Revenues:
Charges for Services
Operating Grants & Contributions
Capital Grants & Contributions
General Revenues:
Taxes:
Real Estate Taxes
Personal Property Taxes
Income Taxes
Admissions & Amusement Taxes
Grants & Contributions Not
Restricted to Specific Programs
Franchise Taxes
Interest & Investment Earnings
Gain on Disposal of Capital Asset
Miscellaneous
Total Revenues:
Expenses:
Governmental Activities:
General Government
Public Safety
Public Works
Recreation & Parks
Community Dev. & Housing
Interest on Long-Term Debt
Business-Type Activities:
Sewer Services
Water Services
Fiber Services
Total Expenses
Excess of Revenues over Expenses
Transfer (Out) In
Change in Net Position
Net Position - Beginning
Net Position - Ending

$

1,426,318
2,983,962
5,110,391

$

1,476,233
2,715,367
619,458

Business-Type Activities
2020
2019
$ 12,713,857
12,662,554

$ 12,266,531
5,439,362

Government-Wide Totals
2020
2019
$

14,140,175
2,983,962
17,772,945

$

13,742,764
2,715,367
6,058,820

10,200,029
818,562
2,392,066
265,915

9,731,588
844,440
2,285,989
235,140

10,200,029
818,562
2,392,066
265,915

9,731,588
844,440
2,285,989
235,140

1,396,438
247,980
176,868
19,231
105,967
25,143,727

1,317,454
249,135
291,898
20,213
138,928
19,925,843

1,396,438
247,980
528,383
24,732
443,283
51,214,470

1,317,454
249,135
604,620
30,570
541,701
38,357,588

1,817,551
6,989,661
5,248,054
1,588,380
2,656,679
192,831

1,924,967
6,920,328
5,058,444
1,824,481
2,410,829
212,137

1,817,551
6,989,661
5,248,054
1,588,380
2,656,679
192,831

1,924,967
6,920,328
5,058,444
1,824,481
2,410,829
212,137

351,515
5,501
337,316
26,070,743

18,493,156

18,351,186

5,555,226
4,772,537
1,812,257
12,140,020

6,650,571

1,574,657

13,930,723

(144,178)

-

144,178

312,722
10,357
402,773
18,431,745

5,518,913
4,793,870
1,403,845
11,716,628

5,555,226
4,772,537
1,812,257
30,633,176

5,518,913
4,793,870
1,403,845
30,067,814

6,715,117

20,581,294

8,289,774

-

-

-

6,506,393
50,024,270

1,574,657
48,449,613

14,074,901
77,745,054

6,715,117
71,029,937

20,581,294
127,769,324

8,289,774
119,479,550

$ 56,530,663

$ 50,024,270

$ 91,819,955

$ 77,745,054

$ 148,350,618

$ 127,769,324
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Governmental Activities: A graphic representation of the City's governmental activities revenues and expenses is shown below. Each
component is accompanied by the percentage of the total it represents.

FY 2020 Governmental Revenues

FY 2020 Governmental Expenses

Grants and
Contributions,
9,738,771 , 39%
Recreation & Culture,
1,588,380 , 9%

Taxes, 13,676,572 ,
54%

Public Works,
5,248,054 , 28%

Public Safety,
6,989,661 , 38%

Charges for Services,
1,426,318 , 6%

Interest, 176,868 ,
1%

Community Development &
Housing, 2,656,679 , 14%

General
Government,
1,817,551 , 10%

Interest on Long‐
Term Debt, 192,831
, 1%

Rents, 37,958 , 0%
Miscellaneous,
87,240 , 0%
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Business-type activities: A graphic representation of the City's business-type activity revenues and
expenses is shown below.
FY 2020 Enterprise Funds

Enterprise Funds Revenues and Expenses
20,000,000
18,000,000
16,000,000
14,000,000
12,000,000
10,000,000
8,000,000
6,000,000
4,000,000
2,000,000
‐
Sewer Fund

Water Fund
Revenues

Expenses
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Financial Analysis of the Government's Funds
As noted earlier, the City of Westminster uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related legal requirements.
Governmental Funds: The focus of the analysis of the City's governmental funds is to provide information
on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in
assessing the City's financial requirements. In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a
measure of a government's net resources available for appropriation as revenue in the subsequent fiscal
year.
As of June 30, 2020, the City's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of
$16,102,284. Approximately 1% of the fund balance ($233,056) is restricted for the Public Housing
Agency. An additional 11% has been restricted as follows:

o
o
o

$1,123,441 is restricted for future growth projects funded by benefit assessments.
$541,210 is restricted for capital improvements.
$157,720 is restricted for forfeited proceeds awarded to the City by the judicial process.

Approximately 29% of the City’s governmental fund balances ($4,648,764) has been assigned by the City to
the following items:

o
o
o

$475,953 for community development.
$1,467,321 as an emergency reserve; and
$2,705,490 to be used to offset fiscal year 2021’s budgeted deficit, due largely for renovations at 45
West Main Street.

The total General Fund balance increased $69,035 during fiscal year 2020. The Public Housing Agency fund
balance decreased $5,488.
Proprietary Funds: The City's proprietary funds analysis provides the same type of information found in
the governmental activities financial statements, but in more detail.
The Sewer, Water and Fiber Funds are the City's three enterprise operations. In the Water and Sewer
Funds, there was an operating revenue increase of $316,065 from fiscal year 2019. This was primarily due
to the 3.5% and 5.0% rate increases in the Water and Sewer Funds, respectively. The Fiber Fund realized
increased revenues of $131,261 due to more subscribers to the system.
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights
The final budget amounts for revenues and expenditures varies from the original budget amounts as a result
of budget amendments passed during 2020. The major variances between the final budget amounts and the
original budgeted amounts are summarized below:



An increase in charges for services revenues of $201,253 consists primarily from an increase in
construction inspection fees of $153,500.
An increase in capital outlay expenditures of $855,984 is a result of an increase of $775,134 for the
purchase of 17-25 West Main Street. The remaining amount is comprised of various facilities
improvements and acquisition of vehicles.


The budgetary statement for the General Fund shows actual revenues of $18,161,144 compared to the
budgeted amount of $19,155,233 – an overall shortfall of $994,089. The major differences between the final
budgeted amounts and the actual revenues are summarized below:




A shortfall in intergovernmental revenues was primarily due to $700,000 of project grants that have not
yet been approved, or have been delayed, thereby reducing the need to seek grant reimbursement.
A shortfall in revenues of approximately $300,000 resulted from various Recreation and Parks events
that were cancelled in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Transfers from the General Fund to the Fiber Fund of approximately $473,000 were not required as a
result of funds received from the grant that were not available at the time of the budget.

Actual General Fund expenditures were less than budget by $6,773,031, primarily driven by:






$2,896,680 of Capital Improvement Projects that were either delayed or adjusted downwards in scope.
Funding for some of these capital outlay items was re-appropriated during the fiscal year 2019 budget
process.
$700,000 in grant-related expenses where the grant was not expended or delayed.
$537,794 in personnel-related expenses due to staffing vacancies in Public Safety.
$427,000 in the Highway and Streets department resulting from a mild winter saving of approximately
$200,000 in overtime and snow removal costs. The rest of the underbudgeted amount came from
budgeted repairs and maintenance that were not required.
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Capital Asset and Debt Administration
Capital Assets: The City of Westminster's investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type
activities as of June 30, 2020, amounted to $117,869,789 (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment
in capital assets includes land, buildings, improvements, streets, bridges, equipment, vehicles, sewer and
water systems, furniture and fixtures and construction in progress.
Governmental
Activities
2020
2019
Land & Land Rights
Construction in Progress
Buildings
Machinery and Equipment
Furniture & Fixtures
Improvements Other than Buildings
Infrastructure
Utility Plant & Equipment
Vehicles
Water Use Rights
Accumulated Depreciation

$

3,056,463
2,679,643
16,690,428
4,124,444
233,606
10,205,632
63,989,667
3,367,045
1,400,000
(48,600,008)

Total Capital Assets

$ 57,146,920

$

2,470,906
268,455
16,417,136
4,068,069
233,606
10,205,632
58,272,878
3,314,836
1,400,000
(45,515,769)

$ 51,135,749

Business-Type
Activities
2020
2019
$

543,054
30,453,001
624,963
5,160,123
69,774,740
33,846,842
1,254,148
(42,406,804)

$ 99,250,067

$

542,455
11,891,828
605,717
4,520,586
68,208,185
33,789,917
1,178,688
(39,715,907)

$ 81,021,469

Total
2020
$

$ 156,396,987

Major capital asset activities during fiscal year 2020 included the following:












Acquisition of 17-25 West Main Street;
Replacement of Public Safety and Public Works vehicles;
Renovations to 45 West Main Street building;
Road paving and sidewalk curb replacement;
Storm water management facilities improvements;
Improvements to City Hall;
Improvements to City retaining walls;
Continued construction of the Westminster Fiber Network.
Wastewater Treatment Plant ENR and Biosolids Upgrade Project;
Sewer pump station upgrades; and,
Continued construction of the Gesell Well and Stream Reconstruction Project.

22

38

3,599,517
33,132,644
17,315,391
9,284,567
233,606
10,205,632
133,764,407
33,846,842
4,621,193
1,400,000
(91,006,812)

2019
$

3,013,361
12,160,283
17,022,853
8,588,655
233,606
10,205,632
126,481,063
33,789,917
4,493,524
1,400,000
(85,231,676)

$ 132,157,218
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The City is committed under the following contracts for projects as of June 30, 2020:

Contract
amount

Project

Amount
outstanding at
June 30, 2020

Governmental activities,
45 West Main Street renovations

$

5,066,341

$

2,335,691

Sewer Fund, enhanced nutrients removal
and biosolids upgrade to wastewater
treatment plant

$ 68,343,931

$

42,431,374

Water Fund, Water Re-Use Pilot
Testing Project

147,000

Business-type activities

$ 68,490,931

94,486
$

42,525,860

Under federal court order, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency was ordered to implement a Chesapeake
Bay clean up. The State of Maryland established a stormwater management fee program to fund projects to
direct nitrogen away from streams that feed into the Chesapeake Bay. This program will be implemented
through a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit for Carroll County, Maryland (the
County). In October 2014, the City, along with seven other municipalities, entered into a cost-sharing
arrangement with the County for a stormwater mitigation project to comply with NPDES requirements. The
annual amount for each municipality was calculated based on $25,000 per impervious acre and on the total
number of impervious acres required to be restored/mitigated by the permit over the five-year period of this
project. For its share of this project, the City is required to pay 20% and the County is covering the remaining
80%. For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City’s portion of these costs was $198,497, which were capitalized
as an infrastructure asset. Over the five-year term of the agreement, the City paid a total of $902,358. These
funds are funding the design and construction of various stormwater management facilities. Construction of
these facilities is ongoing. The County and municipalities agreed to continue the current agreement by
extending for one additional year, while working towards the issuance of the Fifth Generation Permit. As such,
the City made its next committed payment under this extension subsequent to year end in the amount of
$198,497, which will be applied to the next permit and funds going to future projects.
See Note 4 in the notes to financial statements section for more detailed information on the City’s capital assets.

23

39

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED
JUNE 30, 2020

Long-Term Debt
At the end of fiscal year 2020, the City had total bonds outstanding o f $36,459,485, backed by the full faith and
credit of the City. Of this amount, $5,762,900 represents General Fund infrastructure bonds. Water Fund
Drinking Water bonds totaled $5,813,242; while Sewer Fund Water Quality Bonds totaled $8,983,343. Fiber
Fund infrastructure construction bonds equaled $15,900,000. The Fiber Fund also has an outstanding loan
in the amount of $503,458.
See Note 8 of the notes to financial statements section for more detailed information concerning the debt
issuances and debt outstanding of the City.
The City has five other types of long-term obligations that do not have mandatory payment terms:







A non-interest obligation to the Carroll County Commissioners of Maryland related to agreements to
provide sewer service totaling $188,568.
Compensated absences in the amount of $761,906. Compensated absences are the total amount of
leave liability that the City would owe employees upon their termination.
Other post-employment benefits (OPEB) liability totaling $3,465,384. This is a liability identified per
the requirements of GASB 75 for retiree benefits.
Net pension liability totaling $11,162,935. This is a liability identified per the requirement of GASB 68
related to the City's share of the total liability of the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System, in
which the City participates.
The City owes the Westminster Town Center Corporation $100,000 once it is re-established.

Subsequent Events and Economic Factors
General Fund
In August 2020, the City issued an Infrastructure Bond, 2020 Series A as a general obligation of the City in the
amount of $1,186,800 to finance the community pool improvements project.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) was reported to have surfaced in China. The World
Health Organization has declared COVID-19 to constitute a "Public Health Emergency of International Concern"
and characterized COVID-19 as a pandemic. The U.S. government has also implemented enhanced screenings,
quarantine requirements and travel restrictions in connection with the COVID-19 outbreak. The spread of this
virus has the potential to cause business disruption to the City’s tax base, due to state government-imposed
shutdowns of businesses and other results of the illness. While the City expects this matter may negatively
impact its results, the extent of the impact of COVID-19 on the City’s operational and financial performance will
depend on future developments, including the duration and spread of the outbreak, related travel advisories
and restrictions, and the impact of COVID-19 on overall economic trend, all of which are highly uncertain and
cannot be predicted.
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Request for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Westminster’s, finances. Questions
concerning any of the information provided in this report, or requests for additional information, should be
addressed to Lydia Colston, CPA, Director of Finance, City of Westminster, 56 West Main Street, Suite 1,
Westminster, Maryland, 21157.
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Assets:
Current assets:
Pooled cash and cash equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted
Non-pooled cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted
Receivables:
Accrued interest
Taxes
Taxes, restricted
Loan receivable
Accounts:
Unrestricted, net of allowance for doubtful
accounts of $317,665 and $0 for the governmental
and business-type activities, respectively
Restricted
Unbilled services
Prepaids and other assets
Inventory
Internal balances
Due from:
Other governments
Other governments, restricted

Governmental
activities

Business-type
activities

$ 13,537,084
2,506,158
237,645

$

23,571
365,552
12,944
1,650

20,227,029
5,608,456
74,678
-

Total

$

33,764,113
8,114,614
237,645
98,249
365,552
12,944
1,650

167,691
15,360
211,487
63,998
75,707

1,733,900
132,188
952,336
138,512
356,102
(75,707)

1,901,591
147,548
952,336
349,999
420,100
-

289,300
168,412

2,524,666
-

2,813,966
168,412

17,676,559

31,672,160

49,348,719

2,679,643
3,056,463
16,690,428
233,606
10,205,632
63,989,667
4,124,444
3,367,045
1,400,000
(48,600,008)

30,453,001
543,054
624,963
69,774,740
5,160,123
33,846,842
1,254,148
(42,406,804)

33,132,644
3,599,517
17,315,391
233,606
10,205,632
133,764,407
9,284,567
33,846,842
4,621,193
1,400,000
(91,006,812)

57,146,920

99,250,067

156,396,987

169,260
12,050

20,000
8,250
626,081
-

189,260
8,250
626,081
12,050

Total noncurrent assets

57,328,230

99,904,398

157,232,628

Total assets

75,004,789

131,576,558

206,581,347

Deferred outflows of resources:
For pensions
For other postemployment benefits

2,282,400
103,674

808,778
17,415

3,091,178
121,089

Total deferred outflows of resources

2,386,074

826,193

3,212,267

$ 77,390,863

$ 132,402,751

$ 209,793,614

Total current assets
Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:
Construction in progress
Land and land rights
Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Improvements other than buildings
Infrastructure
Machinery and equipment
Utility plant and equipment
Vehicles
Water use rights
Accumulated depreciation
Net capital assets
Non-pooled cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Accounts receivable, unrestricted
Due from other governments
Loan receivable

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources

See notes to financial statements.
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Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued:
Interest
Payroll
Compensated absences
Unearned revenue
Due to other governments
Current portion of
general obligation bonds
Payable from restricted assets:
Accounts payable
Deposits and escrows
Due to other governments
Loan payable

Governmental
activities

Business-type
activities

$

$

296,157

2,323,726

Total

$

2,619,883

41,369
144,545
17,474
150,919
-

289,201
76,012
11,382
146,901
1,247

330,570
220,557
28,856
297,820
1,247

580,900

1,178,749

1,759,649

124,485
922,836
10,690
100,000

244,826
-

124,485
922,836
255,516
100,000

2,389,375

4,272,044

6,661,419

5,182,000
2,015,467
437,191
8,555,080

188,568
1,166,973
29,517,836
1,449,917
295,859
2,607,855
503,458

188,568
1,166,973
34,699,836
3,465,384
733,050
11,162,935
503,458

Total long-term liabilities

16,189,738

35,730,466

51,920,204

Total liabilities

18,579,113

40,002,510

58,581,623

8,340
1,129,717
1,143,030

319,194
261,092

8,340
1,448,911
1,404,122

Total deferred inflows of resources

2,281,087

580,286

2,861,373

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

51,275,772
2,055,427
3,199,464

66,594,017
5,495,818
19,730,120

117,869,789
7,551,245
22,929,584

56,530,663

91,819,955

148,350,618

$ 77,390,863

$ 132,402,751

$ 209,793,614

Total current liabilities
Long-term liabilities:
Due to other governments
Retainage payable
General obligation bonds
Total other postemployment benefits liability
Accrued compensated absences
Net pension liability
Note payable

Deferred inflows of resources:
For bond refunding
For pensions
For other postemployment benefits

Total net position
Total liabilities, deferred inflows
of resources and net position

See notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Functions/programs
Primary government:
Governmental activities:
General government
Public safety
Culture and recreation
Public works
Community development and public housing
Interest on long-term debt
Total governmental activities
Business-type activities:
Sewer operations
Water operation
Fiber operations
Total business-type activities
Total primary government

Expenses

$

1,817,551
6,989,661
1,588,380
5,248,054
2,656,679
192,831

Charges for
services

$

536,880
90,478
536,941
239,401
22,618

Program revenues
Operating
grants and
contributions

$
$

Capital
grants and
contributions

Governmental
activities

$

$

433,497
20,381
12,655
2,517,429

$
$ 5,110,391
0

-

0

18,493,156

1,426,318

2,983,962

5,110,391

5,555,226
4,772,537
1,812,257

6,693,401
5,331,305
689,151

0
0

12,022,331
640,223
-

12,140,020

12,713,857

-

12,662,554

$ 30,633,176

$ 14,140,175

$ 2,983,962

$ 17,772,945

General revenues:
Taxes:
Income
Real estate
Personal property
Other
Grants, contributions and franchise fees
not restricted to specific programs
Interest earnings
Net transfers
Rents
Miscellaneous revenues

Net (expense) revenue and
changes in net position
Proprietary
funds

Total

(1,280,671)
(6,465,686)
(1,031,058)
114,393
(116,632)
(192,831)
(8,972,485)

$

$ 13,160,506
1,198,991
(1,123,106)

(8,972,485)

(8,972,485)
13,160,506
1,198,991
(1,123,106)

13,236,391

13,236,391

13,236,391

4,263,906

2,392,066
10,200,029
818,562
265,915
1,644,418
176,868
(144,178)
37,958
87,240

(1,280,671)
(6,465,686)
(1,031,058)
114,393
(116,632)
(192,831)

2,392,066
10,200,029
818,562
265,915
351,515
144,178
314,215
28,602

1,644,418
528,383
352,173
115,842

Total general revenues

15,478,878

838,510

16,317,388

Changes in net position

6,506,393

14,074,901

20,581,294

50,024,270

77,745,054

127,769,324

$ 56,530,663

$ 91,819,955

$ 148,350,618

Net position:
Beginning of year
End of year

See notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
BALANCE SHEET – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2020

General
Fund
Assets:
Pooled cash and cash equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted
Non-pooled cash and cash equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted
Receivables:
Taxes
Taxes, restricted
Accrued Interest
Loans:
Short-term
Long-term
Accounts, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of
$50,594 and $267,071 for the General and Public
Housing Agency Funds, respectively
Accounts, restricted
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Due from other:
Governments
Governments, restricted
Funds

Total assets

Total
governmental
funds

0
0

$ 13,537,084
2,506,158

235,145
0

237,645
169,260

$ 13,537,084
2,506,158
2,500
169,260

$

365,552
12,944
23,571

365,552
12,944
23,571

1,650
12,050

1,650
12,050

120,561
15,360
63,998
203,020

47,130
0

289,300
168,412
82,761

$ 17,574,181

See notes to financial statements.
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Public
Housing
Agency Fund

$

8,467

167,691
15,360
63,998
211,487

0

289,300
168,412
82,761

290,742

$ 17,864,923

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
BALANCE SHEET – GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2020

General
Fund
Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued payroll
Payable from restricted assets:
Accounts payable
Due to other governments
Deposits and escrows
Loan payable
Unearned revenue
Due to other funds

$

Total liabilities

295,924
144,545

Public
Housing
Agency Fund

Total
governmental
funds

$

$

233
0

296,157
144,545

16,237
10,690
922,836
100,000
150,919
5,198

0
1,856

16,237
10,690
922,836
100,000
150,919
7,054

1,646,349

2,089

1,648,438

0

Deferred inflows of resources:
Property taxes receivables
Fines and penalties receivables
Housing assistance reimbursement receivable

55,091
11,980
0

47,130

55,091
11,980
47,130

Total deferred inflows of resources

67,071

47,130

114,201

280,718
1,822,371
18,497
4,648,764
9,090,411

8,467
233,056

-

289,185
2,055,427
18,497
4,648,764
9,090,411

15,860,761

241,523

16,102,284

290,742

$ 17,864,923

Fund balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total fund balances
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and fund balances

$ 17,574,181

See notes to financial statements.
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$

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET TO
THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
JUNE 30, 2020

Total fund balance, governmental funds

$ 16,102,284

Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, used in
governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds.
Retainage payable not payable within the current period and,
therefore, not reported as a liability in the fund financial
statements.

57,146,920

(108,248)

Property tax revenues are recognized in the period for which
levied rather than when "available." A portion of the property tax
revenues is not an available financial resource and, therefore, is
not reported in the fund financial statements.

55,091

Certain receivables are offset by unavailable revenue in the
governmental funds since they are not available to pay for current
period expenditures. This is the amount of deferred inflows of
resources related to these receivables.

59,110

Net pension liability and related deferred amounts in governmental
activities are not current financial resources and, therefore, are
not reported in the governmental funds.

(7,402,397)

Total other postemployment benefits liability and related deferred
amounts are not payable in the current period and, therefore, are
reported as employee benefits in the period during which the benefit
occurs in the fund financial statements.

(3,054,823)

Accrued compensated absences are not payable in the current
period and, therefore, are reported as wages in the period during
which the absence occurs in the fund financial statements.
Bond refunding premium is not a current available financial resource and,
therefore, is not reported in the fund financial statements.
Long-term liabilities, including both current and noncurrent portions
of bonds and interest payable, are not due and payable in the current
period and, therefore, are not reported in the fund financial statements.
Total net position, governmental activities

(454,665)

(8,340)

(5,804,269)
$ 56,530,663

See notes to financial statements.
31

47

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES –
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Public
Housing
Agency Fund

Total
governmental
funds

0
0
0
85
0
2,517,429
0
18,123

$ 13,621,481
587,808
98,026
176,868
37,958
4,813,343
1,246,606
114,691

18,161,144

2,535,637

20,696,781

1,714,538
6,597,452
1,191,745
2,844,416
12,927
4,766,555

0
0
0
0
2,616,125
0

1,714,538
6,597,452
1,191,745
2,844,416
2,629,052
4,766,555

564,800
199,729

0
0

564,800
199,729

17,892,162

2,616,125

20,508,287

General
Fund
Revenues:
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures
Interest
Rent
Intergovernmental revenues
Charges for services
Miscellaneous revenues

$ 13,621,481
587,808
98,026
176,783
37,958
2,295,914
1,246,606
96,568

Total revenues
Expenditures:
General government
Public safety
Culture and recreation
Public works
Community development and public housing
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal
Interest
Total expenditures

$

Revenues over (under) expenditures

268,982

(80,488)

188,494

Other financing sources (uses):
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Interfund transfers

19,231
(219,178)

0
75,000

19,231
(144,178)

Total other financing sources (uses)

(199,947)

75,000

(124,947)

69,035

(5,488)

63,547

Net changes in fund balances
Fund balances:
Beginning of year

15,791,726

End of year

$ 15,860,761

See notes to financial statements.
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$

247,011

16,038,737

241,523

$ 16,102,284

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Net change in fund balances, governmental funds

$

63,547

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of activities are different because:
Capital outlays are reported in governmental funds as
expenditures. However, in the statement of activities,
the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives as depreciation expense. The amount by
which capital outlays exceeds depreciation in the period
is as follows:
Capital outlays
Depreciation expense

$ 4,766,555
(3,252,832)

Capital asset contributions are revenues in the statement of activities
that do not provide current financial resources and, therefore, are not
reported as revenue in the governmental funds.
Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide
current financial resources are not reported as revenues
in the funds.
The change in the deferred outflows and inflows of the
net pension and total other postemployment benefits liabilities
is not reported in governmental funds.
Principal payments on long-term debt is reported as expense on
fund financial statements, but not included on the statement of activities.
The change in accrued interest expense is not reported in the
governmental funds.
The change in the net pension and total other postemployment liabilities
is not reported in governmental funds.
The increase in the accrued compensated absence liability
is not reflected as an expense in the fund statements, but
is included in the statement of activities.
Change in net position of governmental activities

1,513,723

4,389,200

57,746

(1,583,209)
564,800
6,898
1,539,477

(45,789)
$ 6,506,393

See notes to financial statements.
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION – PROPRIETARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2020

Sewer
Fund
Assets:
Current assets:
Pooled cash and cash equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted
Accounts receivable:
Unrestricted
Restricted
Accrued interest receivable
Inventory
Unbilled services
Due from other:
Governments
Funds
Prepaid expenses

$ 10,767,739
5,608,456

Water
Fund

$

8,953,144
0

Total
proprietary
funds

Fiber
Fund

$

506,146
0

$

20,227,029
5,608,456

898,637
132,188
47,331
93,656
513,537

760,702

74,561

25,889
54,842
438,799

1,458
207,604

2,506,443
0
70,846

18,223
0
62,932

5,198
4,734

2,524,666
5,198
138,512

Total current assets

20,638,833

10,314,531

799,701

31,753,065

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:
Land and land rights
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Vehicles
Construction in progress
Infrastructure
Utility plant and equipment
Accumulated depreciation

405,741
503,946
3,682,169
608,049
30,342,541
21,324,442
16,590,555
(24,604,753)

137,313
121,017
1,477,954
646,099
110,460
31,315,261
17,256,287
(16,351,107)

Net capital assets

48,852,690

34,713,284

15,684,093

99,250,067

4,125
626,081

4,125
-

20,000

20,000
8,250
626,081

Total noncurrent assets

49,482,896

34,717,409

15,704,093

99,904,398

Total assets

70,121,729

45,031,940

16,503,794

131,657,463

Deferred outflows of resources:
For pensions
For other postemployment benefits

401,230
7,007

374,880
10,408

32,668
0

808,778
17,415

Total deferred outflows of resources

408,237

385,288

32,668

826,193

$ 70,529,966

$ 45,417,228

$ 16,536,462

$ 132,483,656

Non-pooled cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Accounts receivable, unrestricted
Due from other governments

Total assets and deferred outflows of
resources

See notes to financial statements.
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0
17,135,037
(1,450,944)

1,733,900
132,188
74,678
356,102
952,336

543,054
624,963
5,160,123
1,254,148
30,453,001
69,774,740
33,846,842
(42,406,804)

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION – PROPRIETARY FUNDS
JUNE 30, 2020

Sewer
Fund
Liabilities:
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued:
Payroll
Accrued compensated absences
Interest
Due to other:
Governments
Governments, restricted
Funds
Unearned revenue
Current portion of
general obligation bonds

Total current liabilities

Long-term liabilities:
Due to other governments
Retainage payable
Total OPEB liability
Accrued compensated absences
General obligation bonds
Net pension liability
Note payable

$

1,801,916

Water
Fund

$

231,926

38,028
5,495
69,381

34,179
5,640
74,078

0
244,826
44,270
113,037

1,247

2,316,953

Total
proprietary
funds

Fiber
Fund

$

289,884
3,805
247
145,742

$

2,323,726
76,012
11,382
289,201
1,247
244,826
80,905
146,901

36,635
33,864
833,749

345,000

1,178,749

1,251,318

784,678

4,352,949

188,568
1,166,973
680,255
145,023
8,983,343
1,353,985
0

769,662
138,167
4,979,493
1,236,083
0

12,669
15,555,000
17,787
503,458

188,568
1,166,973
1,449,917
295,859
29,517,836
2,607,855
503,458

Total long-term liabilities

12,518,147

7,123,405

16,088,914

35,730,466

Total liabilities

14,835,100

8,374,723

16,873,592

40,083,415

Deferred inflows of resources:
For pensions
For other postemployment benefits

158,825
124,076

148,462
137,016

11,907
0

319,194
261,092

Total deferred inflows of resources

282,901

285,478

11,907

580,286

Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted

38,702,374
5,495,818
11,213,773

28,876,502
7,880,525

(984,859)
635,822

66,594,017
5,495,818
19,730,120

Total net position

55,411,965

36,757,027

(349,037)

91,819,955

$ 70,529,966

$ 45,417,228

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
resources and net position

See notes to financial statements.
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$ 16,536,462

$ 132,483,656

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION –
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Sewer
Fund
Operating revenues, billings

$

6,693,401

Water
Fund
$

5,331,305

Fiber
Fund
$

689,151

Total
proprietary
funds
$ 12,713,857

Operating expenses:
Administrative and general
Fiber
Transmission and distribution
Treatment and pumping
Depreciation

830,619
2,292,430
986,562

697,037
1,482,940
1,093,392

690,750

2,653,616
428,045
1,527,656
3,775,370
2,770,704

Total operating expenses

5,433,284

4,603,312

1,118,795

11,155,391

Operating income (loss)

1,260,117

727,993

Nonoperating revenues (expenses):
Intergovernmental revenues
Rental income
Miscellaneous
Interest expense and fiscal charges
Interest income
Gain on asset disposal

1,286
54,463
14,562
(124,892)
215,361
2,950

768
259,752
(11)
(171,776)
126,977
2,551

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses)

163,730

218,261

(670,234)

(288,243)

1,423,847

946,254

(1,099,878)

1,270,223

Interfund transfers
Capital contributions

144,178
12,021,045

639,455

144,178
12,660,500

Changes in net position

13,444,892

1,585,709

(955,700)

14,074,901

Net position:
Beginning of year

41,967,073

35,171,318

606,663

77,745,054

$ 55,411,965

$ 36,757,027

(349,037)

$ 91,819,955

1,323,673

428,045

Income (loss) before transfers and capital contributions

End of year

1,329,943

See notes to financial statements.
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(429,644)

14,051
(693,462)
9,177

$

1,558,466

2,054
314,215
28,602
(990,130)
351,515
5,501

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS – PROPRIETARY FUNDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Sewer
Fund
Cash flows from operating activities:
Inflows:
Cash received from customers
Rental income received

$

Outflows:
Cash paid to:
Suppliers
Employees

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows provided by non-capital financing activities,
inflows, cash received from other funds
Cash flows from capital and related financing activities:
Inflows:
Cash received from capital contributions
Proceeds from sales of capital assets
Proceeds from debt

Outflows:
Cash paid for:
Acquisition of capital assets
Interest
Payments on long-term debt

Net cash used by capital and related financing activities

Water
Fund

6,984,769
54,463

$ 5,551,137
259,752

7,039,232

Fiber
Fund

$

Total
proprietary
funds

743,542
-

$ 13,279,448
314,215

5,810,889

743,542

13,593,663

2,921,219
1,503,366

1,963,505
1,466,342

251,330
160,051

5,136,054
3,129,759

4,424,585

3,429,847

411,381

8,265,813

2,614,647

2,381,042

332,161

5,327,850

4,742

619

146,303

151,664

11,201,319
2,950
7,210,999

418,956
2,551
-

503,458

11,620,275
5,501
7,714,457

18,415,268

421,507

503,458

19,340,233

20,403,117
55,511
-

791,251
146,251
980,485

450,508
547,720
315,000

21,644,876
749,482
1,295,485

20,458,628

1,917,987

1,313,228

23,689,843

(2,043,360)

(1,496,480)

(809,770)

(4,349,610)

Cash flows provided by investing activities,
inflows, interest received

211,431

123,093

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

787,460

1,008,274

(321,597)

1,474,137

15,588,735

7,944,870

847,743

24,381,348

$ 16,376,195

$ 8,953,144

526,146

$ 25,855,485

Cash and cash equivalents:
Beginning of year
End of year

(continued)
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9,709

$

344,233

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS – PROPRIETARY FUNDS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents to
the statement of net position:
Current assets:
Pooled cash and cash equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted

Sewer
Fund

Water
Fund

$ 10,767,739
5,608,456

$ 8,953,144
0

16,376,195

506,146
0

$ 20,227,029
5,608,456

8,953,144

506,146

25,835,485

-

-

20,000

20,000

$ 16,376,195

$ 8,953,144

$

526,146

$ 25,855,485

$

$

$

(429,644)

$

Total current assets
Noncurrent assets, non-pooled cash and cash equivalents, restricted
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Operating income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Rental income
Miscellaneous income
Interfund transfers
(Increase) decrease in assets and deferred outflows of resources:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Unbilled services
Due from other governments
Prepaid expenses
Deferred amounts from:
Pensions
Other postemployment benefits
Increase (decrease) in liabilities and deferred inflows of resources:
Accounts payable
Accrued:
Payroll
Compensated absences
Due to other governments
Unearned revenue
Total OPEB liability
Net pension liability
Deferred amounts from:
Pensions
Other postemployment benefits

1,260,117

727,993

$

1,558,466

986,562
54,463
14,562

1,093,392
259,752
(11)

690,750
14,051
-

(119,219)
(1,700)
281,185
1,340

(35,526)
8,631
253,388
(18,223)
3,593

40,340
32,181
(1,348)

(21,757)
4,575

(20,183)
6,501

(1,879)
-

(65,909)

(3,591)

(24,528)

16,384
26,601
1,803
113,037
(105,244)
85,189

11,237
19,577
20,204
(114,833)
79,533

1,366
3,189
-

28,987
49,367
1,803
133,241
(220,077)
164,722

3,995
78,663

3,729
85,879

7,339
344

15,063
164,886

$ 2,381,042

$

332,161

$

5,327,850

$

$

-

$

279,667

Net cash provided by operating activities

$

2,614,647

Non-cash capital and related financing transaction:
Contribution of capital assets

$

279,667

See notes to financial statements.
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Total
proprietary
funds

Fiber
Fund

-

2,770,704
314,215
28,602
(114,405)
39,112
534,573
(18,223)
3,585
(43,819)
11,076
(94,028)

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies:
Reporting entity:
The City of Westminster, Maryland, (the City) was incorporated as a city by Chapter 418 of the Acts of
1838. That charter was amended by Chapter 335 of the Acts of 1856, which characterized the
municipality as a city known as the Mayor and Common Council of Westminster.
The City operates under a Mayor-Council form of government and provides the following services as
authorized by its charter: general administrative, planning and zoning, public safety, highways and
streets, parking, sanitation, culture and recreation, community development and public housing, water,
sewer and fiber services.
The City's financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) is responsible for establishing GAAP for state and local governments through its
pronouncements (statements and interpretations).
In evaluating how to define the City for financial reporting purposes, management has considered all
potential component units for which the City is financially accountable, and other organizations for
which the nature and significance of their relationship with the City are such that exclusion would cause
the City's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The Governmental Accounting Standards
Board has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial accountability. These criteria
include appointing a voting majority of an organization's governing body and (1) the ability of the City
to impose its will on that organization, or (2) the potential for the organization to provide specific
financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on the City. Based upon the application of
these criteria, there are no separate component units of the City.
Basic financial statements - government-wide financial statements:
The City's basic financial statements include both government-wide (reporting the City as a whole) and
fund financial statements (reporting the City's major funds). Both the government-wide and fund
financial statements categorize primary activities as either governmental or business-type. The City's
general government (general administrative, planning and zoning), public safety, public works
(highways and streets, parking and sanitation), culture and recreation and community development
and public housing services are classified as governmental activities. The City's water, sewer and fiber
services are classified as business-type activities.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
Basic financial statements - government-wide financial statements:
In the government-wide statement of net position, both the governmental and business-type activities
columns (a) are presented on a consolidated basis by column, and (b) are using the economic resources
measurement focus and accrual basis of accounting, which recognizes all long-term assets, receivables
and deferred outflows of resources, as well as long-term debt and obligations and deferred inflows of
resources. Generally, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. The
City's net position is reported in three parts - net investment in capital assets, restricted net position
and unrestricted net position. The City first utilizes restricted resources to finance qualifying activities.
The government-wide statement of activities reports both the gross and net cost per functional
category (public safety, public works, etc.), which are otherwise being supported by general government
revenues. The statement of activities reduces gross expenses (including depreciation) by related
program revenues, operating and capital grants and contributions. The program revenues must be
directly associated with the function or business-type activity. Program revenues include revenues from
fines, licenses and permit fees and charges for services. Operating grants include operating-specific and
discretionary (either operating or capital) grants while the capital grant column reflects capital-specific
grants. Taxes and other general revenues not restricted to specific program functions are reported
instead as general revenues.
The net costs (by function or program) are normally covered by general revenue (property and income
taxes, intergovernmental revenues, interest income, etc.). The City does not allocate indirect costs.
This government-wide focus is on the sustainability of the City as an entity and the change in the City's
net position resulting from the current year's activities.
The financial transactions of the City are reported in individual funds in the fund financial statements.
Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its
assets, liabilities, deferred inflows and outflows of resources, fund balance, revenues and
expenditures/expenses. The various funds are reported by generic classification within the financial
statements.
The City utilizes various criteria (percentage of the assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities
and deferred inflows of resources, revenues or expenditures/expenses of either fund category or the
governmental and enterprise combined) for the determination of major funds.
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1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
Basic financial statements - fund financial statements:
Governmental funds:
Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions of the City are financed.
Governmental funds reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial
resources. Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the
purpose for which they may or must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from which
they will be paid.
The difference between governmental fund assets, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources is
reported as fund balance. The following is a description of the City's major governmental funds:
General Fund - The General Fund is the primary operating fund of the City. It is used to account
for all financial resources except those legally or administratively required to be accounted for in
another fund.
Special Revenue Fund - The Public Housing Agency Fund is used to account for the proceeds of
federal funds regulated by the Department of Housing and Urban Development, and for the
expenditures that are legally restricted for low-income housing program purposes.
Proprietary funds:
The focus of proprietary fund measurement is upon determination of operating income, changes in
net position, financial position and cash flows. The generally accepted accounting principles
applicable are those similar to businesses in the private sector. Proprietary funds distinguish
operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating revenues and expenses
generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with the
proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues for the City's
proprietary funds are charges for water, sewer and fiber optic leasing services. Operating expenses
for the City's proprietary funds include administrative and general, fiber optic cable maintenance,
water and sewer transmission and distribution costs, source of supply, water and sewer treatment
and pumping costs and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues or expenses not meeting this
definition are reported as non-operating revenues and expenses.
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1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
Basic financial statements - fund financial statements:
Proprietary funds:
The City's proprietary funds are all classified as enterprise funds. Enterprise funds are required to
be used to account for operations for which a fee is charged to external users for goods or services
and the activity meet any of the following criteria: (a) government officials elect to report the activity
as an enterprise fund; (b) financed with debt that is solely secured by a pledge of the net revenues;
(c) third-party requirements that the cost of providing services, including capital costs, be recovered
with fees and charges or (d) establishes fees and charges based on a pricing policy designed to
recover similar costs. The following is a description of the City's major enterprise funds:
Sewer Fund - The Sewer Fund is used to account for the revenues generated from the charges for
sewer services provided to residential and commercial users of the City and associated expenses.
Water Fund - The Water Fund is used to account for the revenues generated from the charges for
distribution of potable water to residential and commercial users of the City and associated
expenses.
Fiber Fund - The Fiber Fund is used to account for the revenues generated from the charges for
the use of a high-speed fiber optic network provided to residential and commercial users in the
City and associated expenses.
Basis of accounting:
Basis of accounting refers to the point at which revenues or expenditures/expenses are recognized in
the accounts and reported in the financial statements. It relates to the timing of the measurements
made regardless of the measurement focus applied.
Accrual - Both governmental and business-type activities in the governmentwide financial
statements and the proprietary fund financial statements are presented using the economic
resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when
earned and expenses are recognized when incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligible requirements imposed by the provider have
been met.
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1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
Basis of accounting:
Modified accrual - The governmental funds financial statements are presented on the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, revenues are recorded
when susceptible to accrual (i.e., both measurable and available). Available means collectible within
the current period or within 60 days after year end. The City considers all revenues to be available if
they are collected within 60 days after the end of the current fiscal year. Expenditures are generally
recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related liability is incurred. The
exception to this general rule is that principal and interest on general obligation long-term debt, if
any, are recognized when due.
In applying the susceptible to accrual concept to intergovernmental revenues, the provider should
recognize liabilities and expenses and the recipient should recognize receivables and revenue when the
applicable eligibility requirements, including time requirements, are met. Resources transmitted before
the eligibility requirements are met should, under most circumstances, be reported as advances by the
provider and as deferred inflows by the recipient.
Cash and cash equivalents:
The City considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity of three months or less to be
cash equivalents. The carrying amount approximates fair value because of the short maturity of those
instruments.
Receivables:
All receivables are reported at the original amount less an estimate for uncollectible amounts. It is
management's policy to use the aggregate of all accounts that are delinquent one year or more on
police tickets and 85% of the aggregate housing assistance repayments as the basis and determination
of the allowance for doubtful accounts. For proprietary funds, management determines the provision
for doubtful accounts by regularly evaluating individual customer receivables and considering a
customer's financial condition, credit history and current economic conditions. Accounts receivable are
written off when deemed uncollectible. Recoveries of accounts receivable previously written off are
recorded as revenues when received. The City maintains restricted receivables associated with Bay
Restoration Fees billed and eventually collected, on behalf of the State, as well as taxes and other
receivables restricted for use for capital projects.
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1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
Unbilled services:
Unbilled customer service receivables for water consumption and related sewer charges are based
upon the actual quantity of water used during the subsequent billing periods and the previous year's
respective billing periods, depending on the availability of related consumption information when
unbilled services are estimated.
Prepaid items:
Payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond June 30, 2020 are reported as
prepaid items using the consumption method by recording a current asset for the prepaid amount at
the time of purchase and reflecting the expenditure/expense in the year in which services are
consumed.
Inventory:
Inventories of materials are maintained in the General, Water, Sewer and Fiber Funds. Materials are
carried in an inventory account at cost using the first-in, first-out method and are subsequently charged
to expenditures when consumed.
Capital assets:
Capital assets in governmental fund type operations are accounted for in the government-wide
financial statements, rather than in governmental funds.
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1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
Capital assets:
All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost, if actual historical cost is not
available. Donated capital assets are valued at their acquisition value on the date donated. Capital
assets with a value of $10,000 or more are capitalized by the City. The City regularly evaluates its capital
assets in order to determine the appropriate useful lives. Capital assets are depreciated using the
straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives:

7-40 years
5 years
7-40 years
10-100 years
5-40 years
5-40 years
5-10 years
40 years

Buildings
Furniture and fixtures
Improvements other than buildings
Infrastructure
Machinery and equipment
Utility plant and equipment
Vehicles
Water use rights
Government-wide financial statements:

Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as a direct expense in the statement of
activities with accumulated depreciation reflected in the statement of net position.
Additions are recorded at cost or, if contributed property, at their acquisition value at time of
contribution. Repairs and maintenance are recorded as expenses; renewals and betterments are
capitalized. The sale or disposal of capital assets is recorded by removing cost and accumulated
depreciation from the accounts and charging the resulting gain or loss to income.
Fund financial statements:
In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted
for as capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Capital assets used in
proprietary fund operations are accounted for the same as in the government-wide financial
statements.
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1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
Long-term obligations:
In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are
reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental statements. Bond premiums and discounts are
deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method. Changes in premiums
and discounts are reported as part of long-term debt. Bond issuance costs are generally expensed as
incurred.
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts as
revenues or expenditures during the current period.
Deferred outflows and inflows of resources:
In addition to assets and liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report separate
sections for deferred outflows and inflows of resources. These separate financial statement elements
represent a consumption or acquisition of net position that applies to future periods and will not be
recognized as an outflow (expense/expenditure) or inflow (revenue) of resources until that time.
Deferrals related to pension and other postemployment benefits are disclosed in their respective notes
below.
lnterfund activity:
The City allocates to several funds a percentage of the salaries and wages and related costs of personnel
who perform general and administrative services for such funds.
Sales of goods and services between funds are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as
expenditures/expenses in the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another
without a requirement for repayment are reported as interfund transfers. Interfund transfers are
reported as other financing sources/uses in governmental funds, and after non-operating
revenues/expenses in proprietary funds.
On fund financial statements, interfund loans are classified as interfund receivables/payables. These
amounts are eliminated in the statement of net position, except for amounts due between
governmental and business-type activities, which are presented as internal balances.
Compensated absences:
Regular employees are granted vacation leave based on the number of continuous service years. A
maximum of 40 days of annual leave may be carried over to subsequent years. Upon termination, the
employees will be paid for the number of days they have accrued.
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1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
Compensated absences:
The salary-related payments representing the employer's share of Social Security and Medicare taxes
have been accrued. The vested annual leave is expensed as incurred in the appropriate funds. The City
estimates the current portion of compensated absences based on known or anticipated retirements
for the forthcoming calendar year. The remainder of the obligation for compensated absences is
reported as a long-term liability in the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund
financial statements.
Unearned revenue:
The City has a number of agreements with homeowners’ associations in the City for future maintenance
of stormwater facilities. The fees are generally paid up front by the developers and revenue is
recognized over the life of the agreement.
Memberships and deposits received for parks and rec services and events are reported as deferred
revenue until the revenue is earned by the City.
Revenues received under reimbursable grant agreements are recognized in the period in which the
qualified expenditures are incurred. Any unexpended funds are reported as unearned revenue.
Net position:
In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund financial statements, net position
equals assets plus deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and deferred inflows of resources and
is classified in the following three categories:
Net investment in capital assets - This category groups all capital assets, including infrastructure, into
one component of net position. Accumulated depreciation and the outstanding balances of debt
that are attributable to the acquisition, construction or improvement of these assets reduce this
category.
Restricted net position - This category presents external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors,
contributors, laws or regulations of other governments and restrictions imposed by law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
Unrestricted net position - This category represents the net position of the City which is not restricted
for any project or other purpose. However, these funds may be designated for specific projects or
purposes in the fund financial statements.
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1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
Net position:
When an expense is incurred that can be paid using either restricted or unrestricted resources (net
position), the City's policy is to first apply the expense toward restricted resources and then toward
unrestricted resources.
Fund balance:
In the governmental fund financial statements, the City classifies governmental fund balances as
follows:
Nonspendable - This category includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because
they are not in spendable form or because of legal or contractual agreements.
Restricted - This category includes fund balance amounts that are considered restricted for specific
purposes which are externally imposed by providers, such as creditors, or amounts constrained due
to constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
Committed - This category includes fund balance amounts for which constraints have been imposed
by the government itself using the highest level of decision-making authority. A majority of the Mayor
and Common Council must approve, by consensus vote, the establishment of a fund balance
commitment, as well the elimination of any fund balance commitment.
Assigned - This category includes fund balance amounts intended to be used for specific purposes
that are considered neither restricted nor committed. Fund balance may be assigned by the Mayor
and Common Council.
Unassigned - This category includes the residual fund balance of the General Fund, which has not
been classified within the other above-mentioned categories.
When an expenditure is to be made for a purpose for which amounts are available in multiple fund
balance classifications, the order in which resources will be expended is as follows: restricted fund
balance, followed by committed fund balance, assigned fund balance and lastly unassigned fund
balance.
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1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
Budgets and budgetary analysis:
The City prepares an annual operating budget for all funds on a basis consistent with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Appropriations for salaries and operating
expenses lapse at the fiscal year end. Budget revisions require approval of the Mayor and Common
Council. There were several budget revisions approved by the Mayor and Common Council during the
year ended June 30, 2020. Both original and final budgets of the General Fund and Public Housing
Agency Fund have been included in the presentation of the City’s required supplementary information.
Pensions:
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions, pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position
of the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (the System) and additions to/deductions from
the System’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by
the System. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are
recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.
Use of estimates:
Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Those estimates and
assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported
revenues and expenses. Actual results could vary from the estimates that were used.
Change in accounting estimate:
During the year ended June 30, 2020, the City assessed its estimate of the unbilled services. The City
has revised its original estimate to decrease the unbilled services based on its reevaluation of previous
utility services calculations covering current year usage but billed subsequent to year end. The effects
of reflecting this change in accounting estimate resulted in a decrease in the unbilled services and billing
revenue for Sewer Fund and Water Fund of $273,933 and $231,552, respectively, for the year ended
June 30, 2020. As a result, the change in net position was decreased by these same amounts.
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1.

Nature of operations and summary of significant accounting policies (continued):
New GASB pronouncements:
The GASB issued several pronouncements prior to the year ended June 30, 2020 that have effective
dates that may impact future financial statement presentations. Management has not currently
determined what, if any, impact implementation of the following statements may have on the financial
statements of the City:
GASB Statement No. 87, Leases, will be effective for the City beginning with the fiscal year ending
June 30, 2022. This Statement removes the traditional classifications of leases as operating or capital
and recognizes all leases as financing tools, resulting in the reporting of lease transactions as both a
liability and an intangible right to use the leased asset. This Statement defines lease transactions and
establishes the new accounting and financial reporting requirements.
GASB Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations, will be effective for the City beginning with the
fiscal year ending June 30, 2023. This Statement provides a single method of reporting conduit debt
obligations by issuers and eliminates diversity in practice associated with 1) commitments extended
by issuers, 2) arrangement associated with conduit debt obligations and 3) related note disclosures.

2.

Deposits and investments:
The deposits and investments held as of June 30, 2020 are as follows:

Type
Deposits:
Cash on hand
Held with escrow agent
Demand deposits
Certificate of deposits
Investments, Maryland local
government investment pool

Rating/
interest rate
(unaudited)

Maturities
(unaudited)

N/A
N/A
0.00% - 0.75%
1.98% - 2.35%

N/A
N/A
N/A
7/2020 - 2/2021

AAAm/0.42%

Total deposits and investments

N/A

Carrying
value

$

2,500
20,000
16,430,921
10,358,384
15,493,827

$ 42,305,632
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2.

Deposits and investments (continued):
The reconciliation to the statement of net position as of June 30, 2020 is as follows:

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted

$

Total cash and cash equivalents

237,645
189,260
426,905

Equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents:
Unrestricted
Restricted

33,764,113
8,114,614

Total equity in pooled cash and cash equivalents

41,878,727

Total current assets

$ 42,305,632

The City follows Government Accounting Standards Board Statement 79, Certain External Investment Pools
and Pool Participants, which requires disclosure of specific criteria regarding external investment pools.
The City maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds. The City is governed
by the deposit and investment limitations of Maryland law. The City is a participant in the Maryland Local
Government Investment Pool (MLGIP), which provides all local government units of the state an
investment vehicle for short-term investment of funds. The MLGIP is rated "AAAm" by Standard and Poor's
(their highest rating). The State Legislature created MLGIP with the passage of Article 95 22G, of the
Annotated Code of Maryland. The MLGIP, under the administrative control of the State Treasurer, has
been managed by a single financial institution. A MLGIP Advisory Committee of current participants
reviews, on a quarterly basis, the activities of the fund and provides suggestions to enhance the pool. The
fair value of the pool is the same as the value of the pool shares. As of June 30, 2020, all pool holdings were
in cash and cash equivalents with a weighted average maturity of 42 days. The pool is managed in a "Rule
2(a)-7 like" manner and is reported at amortized cost pursuant to Rule 2(a)-7 under the Investment
Company Act of 1940 and also issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements
and required supplemental information for the MLGIP. This report can be obtained in writing: Maryland
Local Government Investment Pool; c/o PNC Institutional Investments Group; One East Pratt Street;
Baltimore, Maryland, 21202; by calling 1-800-492-5160, or the website, www.mlgip.com. As of June 30,
2020, the City had total investments in MLGIP of $15,493,827, which have been reflected as equity in
pooled cash and cash equivalents.
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2.

Deposits and investments (continued):
Restricted cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2020 consisted of the following:

Govermental
activities
Bay Restoration Fee
Capital improvements projects
City program commitments
Debt service reserve fund
Developer deposits
Employee flexible spending accounts
Future infrastructure growth
Judicial mandates
Other escrows

Business-type
activities
$

$

152,650

376,091
771,593
20,000

Total restricted cash and cash equivalents

239,245
7,798
1,108,081
168,410
4,200

5,455,806

$ 2,675,418

$ 5,628,456

Custodial credit risk:
Deposits in financial institutions, reported as components of cash and cash equivalents, had a bank
balance of $30,575,182 at June 30, 2020, of which $8,656,225 was covered by federal depository
insurance. The remaining amount of $21,918,957 was fully collateralized by securities pledged and held
by financial institution's trust department or agent, not in the City's name.
Interest rate risk:
The City's formal investment policy manages its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing
interest rates by limiting investments in securities to those maturing within three years from the date
of purchase. However, the City may collateralize its repurchase agreements using longer-dated
investments not to exceed 30 years to maturity. Reserve funds may be invested in securities exceeding
30 days if the maturity of such investment coincides as nearly as practicable with the expected use of
funds. Maturities of investments held at June 30, 2020 are disclosed under deposits and investments.
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2.

Deposits and investments (continued):
Credit risk:
The City’s formal investment policy follows the Maryland State Finance and Procurement Code Ann. §
6-222 (the Code). The Code authorizes the City to invest in obligations of the United States and related
agencies, repurchase agreements of United States obligations, certain bankers’ acceptances, bonds and
commercial paper with the highest letter and numerical rating by at least one nationally recognized
statistical rating organization, money market mutual funds operated in accordance with Rule 2A-7 of
the ICA of 1940 and any investment portfolio created under the MLGIP.
Concentration of credit risk:
Based on the formal investment policy, the City invests no more than 70% of its total investment
portfolio in any single security type or in any single financial institution, excluding the MLGIP. At June
30, 2020, the City had no concentration of credit risk.

3.

Loan receivable and related forgiveness:
In February 1998, the City loaned $50,000 to Human Services Program of Carroll County, Inc., a local notfor-profit organization, to assist with the organization's project to rehabilitate a shelter building. The
agreement provided that no payments of principal or interest shall be due under the note and the principal
shall be forgiven at the rate of $1,650 per year while the property is utilized as a shelter for low- and
moderate-income families and individuals. If not paid off by the organization due to modification of use,
the entire indebtedness will be forgiven by February 25, 2028. As of June 30, 2020, $13,700 remains
outstanding on the loan, $1,650 of which has been classified as a current asset.
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4.

Capital assets:
A summary of governmental activities follows:
Balance
July 1, 2019
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and land rights
Construction in progress
Total capital assets, not being depreciated

$

2,470,906
268,455

Increases

$

Decreases

585,557
2,470,427

2,739,361

3,055,984

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Improvements other than buildings
Infrastructure
Vehicles
Water use rights

16,417,136
4,068,069
233,606
10,205,632
58,272,878
3,314,836
1,400,000

214,053
56,375
0
0
5,716,789
220,802

Total capital assets, being depreciated

93,912,157

6,208,019

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Improvements other than buildings
Infrastructure
Vehicles
Water use rights

6,469,377
3,271,117
167,503
5,884,883
27,271,400
2,331,906
119,583

480,805
202,408
21,113
379,963
1,840,832
292,711
35,000

Total accumulated depreciation

45,515,769

3,252,832

168,593

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net

48,396,388

2,955,187

-

$ 51,135,749

$ 6,011,171

Total capital assets, net
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$

Transferred to
active status

Balance
June 30, 2020

$
$

$

-

(59,239)
(59,239)

5,736,106

59,239

16,690,428
4,124,444
233,606
10,205,632
63,989,667
3,367,045
1,400,000

59,239

100,010,822

$ 168,593

168,593

6,950,182
3,473,525
188,616
6,264,846
29,112,232
2,456,024
154,583

168,593

$

-

3,056,463
2,679,643

48,600,008
59,239
$

-

51,410,814
$

57,146,920
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4.

Capital assets (continued):
Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2020 was charged to governmental activities as follows:
General government
Public safety
Culture and recreation
Public works
Community development and public housing

$

251,945
249,532
373,395
2,359,213
18,747

Total depreciation expense

$ 3,252,832

A summary of business-type activities follows:
Balance
July 1, 2019
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land and land rights
Construction in progress

$

542,455
11,891,828

Increases

$

Decreases

599
19,170,136

Transferred to
active status

Balance
June 30, 2020

$
$

543,054
30,453,001

(608,963)

30,996,055

Total capital assets, not being depreciated

12,434,283

19,170,735

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure
Utility plant and equipment
Vehicles

605,717
4,520,586
68,208,185
33,789,917
1,178,688

19,246
639,537
1,026,875
14,175
155,267

108,303,093

1,855,100

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure
Utility plant and equipment
Vehicles

33,853
3,617,954
19,349,008
16,005,686
709,406

30,927
187,037
1,688,075
749,151
115,514

79,807

Total accumulated depreciation

39,715,907

2,770,704

79,807

0

42,406,804

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net

68,587,186

(915,604)

26,533

608,963

68,254,012

81,021,469

$ 18,255,131

Total capital assets, being depreciated

Total capital assets, net

$
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-

(608,963)

$

26,533

624,963
5,160,123
69,774,740
33,846,842
1,254,148

566,213
42,750

79,807
106,340

$

26,533

608,963

110,660,816

64,780
3,804,991
21,037,083
16,754,837
745,113

$

-

$

99,250,067
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4.

Capital assets (continued):
Depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2020 was charged to business-type activities as follows:

5.

Sewer Fund
Water Fund
Fiber Fund

$

986,562
1,093,392
690,750

Total depreciation expense

$ 2,770,704

Loan payable:
In February 2007, the City received $100,000 in zero-interest financing from the Westminster Town Center
Corporation to be used for the purchase and rehabilitation of certain properties to be sold as affordable
housing to qualified buyers. The loan is payable upon the sale of the related properties. During 2015, the
related properties were sold and the conditions for repayment were satisfied. As of June 30, 2020, the loan
remains outstanding and will be paid upon the reestablishment of the Westminster Town Center
Corporation and approval by City Council.

6.

Due to other governments:
In prior years, the City received $478,000 from the Carroll County Commissioners of Maryland in relation
to agreements to provide sewer service to the County Airport and County Industrial Park Complex in the
amount of $228,000 for project costs for expanding permanent sewage infrastructure along Maryland
Route 31 and $250,000 for the Adams Mill Road vicinity (the Avondale area). Both amounts bear no
interest. The City has assessed increased special benefit assessment charges for permits issued in these
areas, of which the increased portions are to be used for repayment of the loans; therefore, the loans have
been classified as noncurrent obligations of the City. As of June 30, 2020, $39,531 and $149,037,
respectively, were outstanding on the County Airport and County Avondale obligations, respectively.

7.

Deposits and escrows:
In May 2017, the City entered into agreements with various entities for improvements along MD 97, a stateowned road. Under these agreements, the City is collecting funds from other entities and holding them in
escrow until they are remitted to the state as they submit allowable costs for reimbursement. Under the
agreements, $500,000 of the escrow balance will be held by the City until the completion of construction.
As of June 30, 2020, $585,595 was held in escrow related to this project.
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8.

Long-term debt:
Bonds and loan payable as of June 30, 2020 consist of the following:
Bonds payable:
Governmental activities general obligation bonds payable:
$4,820,000 Infrastructure Bonds - 2005 Series A due in annual principal
payments of $207,500-$232,500, plus interest paid semi-annually at rates
of 4.37%-4.45%.The bond matures on May 1, 2025.
$1,541,400 Infrastructure Bonds - 2012 Series B due in annual principal
payments of $162,400-$165,500, plus interest paid semi-annually at rates
of 2.41%-2.53%. The bond matures on May 1, 2022.
$5,000,000 Infrastructure Bonds - 2017 Series A-1 and Series A-2 due in
annual principal payments of $211,000-$329,500, plus interest paid
semi-annually at rates of 2.90%-3.34%. The bonds mature on April 1, 2037.

$

1,012,000

327,900

4,423,000

Total governmental activities general obligation bonds payable

$

Business-type activities general obligation bonds payable:
Water Fund:
$9,850,906 Drinking Water Bonds - Series 2007 due in annual principal
payments of $592,184-$622,392, plus interest paid semi-annually at a rate
of 1.00%. The bond matures on February 1, 2027.

3,710,359

$4,415,138 Drinking Water Bonds - Series 2008 due in annual principal
payments of $241,565-$285,190, plus interest paid semi-annually at a rate
of 2.40%. The bond matures on February 1, 2028.

2,102,883

Sewer Fund:
$27,606,475 Water Quality Bonds - Series 2019A of which $7,483,343 is drawn.
Due in annual principal payments of $805,680-$1,044,736, plus interest paid
semi-annually at a rate of 0.90%. The bond matures on February 1, 2052.

7,483,343

$1,500,000 Water Quality Bonds - Series 2019B accrues interest at a rate
of 0.00%.The bonds will be forgiven on March 28, 2029 as long as the City
is in compliance with the loan agreement.

1,500,000

Fiber Fund:
$16,215,000 Infrastructure Bonds - 2019 Series A-1 and Series A-2 due in
annual principal payments of $345,000-$890,000, plus interest paid
semi-annually at rates of 3.62%-3.98%. The bonds matures on April 1, 2049.

15,900,000

5,762,900

Total business-type activities general obligation bonds payable

30,696,585

Total bonds payable

36,459,485

Loan payable
Fiber Fund:
$1,300,000 MD DHCD Loan - 2019 deferred loan to be received over three years to
provide for operating expenses. Interest accrues at a rate of 0.0%. The loan is due
in full on June 1, 2049. If the City sells, assigns or transfers more than 25% of fiber
assets, the loan is payable immediately. The loan is subject to certain covenants
requiring insurance coverage, current payment of taxes and financial reporting.
Total bonds and loan payable

503,458

503,458
$ 36,962,943

57

73

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

8.

Long-term debt (continued):
The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt for the year ended June 30, 2020:
Beginning
of year
Governmental activities:
General obligation bonds payable
Other long-term liabilities,
compensated absences
Total governmental activities
Business activities:
General obligation bonds payable
Loan payable
Other long-term liabilities,
compensated absences
Due to other governments
Total business-type activities

$

Additions

6,327,700

$

564,800

414,990

$

45,789

6,742,690

$

45,789

$

570,914

$ 24,781,071
$
-

$

7,210,999
503,458

$

1,295,485

$

257,874
188,568
$

7,763,824

$

6,114

49,367

$ 25,227,513

Ending
balance

Reductions

-

$

1,295,485

5,762,900

Due within
one year

$

454,665
$

6,217,565

580,900
17,474

$

598,374

$ 30,696,585
503,458

$ 1,178,749

307,241
188,568

11,382

$ 31,695,852

$ 1,190,131

Other long-term liabilities in governmental and business-type activities are liquidated from general
revenues in the respective General, Public Housing Agency, Water Sewer and Fiber Funds, as applicable.
The credit and taxing powers of the City are pledged in payment of any deficiency in the funding of the
principal and interest payments of all general obligation bonds and the loan from the Maryland
Department of Housing and Community Development.
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8.

Long-term debt (continued):
The principal and interest requirements to maturity of the general obligation bonds and loan payable debt
of all funds are as follows:
Years ending
June 30,

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026-2030
2031-2035
2036-2040
2041-2045
2046-2050

Governmental activities
Principal
Interest
$

580,900
597,000
445,000
456,500
358,500
1,237,000
1,440,000
648,000

$ 5,762,900

$

184,083
167,340
148,954
134,420
119,496
464,668
261,388
35,708

$ 1,516,057

Business-type activities
Principal
Interest
$

1,178,749
1,195,469
2,023,067
2,052,438
2,077,081
9,288,606
3,236,175
2,870,000
3,465,000
3,813,458

$ 31,200,043

$

778,896
759,482
739,654
711,785
682,857
2,869,605
2,216,606
1,732,462
1,122,813
368,966

$ 11,983,126

Interest costs incurred and charged to expense for the year ended June 30, 2020 for governmental
activities and business-type activities were $192,831 and $990,130, respectively.
9.

Conduit debt:
From time to time, the City has issued Economic Development and Educational Facilities Revenue Bonds
to provide financial assistance to private-sector entities for the acquisition and construction of facilities
deemed to be in the public interest. The bonds are secured by the property financed and are payable
solely from payments received on the underlying mortgage loans. The City is not obligated in any manner
for repayment of the bonds. Accordingly, the bonds are not reported as liabilities in the accompanying
financial statements. As of June 30, 2020, there were various series of Economic Development Revenue
Bonds and Educational Facilities Revenue Bonds outstanding, with an aggregate principal amount payable
of $139,340,000.
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10. Interfund transactions:
lnterfund receivable and payable balances at June 30, 2020 consisted of the following:

Due to

Due from
Governmental funds
Enterprise funds
General Public housing
Sewer
Water
Fund
agency fund
Fund
Fund

Governmental funds,
General Fund
Enterprise funds,
Fiber Fund

$ 5,198

Total

$ 5,198

$

1,856

$ 44,270

$ 36,635
-

$

1,856

$ 44,270

$ 36,635

Total

$ 82,761
5,198
$ 87,959

All interfund balances resulted from the time lag between the dates that:
1) Interfund goods and services are provided or reimbursable expenditures occur,
2) Transactions are recorded in the accounting system, and
3) Payments between funds are made, and are expected to be repaid within the following year.
Significant interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2020 include a transfer of $75,000 from the
General Fund to the Public Housing Agency Fund to support the Public Housing Agency Fund’s activities
and a $144,178 from the General Fund to the Fiber Fund to support Fiber Fund activities.
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11. Fund balances and net position:
The governmental fund balances at June 30, 2020, are summarized as follows:
General
Fund
Nonspendable, not in spendable form:
Prepaid expenses
Inventory
Loan receivable

$

203,020
63,998
13,700

Public Housing
Agency Fund

$

280,718
Restricted:
Benefit assessments
Capital improvements
Housing voucher program
Police non-budgeted

8,467
8,467

1,123,441
541,210
233,056
157,720
1,822,371

Committed to police discretional use
Assigned:
Community development
Emergency reserve
Fiscal year 2021 budget

Unassigned
Total fund balance

233,056

Total

$

211,487
63,998
13,700
289,185

1,123,441
541,210
233,056
157,720
2,055,427

18,497

18,497

475,953
1,467,321
2,705,490

-

475,953
1,467,321
2,705,490

4,648,764

-

4,648,764

9,090,411

-

9,090,411

$ 15,860,761

$

241,523

$ 16,102,284

Restricted net assets in business-type activities are limited to $5,495,818 restricted in the Sewer Fund for
future infrastructure growth from benefit assessment revenue.
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12. Property taxes:
The amount of the tax levy in the corresponding tax year shall constitute a determination of the amount
to be raised. Property taxes are due and payable on the first day of July in the year for which they are levied
and become overdue and in arrears on the first day of the following October. The Mayor and Common
Council also have the authority to levy a half-year tax on new construction due and payable on January 1
in the year such tax is levied. The tax rate for the year ended June 30, 2020 was $0.56 per $100 of assessed
property value.
Personal property taxes are levied annually and are due within 30 days of billing, which occurs as
assessment information is received by the state. Assessed values are established by the Maryland State
Department of Assessments and Taxation. For tangible business and personal property, the rate per $100
of assessed value was $1.10 in fiscal year 2020. For tangible utility property, the rate per $100 of assessed
value was $1.40 in fiscal year 2020.
13. Rental income agreements:
The City has entered into lease agreements for real estate at market rates with various unrelated parties.
Additionally, the City leases two pieces of real estate to unrelated parties at a rate of $1 per year. Rental
income for the year ended June 30, 2020 was $37,958. Future minimum annual rental receipts for the
General Fund for the years ended June 30 is as follows:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026-2030

$

13,202
4,202
4,202
4,202
4,202
1,759

$

31,769

The cost of the leased properties presented in building and improvements was $812,446 with accumulated
depreciation of $434,882 as of June 30, 2020.
On February 5, 2019, the City entered into a purchase contract with the lessee for one of the real estate
properties leased to an unrelated party for $1 per year. The property is at 7 Schoolhouse Avenue,
Westminster, and the sales price is $430,000. Settlement on the sale (closing) will occur no later than 18
months after February 5, 2019, except that the deadline for closing may be extended by three additional
180 day periods. The sale of the property was completed in December 2020.
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13. Rental income agreements (continued):
In December 2018, the City entered into a lease agreement with the construction company who is building
the new sewer facility for the property located next to the facility. The intention is that the construction
company will be able to use the property during construction. The lease agreement expires in June 2022.
Rental income for the year ended June 30, 2020 was $54,463. According to the lease agreement, future
minimum rental revenue for the Sewer Fund consist of $36,869 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and
$30,566 for the year ended June 30, 2022. The cost of the leased property, presented in building and
improvements and land and land rights, was $813,989 with accumulated depreciation of $25,049 as of
June 30, 2020.
The City has entered into communication tower lease agreements with various unrelated parties. All lease
agreements have renewable terms for successive five-year periods at the lessees’ discretion. Rental
income for the year ended June 30, 2020 was $259,752. Future minimum annual rental income for the
Water Fund for the years ended June 30 is as follows:

2021
2022
2023

$ 263,435
163,830
37,210
$ 464,475

14. Fiber network infrastructure lease:
Effective February 9, 2015, the City entered into a ten-year lease agreement with an unrelated party, Ting
Fiber, Inc., for the leasing of the City’s fiber network infrastructure. The agreement offers an option to
renew for two consecutive ten-year extensions. On a monthly basis, the lessee is charged by the City per
subscriber to the internet and per possible subscriber (i.e., the fiber network infrastructure is in place on
the street where the possible subscriber is located).
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City generated revenue of $689,151 from this agreement. The income
is recognized as operating income because the purpose of the Fiber Fund is to provide a high-speed fiber
optic network to residential and commercial users in the City.
15. Operating leases:
Effective August 1, 2018, the City entered into a one-year lease agreement with an unrelated party for the
leasing of office space. This lease was extended through March 31, 2021 with monthly minimum lease
payments of $14,300.
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15. Operating leases (continued):
In addition, the City has various operating leases with unrelated parties for copiers and office equipment
through July 2024.
The following is a schedule of future minimum rental payments required under the operating leases as of
June 30, 2020:

Years ending June 30,
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

Governmental
activities

Business-type
activities

$

50,681
5,596
3,409
1,656
138

$

95,691
7,880
3,505
-

$

61,480

$

107,076

Rent expense for governmental and business-type activities for the year ended June 30, 2020 was $66,908
and $125,239, respectively.
16. Defined contribution plans:
The City, in accordance with Common Council approval, has two defined contribution plans created in
accordance with Internal Revenue Code Sections 457(b) and 401(a), respectively. The 457(b) plan is
available to all regular full-time and part-time employees, and the 401(a) plan is available to those
employees who are not members of the Law Enforcement Officers' Pension System (LEOPS) of Maryland
with at least six months of employment service. Employees are fully vested in both plans immediately
upon becoming eligible to participate in the plans. The 457(b) and 401(a) plans have 11 and 107 active
participants, respectively, as of June 30, 2020.
The 457(b) plan permits employees to defer a portion of their salary until future years. Employees can
defer the lesser of $19,500, adjusted annually for cost-of-living increases, and up to an additional $6,500
catch-up for employees age 50 or over, or 100% of their includable salaries over the plan year. In addition,
the City's 457(b) plan contains a Roth IRA option allowing after-tax contributions up to an annual maximum
of $6,000, with an additional $1,000 catch-up for employees age 50 or over. The City contributed $3,694 to
the 457(b) plan for the year ended June 30, 2020.
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16. Defined contribution plans (continued):
The 401(a) plan permits the City to contribute 2% of eligible employee’s salary to a maximum of $57,000
per employee, adjusted annually for cost-ofliving increases, to this plan based on attaining six months of
service. Employees are fully vested in this plan upon contribution. The City contributed $82,122 to the
401(a) plan for the year ended June 30, 2020.
All amounts of compensation deferred under the plan, all property and rights purchased with those
amounts and all income attributable to those amounts, property or rights are held in trust for the exclusive
benefit of participants and their beneficiaries; thus, the plan assets are not reflected in the financial
statements of the City.
17. Pension plans:
The City is a participating employer in the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (the System) Employees’ Pension System and the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System - Law Enforcement
Officers’ Pension System. Both are defined benefit pension plans.
General information about the pension plans:
Employees’ pension system:
Plan description - City employees that work a minimum of 500 regular hours, excluding overtime, are
provided with pensions through the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System, a cost-sharing
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the State Retirement Agency (the
Agency). Responsibility for the System’s administration and operation is vested in a 15-member
Board of Trustees. The System issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at:
https://sra.maryland.gov/sites/main/files/file-attachments/2019-srps-cafr-web.pdf.
Benefits provided - The plan provides retirement allowances and other benefits to participants and
their beneficiaries. All plan benefits are specified by the State Personnel and Pensions Article of the
Annotated Code of Maryland. The plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits.
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17. Pension plans (continued):
General information about the pension plans:
Employees’ pension system:
For individuals who are members of the pension systems on or before June 30, 2011, retirement
benefits equal 1.2% of average final compensation (AFC) for the three highest consecutive years as
an employee multiplied by the number of years of creditable service accrued prior to July 1, 1998
plus 1.8% of the (AFC) for the three highest consecutive years as an employee multiplied by the
number of years of creditable service accrued on or after July 1, 1998. Members are eligible for full
service pension allowances upon accumulating 30 years of eligibility service regardless of age.
Absent 30 years of eligibility service, members must meet one of the following conditions to be
eligible for full service pension allowances: 1) age 62, and five years of eligibility service; 2) age 63,
and four years of eligibility service; 3) age 64, and three years of eligibility service or 4) age 65 or
older, and two years of eligibility service. Members are eligible for early service pension allowances
upon attaining age 55 with at least 15 years of eligibility service. Benefits are reduced by 0.5% per
month for each month remaining until the retiree attains age 62. The maximum reduction for these
members is 42%.
For individuals who are members of the pension systems on or after July 1, 2011, retirement benefits
equal 1.5% of (AFC) for the five highest consecutive years as an employee multiplied by the number
of years of creditable service accrued on or after July 1, 2011. Members are eligible for full service
pension allowances when their combined age and eligibility service equals at least 90 years or they
attain age 65 after 10 years of eligibility service. Members are eligible for early service pension
allowances upon attaining age 60 with at least 15 years of eligibility service. Benefits are reduced by
0.5% per month for each month remaining until the retiree attains age 65. The maximum reduction
for these members is 30%.
All plan employees are eligible for accidental disability benefits regardless of length of service as long
as the accident occurred in the course of their job performance. Accidental disability benefits are
equal to the sum of an annuity determined as the actuarial value of the members’ accumulated
contributions and two-thirds (66.7%) of their AFC. Five years of service is required for ordinary
disability benefits. Ordinary disability benefits are equal to the full service pension allowance if the
member is at least age 62 on the date of retirement. Otherwise, the benefit is equal to the full service
pension benefit computed as though the member had continued to accrue service credits until age
62 without any change in the rate of earnable compensation.
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17. Pension plans (continued):
General information about the pension plans:
Employees’ pension system:
To be eligible for death benefits, the member must have either accumulated one year of eligibility
service prior to the date of death or died in the line of duty. Death benefits equal the member’s
annual earnable compensation on the date of death, plus accumulated contributions and interest.
Under certain circumstances, surviving spouses who were named sole primary beneficiaries may
elect to receive either the aforementioned lump sum payment or a monthly allowance.
Contributions - Members are required to contribute 7.00% of their wages under the Plan. The City is
required to make a contribution which is established by annual actuarial valuations using the
Individual Entry Age Normal Cost method with projection and other actuarial assumptions adopted
by the Board of Trustees. The City’s required contribution rate for the year ended June 30, 2020 was
9.38% of covered payroll, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee
contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with
an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to the pension plan
from the City were $518,454 for the year ended June 30, 2020.
Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System:
Plan description - Law enforcement officers are provided with pensions through the Maryland State
Retirement and Pension System’s Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System (LEOPS), a cost-sharing
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Agency. Responsibility for the
System’s administration and operation is vested in a 15-member Board of Trustees. The System
issues
a
publicly
available
financial
report
that
can
be
obtained
at:
https://sra.maryland.gov/sites/main/files/file-attachments/2019-srps-cafr-web.pdf.
Benefits provided - The LEOPS plan provides retirement, disability and death benefits. Retirement
benefits equal 2.3% of average final compensation (AFC) for the first 30 years of creditable service,
plus 1.0% of AFC for each additional year. Full service pension allowances equal 2.0% of AFC for the
five highest consecutive years as an employee, up to a maximum benefit of 65% of AFC (32.5 years
of credit). LEOPS plan members are eligible for full service retirement allowances upon attaining age
50 or upon accumulating 25 years of eligibility service regardless of age. Allowances for members
who fail to make all required contributions are reduced by the actuarial equivalent of the total unpaid
contributions, plus interest, to the date of retirement. LEOPS plan members are not eligible for early
service retirement allowances.
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17. Pension plans (continued):
General information about the pension plans:
Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System:
LEOPS plan members are eligible for ordinary disability retirement allowances upon completing five
years of eligibility service. Ordinary disability retirement allowances for LEOPS plan members subject
to retirement plan provisions equal the greater of the normal service retirement allowance or 25%
of AFC. Ordinary disability retirement allowances for LEOPS plan members subject to pension plan
provisions equal the full service pension allowance if the member is at least age 50 on the date of
retirement. Otherwise, the allowances equal full service pension allowances computed as though
the member had continued to work until age 50 without any change in the rate of earnable
compensation.
LEOPS plan members are eligible for accidental disability benefits regardless of length of service as
long as the accident occurred in the course of their job performance. Accidental disability allowances
equal the sum of an annuity determined as the actuarial value of the members’ accumulated
contributions, and two-thirds (66.7%) of AFC. Allowances may not exceed the members’ AFC.
LEOPS plan members accumulating at least one, but less than two, years of eligibility service are
eligible for ordinary death benefits equaling the members’ annual earnable compensation at the
time of death, plus accumulated contributions. To be eligible for special death benefits, LEOPS plan
members in service must have accumulated at least two years of eligibility service prior to the date
of death or died in the line of duty. The special death benefit provided upon death for LEOPS plan
members in service equals 50% of the applicable ordinary disability allowance.
Contributions - LEOPS plan members are required to contribute 7.00% of their wages under the plan.
The City is required to make a contribution which is established by annual actuarial valuations using
the Individual Entry Age Normal Cost method with projection and other actuarial assumptions
adopted by the Board of Trustees. The City’s required contribution rate for the year ended June 30,
2020 was 32.22% of covered payroll, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with
employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by employees during the
year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions to the
pension plan from the City were $724,830 for the year ended June 30, 2020.
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17. Pension plans (continued):
Pension liabilities, pension expense, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions:
At June 30, 2020, the City reported a liability of $11,162,935 for its proportionate share of the net
pension liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019, and the total pension
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that
date. The City’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the City’s share of contributions to
the pension plan relative to the contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. At
June 30, 2019, the City’s proportion was 0.0541%, which was an increase of 0.0005% from its proportion
measured as of June 30, 2018.
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized pension expense of $1,731,627. At June 30, 2020,
the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

Change of assumptions
Change in proportionate share
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date
Difference between expected and actual experience
Net difference between projected and actual earnings
on pension plan investments

Deferred
outflows
of resources

Deferred
inflows
of resources

$

$

171,122
1,455,233
1,243,284

723,957
221,539
$ 3,091,178
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303,804
421,150

$ 1,448,911
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17. Pension plans (continued):
Pension liabilities, pension expense, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions:
The amount of $1,243,284 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting
from City contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the
net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expense
as follows for the years ending June 30:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

$ 351,645
(59,484)
41,517
111,745
(46,440)
$ 398,983

Actuarial assumptions - The total pension liability in the June 30, 2019 actuarial valuation was
determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods included in the
measurement:
Inflation
Salary increases
Investment rate of return
Mortality

2.60% general, 3.10% wage
3.10% to 8.35%, including wage inflation
7.40%, net of pension plan investment expense, including inflation
Fully generational - Pub-2010/MP2018

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2019 valuation were based on the results of an actuarial
experience study of the System for the period 2014-2018 after the completion of the June 30, 2018
valuations. Assumptions from the experience study including investment return, inflation, COLA
increases, mortality rates, retirement rates, withdrawal rates, disability rates and rates of salary
increase were adopted by the Board of Trustees for first use in the actuarial valuation as of June 30,
2019.
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17. Pension plans (continued):
Pension liabilities, pension expense, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions:
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a buildingblock method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns,
net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These
ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future
real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The
target allocations and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class are
summarized in the following table:

Target
allocation

Asset class
Public equity
Private equity
Rate sensitive
Credit opportunity
Real assets
Absolute return

37%
13%
19%
9%
14%
8%

Long-term expected
real rate of return
6.3%
7.5%
1.3%
3.9%
4.5%
3.0%

100%
Discount Rate - A single discount rate of 7.40% was used to measure the total pension liability. This single
discount rate was based on the expected rate of return on pension plan investments of 7.40%. The
projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan member
contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that employer contributions will be
made at rates equal to the difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the
member rate. Based on these assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to
be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. The discount rate used for the June 30, 2018
valuation was 7.45%.
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17. Pension plans (continued):
Pension liabilities, pension expense, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
pensions:
Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate - Regarding sensitivity of the net
pension liability to changes in the single discount rate, the following presents the plan’s net pension
liability, calculated using a single discount rate of 7.40%, as well as what the plan’s net pension liability
would be in it were calculated using a single discount rate that is one-percentage point lower or onepercentage point higher:

The City's proportionate share of net
pension liability

1% Decrease
(6.40%)

Current
discount rate
(7.40%)

1% Increase
(8.40%)

$ 16,157,231

$ 11,162,935

$ 7,003,316

Pension plan fiduciary net position - Detailed information about the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position is available in the separately issued Agency financial report.
18. Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) plan:
General information about the OPEB plan:
Plan description - The Mayor and Common Council of the City of Westminster, Maryland, established
the City of Westminster OPEB Plan (the Plan). The Plan provides postemployment healthcare benefits
for active employees and other postemployment benefits for eligible retirees, their spouses and
dependents. The Plan is administered under two City policies, the Retiree Insurance Policy (employees
retiring prior to July 1, 2008) and the Retirement Medical Insurance Policy (employees hired prior to July
1, 2008 and retiring after July 1, 2008). The City Charter grants the authority to establish and amend the
benefit terms and financing requirements to the Common Council and the Mayor.
Benefits provided - The Plan provides medical, hospitalization and prescription drug benefits to eligible
active Plan members and retirees, their spouses and dependents, and is authorized by the City. The
Plan provisions, benefits available and required reimbursements are governed by the Retiree Insurance
Policy and the Retirement Medical Insurance Policy. Upon reaching eligibility for Medicare, retirees are
no longer permitted to participate in the City's Plan, except for those eligible under the Retiree
Insurance Policy.
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18. Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) plan (continued):
General information about the OPEB plan:
Under the Retiree Insurance Policy, all employees meeting the retirement eligibility requirements of the
State Retirement and Pension System of Maryland, based on age and years of service for law
enforcement and general employees, and the City, based on age and years of service, as well as
retirement directly from the City and having continuous medical insurance coverage with the City after
retirement, as of July 1, 2008 can participate in City-sponsored coverage.
The City subsidizes the retirees' individual premium cost up to 100%, based on the number of points
(age plus years of service) at the age of retirement, and qualifying disabled participants all qualify for
the 100% subsidy regardless of number of points. There is no City subsidy on spouses or dependents.
Upon reaching eligibility for Medicare, retirees are eligible for a Medicare supplemental plan. Under the
Retirement Medical Insurance Policy, all employees meeting the retirement eligibility requirements of
the State Retirement and Pension System of Maryland, based on age and years of service for law
enforcement and general employees, and the City, based on age and years of service, as well as
retirement directly from the City and having continuous medical insurance coverage with the City after
retirement, after July 1, 2008 can participate in City-sponsored coverage. The City subsidizes the
retirees' individual premium cost up to 75%, based on the number of points (age plus years of service)
at the age of retirement, and qualifying disabled participants all qualify for a 100% subsidy regardless
of number of points. There is no City subsidy on spouses or dependents. Upon reaching eligibility for
Medicare, retirees are no longer permitted to participate in the City's Plan.
Common Council and the Mayor have the authority to establish or amend benefits provided. Employees
hired after July 1, 2008 are ineligible for any subsidy from the City for health coverage in retirement.
Membership of the Plan consisted of 76 participants, 50 of which are active Plan members, 24 are
retirees receiving benefits and 2 are inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits as of
June 30, 2020.
General information about the OPEB plan:
The Plan is unfunded, with retirees’ premium payments being made by the City on a pay-as-you-go
basis. For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City paid premium costs of $121,089 related to retirees.
There are no employee contributions to the Plan. No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the
criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75.
Total OPEB liability:
The City’s total OPEB liability of $3,465,384 was measured at June 30, 2019 and was determined by an
actuarial valuation as of March 1, 2020.
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18. Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) plan (continued):
Total OPEB liability:
Actuarial assumptions and other inputs - The total OPEB liability in the March 1, 2020 actuarial valuation
was determined using the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods in
the measurement, unless otherwise specified:
Inflation

2.5%

Salary increases

6.2% per annum for general employees
7.2% per annum for law enforcement officers

Retirees' coverage election

90% - 100% for the Retiree Insurance Policy, increasing with age and years of service
50% - 95% for the Retirement Medical Insurance Policy, increasing with age and years of service

Healthcare cost trend rates

Initially 4.70%, then increasing to 5.20% by 2030, and gradually decreasing to 4.00% in 2075

The discount rate of 3.13% for the June 30, 2019 roll forward was based on the municipal bond index
as of June 30, 2019.
Mortality rates were based on the Pub-2010 General Employees Headcount-Weighted Mortality
Projected with Fully Generational MP2019 Mortality Improvement Scale.
The actuarial assumptions used in the March 1, 2020 valuation were based on past experience under
the Plan and reasonable future expectation which represents the best estimate of anticipated
experience under the Plan. A recent actuarial experience study has not been performed. Actuarial
assumptions are approved by the Mayor and Common Council based on recommendations from the
consulting actuaries.

74

90

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

18. Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) plan (continued):
Changes in the total OPEB liability:

Total OPEB
liability
Balance at June 30, 2019
Changes for the year:
Service cost
Interest
Experience gains
Changes in assumptions
Benefit payments

$ 4,974,664

Net changes for the year

(1,509,280)

84,133
176,402
(1,504,694)
(106,130)
(158,991)

Balance at June 30, 2020

$ 3,465,384

Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect a change in the discount rate from 3.62% for
June 30, 2019 to 3.13% for June 30, 2020.
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate - The following presents the total
OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is one-percentage point lower (2.13%) or one-percentage point higher (4.13%) than
the current discount rate:
1% decrease
(2.13%)

Current discount
rate (3.13%)

1% increase
(4.13%)

$ 3,771,768

$

$ 3,189,555

3,465,384
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18. Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) plan (continued):
Changes in the total OPEB liability:
Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates - The following
presents the total OPEB liability of the City, as well as what the City’s total OPEB liability would be if it
were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are one-percentage point lower or onepercentage point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates (see actuarial assumptions and
other inputs for healthcare cost trend rates):
1% decrease
(3.00%)

Current healthcare cost
trend rates (4.00%)

1% increase
(5.00%)

$ 3,155,276

$

$ 3,821,876

3,465,384

OPEB expense, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB:
For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City recognized OPEB expense of $231,673. At June 30, 2020, the
City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from
the following sources:

Deferred outflows
of resources
Differences between expected and actual experience
Change of assumptions
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date

76

92

$

121,089

$

121,089

Deferred inflows
of resources
$

1,155,282
248,840

$

1,404,122
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18. Other postemployment benefits (OPEB) plan (continued):
OPEB expense, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB:
The amount of $121,089 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB resulting from City
contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction to the total OPEB
liability in the year ended June 30, 2021. Other amounts reported as deferred inflows of resources
related to OPEB will be recognized as reductions in OPEB expense as follows for the years ending June
30:

2021
2022
2023

$

494,312
494,311
415,499

$ 1,404,122
19. Commitments and contingencies:
The City participates in a number of federal, state and county programs that are fully or partially funded
by grants received from other governmental units. Expenditures financed by grants are subject to audit
by the appropriate grantor government. If expenditures are disallowed due to noncompliance with grant
program regulations, the City may be required to reimburse the grantor government. As of June 30, 2020,
significant amounts of grant expenditures have not been audited by the appropriate grantor government,
but the City believes that disallowed expenditures, if any, based on subsequent audits will not have a
material effect on any of the individual governmental funds or the overall financial position of the City.
The City is involved in various claims and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. In the
opinion of the City’s management and counsel, the ultimate disposition of these matters will not have a
material adverse effect on the City’s net position or changes therein.
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19. Commitments and contingencies (continued):
The City is committed under the following contracts for projects as of June 30, 2020:

Contract
amount

Project

Amount
outstanding at
June 30, 2020

Governmental activities,
45 West Main Street renovations

$

5,066,341

$

2,335,691

Sewer Fund, enhanced nutrients removal
and biosolids upgrade to wastewater
treatment plant

$ 68,343,931

$

42,431,374

Water Fund, Water Re-Use Pilot
Testing Project

147,000

Business-type activities

$ 68,490,931

94,486
$

42,525,860

Under federal court order, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency was ordered to implement a
Chesapeake Bay clean up. The State of Maryland established a stormwater management fee program to
fund projects to direct nitrogen away from streams that feed into the Chesapeake Bay. This program will
be implemented through a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit for Carroll
County, Maryland (the County). In October 2014, the City along with seven other municipalities entered into
a cost-sharing of stormwater mitigation project with the County to comply with NPDES requirements. The
annual amount for each municipality was calculated based on $25,000 per impervious acre and on total
number of impervious acres required to be restored/mitigated by the permit over the five-year period of
this project. For its share of this project, the City is required to pay 20% and the County is covering the
remaining 80%. For the year ended June 30, 2020, the City’s portion of these costs was $198,497, which
were capitalized as an infrastructure asset. Over the five-year term of the agreement, the City paid a total
of $902,358. These funds are funding the design and construction of various stormwater management
facilities. The construction of these facilities are ongoing. The County and municipalities agreed to continue
the current agreement by extending for one additional year, while working towards the issuance of the Fifth
Generation Permit. As such, the City made its next committed payment under this agreement subsequent
to year end in the amount of $198,497, which will be applied to the next permit and funds going to future
projects.
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20. Risk and uncertainties:
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions; injuries to employees and natural disasters. The City is a member of the Local
Government Insurance Trust (LGIT), a public-entity risk pool, which is owned and directed by local
governments (participants) that subscribe to its insurance coverages. LGIT is managed by a Board of
Trustees and a contract administration company. The trustees are elected by a majority vote of the
participants with each participant having one vote. The City does not exercise any control over LGIT's
operations. The maximum coverage under the liability pool of LGIT is $1,000,000 per claim. The City also
participates in an excess liability pool, which has maximum coverage of $5,000,000. Settled claims resulting
from these risks have not exceeded insurance coverage for each of the past three years.
In December 2019, a novel strain of coronavirus (COVID-19) was reported to have surfaced in China. The
World Health Organization has declared COVID-19 to constitute a “Public Health Emergency of
International Concern” and characterized COVID-19 as a pandemic. The U.S. government has also
implemented enhanced screenings, quarantine requirements and travel restrictions in connection with
the COVID-19 outbreak. The spread of this virus has the potential to cause business disruption to the City’s
tax base, due to state government-imposed shutdowns of businesses and other results of the virus. While
the City expects this matter may negatively impact its results, the extent of the impact of COVID-19 on the
City’s operational and financial performance will depend on future developments, including the duration
and spread of the outbreak and related travel advisories and restrictions and the impact of COVID-19 on
overall economic trends, all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted.
21. Concentrations and economic dependencies:
The City provides various services to its residents. The City is located in northern Carroll County, Maryland.
Credit is granted to its residents for taxes, water and sewer bills. The City may place a lien on any property
associated with unpaid taxes and water and sewer services; therefore, an allowance for uncollectible
amounts is not considered necessary.
Substantially all revenues and receivables in the Fiber Fund are from Ting Fiber, Inc.
The City receives shared revenue from the county and state. The amounts of these funds are not
guaranteed and may be reduced as a result of changes in the economy.
22. Subsequent events:
In August 2020, the City issued Infrastructure Bond, 2020 Series A as a general obligation of the City in the
amount of $1,186,800 to finance the community pool improvements project.
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22. Subsequent events (continued):
In preparing these financial statements, the City has evaluated events and transactions for potential
recognition or disclosure through February 12, 2021, the date the financial statements were available to
be issued.
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(Required supplementary information)
(unaudited)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Revenues:
Taxes
Licenses and permits
Fines and forfeitures
Interest
Rent
Intergovernmental revenues
Charges for services
Miscellaneous revenues
Total revenues
Expenditures:
General government
Public safety
Culture and recreation
Highways and streets
Community development and public housing
Capital outlay
Debt service:
Principal
Interest
Total expenditures

Variance with
final budget
positive
(negative)

Original
budget

Final
budget

Actual

$ 13,451,814
587,200
102,500
80,000
29,400
3,169,728
1,276,780
36,000

$ 13,451,814
605,130
105,500
180,000
29,400
3,250,856
1,478,033
54,500

$ 13,621,481
587,808
98,026
176,783
37,958
2,295,914
1,246,606
96,568

18,733,422

19,155,233

18,161,144

(994,089)

2,800,925
7,221,848
1,431,217
3,271,377
37,422
8,109,843

2,840,125
7,277,048
1,474,537
3,271,377
37,422
8,965,827

1,714,538
6,597,452
1,191,745
2,844,416
12,927
4,766,555

564,800
234,057

564,800
234,057

564,800
199,729

1,125,587
679,596
282,792
426,961
24,495
4,199,272
0
34,328

23,671,489

24,665,193

17,892,162

6,773,031

$

169,667
(17,322)
(7,474)
(3,217)
8,558
(954,942)
(231,427)
42,068

Other financing sources (uses):
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Interfund transfers

20,000
(692,078)

20,000
(692,078)

19,231
(219,178)

(769)
472,900

Total other financing sources (uses)

(672,078)

(672,078)

(199,947)

472,131

$ (5,610,145)

$ (6,182,038)

Net changes in fund balances
Fund balances:
Beginning of year

69,035

15,791,726

End of year

$ 15,860,761
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$ 6,251,073

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE – PUBLIC HOUSING AGENCY FUND
(Required supplementary information)
(unaudited)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Variance with
final budget
positive
(negative)

Original
budget

Final
budget

0
$ 2,401,233
16,000

0
$ 2,504,233
19,934

Total revenues

2,417,233

2,524,167

2,535,637

11,470

Expenditures, community development
and public housing

2,492,459

2,594,234

2,616,125

(21,891)

75,000

75,000

75,000

-

4,933

(5,488)

Revenues:
Interest
Intergovernmental
Miscellaneous

Other financing sources (uses),
interfund transfers
Net changes in fund balances

$

(226)

$

Actual

$

Fund balances:
Beginning of year

85
2,517,429
18,123

247,011

End of year

$

82
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241,523

$

$

85
13,196
(1,811)

(10,421)

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TOTAL OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) LIABILITY AND
RELATED RATIOS
LAST THREE FISCAL YEARS*
(Required supplementary information)
(unaudited)

2020
Total OPEB liability:
Service cost
Interest
Experience gains
Changes of assumptions
Benefit payments

$

Net change in total OPEB liability
Total OPEB liability:
Beginning of year
End of year
Covered employee payroll
Total OPEB liability as a percentage of the
covered employee payroll

84,133
176,402
(1,504,694)
(106,130)
(158,991)

2019

$

81,676
173,077
(44,604)
(19,372)
(145,958)

2018

$

91,537
147,458
(394,049)
(178,101)

(1,509,280)

44,819

(333,155)

4,974,664

4,929,845

5,263,000

$ 3,465,384

$ 4,974,664

$ 4,929,845

$ 3,147,834

$ 3,020,987

$ 3,161,863

110.09%

164.67%

155.92%

*The amounts presented were determined as of the end of the prior fiscal year. This schedule will eventually cover
the ten most-recent fiscal years; however, this is the information available as of the implemention year of GASB
No. 75.
Notes to Schedule:
Changes of Assumptions - Changes of assumptions and other inputs reflect the effects of changes in the discount
rate in each period. The following are the discount rates used in each period:
2020 3.13%
2019 3.62%
2018 3.58%
2017 2.85%
In 2020, the medical trend was updated to the latest model released by the SOA and excludes the impact of the
Cadillac Tax.
In 2020, the mortality assumption was updated to the latest experience study on public sector employees and
retirees released by the SOA.
No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria in paragraph 4 of GASB statement No. 75 to pay
future OPEB obliations.
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SCHEDULE OF THE CITY’S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF THE NET PENSION LIABILITY
LAST SIX FISCAL YEARS*
(Required supplementary information)
(unaudited)

City's proportionate share (%) of collective net pension liability
City's proportionate share ($) of collective net pension liability
City's covered payroll
City's proportionate share of collective net pension liability as a percentage
of its covered payroll
Pension plan's fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension
liability

2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

0.0541%
$ 11,162,935
$ 7,429,146

0.0536%
$ 11,241,148
$ 7,083,850

0.0482%
$ 10,431,551
$ 6,584,160

0.0488%
$ 11,509,127
$ 6,272,473

0.0469%
$ 9,745,109
$ 6,304,421

0.0447%
$ 7,892,118
$ 6,255,414

150.26%

158.69%

158.43%

183.49%

154.58%

126.16%

72.34%

71.18%

69.38%

65.79%

68.78%

71.87%

* The above schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement for specified information for the past 10 years. However, until a
full 10-year trend is compiled, information is only presented for those years for which information is available.
Notes to schedule:
Changes of Assumptions - In addition to the significant assumptions and noted changes listed below, in 2016 adjustments
were also made to COLA, withdrawal and disability rates and rates of salary increases.
2020

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

RP-2014
7.45%
2.60%

RP-2014
7.50%
2.65%

RP-2014
7.55%
2.70%

RP-2014
7.55%
2.70%

RP-2010
7.65%
2.90%

Pub-2010/
Mortality table
Investment return
Inflation

MP2018
7.40%
2.60%
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SCHEDULE OF THE CITY’S PENSION PLAN CONTRIBUTIONS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(Required supplementary information)
(unaudited)

Contributions
in relation to

Contribution

the

as a

Contractually

contractually

Contribution

required

required

deficiency

City's covered

covered

Year

contribution

contribution

(excess)

payroll

payroll

2020

$ 1,243,284

$ (1,243,284)

7,776,860

16.0%

2019

1,125,444

(1,125,444)

-

7,429,146

15.1%

2018
2017
2016
2015
2014
2013
2012
2011

1,055,351
984,874
950,272
988,374
1,036,331
769,674
934,238
1,000,560

(1,055,351)
(984,874)
(950,272)
(988,374)
(1,036,331)
(769,674)
(934,238)
(1,000,560)

-

7,083,850
6,584,160
6,272,473
6,304,421
6,255,414
6,268,030
6,088,635
6,441,749

14.9%
15.0%
15.1%
15.7%
16.6%
12.3%
15.3%
15.5%
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$

-

percentage of

$

CITY OF WESTMINSTER, MARYLAND
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Federal grantor/pass-through grantor/program or cluster title

Federal
CFDA number

Pass-through entity
identifying number

14.871

N/A

14.871

Portability

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development:
Direct funding:
Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers
Passed through Carroll County government:
Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers

Federal
expenditures

$

Amount
passed through
to subrecipients

2,422,214
95,215

Total Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers

2,517,429

-

Total U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

2,517,429

-

U.S. Department of Labor:
Passed through Maryland Department of Labor, Division
of Unemployment Insurance:
Unemployment Insurance

17.225

N/A

U.S. Department of Treasury:
Passed through Carroll County Commissioners:
Coronavirus Relief Fund

21.019

03/01/20 - 12/30/20

U.S. Department of Transportation:
Passed through Maryland Highway Safety Office:
State and Community Highway Safety

20.600

LE 19-093, 19-038

Total federal expenditures

6,360

124,951

482
$
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2,649,222

$

-

CITY OF WESTMINSTER, MARYLAND
NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Note 1.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal award activity of the City
under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 2020. The information in this schedule
is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).
Because the schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of the City, it is not intended to and
does not present the financial position, changes in net assets or cash flows of the City.
Note 2.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Expenditures reported on the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are reported on the accrual basis of
accounting. Federal expenditures are recognized following the cost principles contained in the Uniform
Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.
Note 3.

Indirect Cost Rate

The City did not elect to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance.

87

103

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards

Mayor and Common Council
City of Westminster, Maryland

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the businesstype activities and each major fund of the City of Westminster, Maryland, as of and for the year ended June 30,
2020 and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Westminster’s
basic financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated February 12, 2021.
Internal Control over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Westminster’s
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Westminster’s internal control.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Westminster’s internal control.
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the
preceding paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies; and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist
that have not been identified. However, as described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned
costs, we did identify certain deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses and
significant deficiencies.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. We consider the deficiency
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2020-001 to be a material
weakness.
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A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe
than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. We
consider the deficiency described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2020002 to be a significant deficiency.
Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Westminster’s financial statements are
free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws,
regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect
on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an
objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed
no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing
Standards.
City of Westminster’s Response to Findings
The City of Westminster’s response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying
schedule of findings and questioned costs. The City of Westminster’s response was not subjected to the auditing
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.
Purpose of this Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or
on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

Westminster, Maryland
February 12, 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance
for each Major Program and on
Internal Control Over Compliance in Accordance
with the Uniform Guidance

Mayor and Common Council
City of Westminster, Maryland

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program
We have audited the City of Westminster’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the
OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on the City of Westminster’s major federal
program for the year ended June 30, 2020. The City of Westminster’s major federal program is identified in the
summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.
Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with federal statutes, regulations and terms and conditions of its
federal awards applicable to its federal programs.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for the City of Westminster’s major federal program
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above
that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on
a test basis, evidence about the City of Westminster’s compliance with those requirements and performing such
other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major federal
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Westminster’s compliance.

90

106

www.bssf.com

Opinion on the Major Federal Program
In our opinion, the City of Westminster complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on the major federal program for the
year ended June 30, 2020.
Other Matters
The results of our auditing procedures disclosed an instance of noncompliance, which is required to be reported
in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and which is described in the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs as item 2020-004. Our opinion on the major federal program is not modified with respect to this
matter.
The City of Westminster’s response to the noncompliance finding identified in our audit is described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The City of Westminster’s response was not subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the
response.
Report on Internal Control over Compliance
Management of the City of Westminster is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control
over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our
audit of compliance, we considered the City of Westminster’s internal control over compliance with the types of
requirements that could have a direct and material effect on the major federal program to determine the auditing
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for
the major federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the
Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Westminster’s internal
control over compliance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the preceding
paragraph and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies; and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may
exist that have not been identified. However, as discussed below, we did identify certain deficiencies in internal
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses and significant deficiencies.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent
or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely
basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a
type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely
basis. We consider the deficiency in internal control over compliance, described in the accompanying schedule of
findings and questioned costs as item 2020-004 to be a material weakness.
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A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that is less severe
than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those
charged with governance. We consider the deficiency in internal control over compliance, described in the
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2020-003 to be a significant deficiency.
The City of Westminster’s response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our audit is
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The City of Westminster’s response was
not subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no
opinion on the response.
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Westminster, Maryland
February 12, 2021
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

I.

SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS
Financial statements
Type of auditor’s report issued:

Unmodified Opinion

Internal control over financial reporting:
Material weaknesses identified?
Significant deficiencies identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses?

X

Yes

No

X

Yes

No

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?

Yes

X

No

Federal Awards
Internal control over major programs:
Material weaknesses identified?
Significant deficiencies identified that are not
considered to be material weaknesses?
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major programs:
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported under
Section 200.516 of the Uniform Guidance?

X

Yes

No

X

Yes

No

Unmodified Opinion

X

Yes

No

Identification of major program tested:
CFDA Numbers

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

14.871

Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and
type B programs
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?

$ 750,000
Yes

(continued)
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X

No

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

II. FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT
Finding reference: 2020-001
Material weakness in internal control over financial reporting—financial reporting system errors
Condition: 1) Depreciation on capital assets was posted directly to net position instead of depreciation
expense and 2) the parks and recreation department had recorded numerous accounts receivable that
were for fiscal year 2021, with the offset being to deferred revenue.
Criteria: 1) Assets over the capitalization threshold and having an estimated useful life of more than one
year should be capitalized and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset and 2) deferred
revenue is an entity’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the entity has received
consideration from the customer. Accounts receivable are funds due to an entity for goods or services
delivered or used, but not yet paid for by customers.
Context: 1) When recording depreciation expense for fiscal year 2020, all the postings that should have
been posted to depreciation expense were posted to the net position account “net investment in capital
assets” instead and 2) when a customer signs up for a family center membership, ActiveNet creates a
receivable for the full length of the membership, and the portion that relates to future fiscal years is
recorded as deferred revenue. In the situation where the customer does not pay in advance, this causes
the balances in accounts receivable and deferred revenue to be overstated as the consideration for the
memberships in deferred revenue has not been received as of the statement of financial position date.
Effect or Potential Effect: Material adjustments were required to correct equity, depreciation expense,
accounts receivable and deferred revenue due to system posting errors.
Cause: System mapping and posting errors
Recommendation: We recommend the City 1) review how the posting of depreciation expense is mapped
in Eden to ensure it is posted to depreciation expense instead of net investment in capital assets and 2)
record the memberships for the next fiscal year as of July 1 of the next year instead of June of the current
fiscal year.
Views of Responsible Official(s) and Planned Corrective Actions: See corrective action plan.

(continued)
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

II. FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT (CONTINUED)
Finding reference: 2020-002
Significant deficiency in internal control over financial reporting—cash and equity restrictions
Condition: Numerous modifications were required to properly state restricted cash and various
nonspendable, restricted and assigned fund balances.
Criteria: In the governmental fund financial statements, the City classifies governmental fund balances as
follows:
Nonspendable - This category includes fund balance amounts that cannot be spent either because they
are not in spendable form or because of legal or contractual agreements.
Restricted - This category includes fund balance amounts that are considered restricted for specific
purposes which are externally imposed by providers, such as creditors, or amounts constrained due to
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.
Committed - This category includes fund balance amounts for which constraints have been imposed by
the government itself using the highest level of decision-making authority. A majority of the Mayor and
Common Council must approve, by consensus vote, the establishment of a fund balance commitment,
as well the elimination of any fund balance commitment.
Assigned - This category includes fund balance amounts intended to be used for specific purposes that
are considered neither restricted nor committed. Fund balance may be assigned by the Mayor and
Common Council.
Unassigned - This category includes the residual fund balance of the General Fund, which has not been
classified within the other above-mentioned categories.
Context: The City prepares a reconciliation of restricted cash and nonspendable, restricted, committed and
assigned fund balance. These reconciliations were not complete and contained several errors that required
adjustment to properly state the balances as of June 30, 2020.
Effect or Potential Effect: Numerous adjustments were necessary to properly state fund balance and
restricted cash at fiscal year end.
Cause: Management oversight and lack of procedures in place.

(continued)
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

II. FINDINGS - FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT (CONTINUED)
Finding reference: 2020-002 (continued):
Recommendation: We recommend the City review the balances that were restricted and assigned as of the
prior year financial statements and determine if similar situations exist in the current year. In most
circumstances, the restricted and assigned balances will be similar from year-to-year. Reviewing the prior
year balances reported in the financial statements should serve as a good starting place for preparing the
current year reconciliation. Additionally, prepare a reconciliation of restricted cash against restricted
liabilities and restricted equity to ensure these balance to zero.
Views of Responsible Official(s) and Planned Corrective Actions: See corrective action plan.
III. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT
Finding reference: 2020-003
Federal Agency:
Federal Program:
Grant Period:
Requirement:
Type of Finding:

Department of Housing and Urban Development
14.871 Housing Choice Vouchers
07/01/19 – 06/30/20
Allowable Costs and Cost Principles
Significant deficiency in internal control over major programs

Condition: Administrative costs were charged to the Public Housing Agency using allocations that were not
documented and were not consistent.
Criteria: Administrative costs should be allocated to the Public Housing Agency consistently. These
allocations should be reviewed annually to determine if changes are necessary.
Cause: Management does not have procedures in place to review allocations being utilized for the Public
Housing Agency Fund.
Effect: Administrative costs could be charged to the program at an improper allocation rate or could be
charged to the program when they should not be.
Context: A sample of 17 transactions posted to non-payroll administrative accounts in the Public Housing
Agency Fund were tested. Of the 17 transactions tested, three invoices did not have support for the
allocation utilized. Two transactions utilized allocations that had not been updated for several years, and it
was unclear if the allocations were reasonable during the period under audit.
Repeat Finding: This finding was reported for the year ended June 30, 2019 as 2019-006.

(continued)
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

III. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT (CONTINUED)
Finding reference: 2020-003 (continued)
Recommendation: The City of Westminster should perform an analysis of administrative costs allocated
across the funds to determine proper allocations for each type of cost. Once approved, these allocations
should be distributed to the Finance Department and employees responsible for authorizing invoices.
Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions: See corrective action plan.
Finding reference: 2020-004
Federal Agency:
Federal Program:
Grant Period:
Requirement:
Type of Finding:

Department of Housing and Urban Development
14.871 Housing Choice Vouchers
07/01/19 – 06/30/20
Reporting
Material weakness in internal control over major programs; Noncompliance

Condition: Monthly Voucher Management System (VMS) reports were filed with inaccurate balances and
were not corrected timely.
Criteria: The Public Housing Agency is required to complete monthly reporting in the HUD VMS online
system. Prior month corrections are to be made timely and not at the end of the reporting year.
Cause: The Housing Director completed the VMS submissions timely (22 days after month end). For any
required corrections that happened during the year, the Housing Director updated the HAPPY software
without entering a prior month correction in VMS. Monthly submissions to VMS were never reviewed for
accuracy.
Effect: HUD utilizes the monthly submissions to VMS to adjust funding amounts provided to the Public
Housing Agency. The failure to update incorrect amounts timely could result in incorrect funding.
Context: Out of eight months tested, three months had variances related to HAP vouchers that could not be
explained by management. A full reconciliation was completed six months after year end to determine that
three months tested were incorrect and a prior month correction was needed in the VMS system.
Repeat Finding: This finding was reported for the year ended June 30, 2019 as 2019-008.

(continued)
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

III. FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS - MAJOR FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAMS AUDIT (CONTINUED)
Finding reference: 2020-004 (continued)
Recommendation: Each month, a reconciliation needs performed between the Finance and Housing
Department figures utilized for VMS reporting. If a reconciling item exists, it should be documented
accordingly. Supporting documentation should be maintained for each filing submitted through VMS. If a
correction occurs in a subsequent month after filing is complete, a prior month correction should be
entered immediately into VMS. Since VMS requires corrections to be made in the month the voucher applies
to and finance records are maintained on cash basis, there will be reconciling items from time to time. At
the end of the reporting year, a reconciliation should be performed to determine if any corrections were
missed.
Views of Responsible Officials and Planned Corrective Actions: See corrective action plan
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SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS

February 12, 2021

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
City of Westminster respectfully submits the following summary schedule of prior audit findings for the year
ended June 30, 2020.
Name and address of independent accounting firm:
Brown Shultz Sheridan & Fritz
205 Eeat Main Street
Westminster, MD 21157
Please see below for the findings noted in the audit for the year ended June 30, 2019.
If you require additional information or have concerns, please contact Lydia Colston, Director of Finance (410848-3274 or email: LColston@westgov.org).
Sincerely,

Tammy Palmer
Special Projects Coordinator
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PRIOR YEAR FINDINGS
Finding number 2019-001
Condition:

Prior period adjustments were necessary to correct income tax
receivables and deferred outflows related to pensions.

Current Status:

The Finance Department reviewed the June 30, 2020 balances and
ensured all receivables were recognized in the correct period.
Deferred outflows related to the change in proportionate share of
the net pension liability has been amortized over the expected
remaining service lives of all employees provided pensions through
the plan.

Finding number 2019-002
Condition:

Many adjustments were required to the City’s accounts after being
turned over by the City to the external auditors.

Current Status:

Employee position transitions were completed, which provided the
training needed to ensure proper reporting at June 30, 2020.

Finding number 2019-003
Condition:

Significant reconciliations were necessary between the fiscal year
2018 financial statements, the City’s fixed assets system and the
City’s general ledger system because all three did not align with the
totals of the capital asset categories. There were assets sold in fiscal
year 2018 that were not disposed of in the fixed assets system until
fiscal year 2019. The proceeds from the sales were recognized in
fiscal year 2018, but the fixed assets were still listed on the fiscal year
2018 financial statements. On the fiscal year 2018 financial
statements, there were several construction in progress projects
that were completed and should have been placed in service during
fiscal year 2018 or earlier. Also, there was a project that was
completed in fiscal year 2019 that was not put into service. In the
fixed assets system, there were multiple assets that had in service
dates of June 30, 2019, instead of when they were actually acquired
during the year. The City does not have formal procedures in place
to determine the impairment of long-lived assets.

Current Status:

The Finance Department staff collects all capital invoices for
equipment and enters into the fixed assets system in the
appropriate period. The Director of Public Works provides a written
report of which capital construction projects were complete at year
end. All completed projects were entered into fixed assets from the
work in progress schedule. All incomplete projects were added to
the work in progress schedule. All assets are entered with the inservice date to ensure proper depreciation.
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Finding number 2019-004
Condition:

A physical observation of inventory is performed annually at fiscal
year end. The spreadsheet calculating the inventory valuation at
June 30, 2019 contained a number of errors, which resulted in
misstatements in the inventory balance recorded.

Current Status:

All inventory is checked by the acquiring department as it arrives
from the manufacturer and the Finance Department uses the most
current pricing from the most current invoices to value inventory. All
inventory counts were performed at year end.

Finding number 2019-005
Condition:

Activity related to funds held by the Community Foundation of
Carroll County for the benefit of the City of Westminster was not
recorded on the City’s financial statements.

Current Status:

Accounts have been closed and no new accounts will be set up
without specific authorization by the Mayor and Common Council,
along with the establishment of proper reporting and controls.

Finding number 2019-006
Housing Voucher Program, CFDA 14.871
Federal Agency: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
Condition:

Administrative costs were charged to the Public Housing Agency
using allocations that were not documented, were not consistent
and were not reviewed.

Current Status:

The Finance Department performed an analysis of administrative
costs to determine proper allocations between funds for the year
ended June 30, 2021. This was not corrected for the year ended June
30, 2020 due to the audit report not being finalized until April 9, 2020
and the effects on the City due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The
Finance Department ensured all invoices had authorizing signatures
before they went to the check signers or the ACH transaction was
completed. During the COVID-19 pandemic, invoices were reviewed
and approved via email.
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Finding number 2019-007
Housing Voucher Program, CFDA 14.871
Federal Agency: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
Condition:

The depository agreement was out of date and Public Housing
Agency funds were not held in an interest-bearing account.

Current Status:

HUD-51999, General Depository Agreement, was executed on
January 17, 2020, and funds were put in an interest-bearing account
at that time.

Finding number 2019-008
Housing Voucher Program, CFDA 14.871
Federal Agency: U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development
Condition:

Monthly Voucher Management System (VMS) reports were filed with
inaccurate balances and were not corrected timely.

Current Status:

This was not corrected for the year ended June 30, 2020 due to the
COVID-19 pandemic.
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CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN
February 12, 2021

Department of Housing and Urban Development
The City of Westminster, Maryland respectively submits the following corrective action plan for the year ended
June 30, 2020.
Name and address of independent accounting firm:
Brown Schultz Sheridan & Fritz
205 East Main Street
Westminster, MD 21157
Audit Period: July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020
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The findings from the schedule of questioned costs for the year ended June 30, 2020 are discussed below. The
findings are numbered consistently with the numbers assigned in the schedule.
FINDINGS – FINANCIAL STATEMENT AUDIT
Finding reference: 2020-001 – Material weakness – financial reporting system errors
Recommendation: We recommend the City 1) review how the posting of depreciation expense is mapped in
Eden to ensure it is posted to depreciation expense instead of net investment in capital assets and 2) record
the memberships for the next fiscal year as of July 1 of the next year instead of June of the current fiscal
year.
Action taken: We will contact Tyler Technologies support to correct the mapping of depreciation expense
posting. Memberships will be recorded as of July 1 of the proper year.
Finding reference: 2020-002 – Significant deficiency – cash and equity restrictions
Recommendation: We recommend the City review the balances that were restricted and assigned as of the
prior year financial statements and determine if similar situations exist in the current year. In most
circumstances, the restricted and assigned balances will be similar from year-to-year. Reviewing the prior
year balances reported in the financial statements should serve as a good starting place for preparing the
current year reconciliation. Additionally, prepare a reconciliation of restricted cash against restricted
liabilities and restricted equity to ensure these balance to zero.
Action taken: The City will review the balances that were restricted and assigned as of the prior year financial
statements and prepare a reconciliation of restricted cash against restricted liabilities and restricted equity
to ensure they balance to zero.
FINDINGS – FEDERAL AWARD PROGRAM AUDIT
Finding reference: 2020-003 – 14.871 Housing Choice Vouchers – Significant deficiency
Recommendation: The City of Westminster should perform an analysis of administrative costs allocated
across the funds to determine proper allocations for each type of cost. Once approved, these allocations
should be distributed to the Finance Department and employees responsible for authorizing invoices.
Action Taken: An analysis of administrative costs allocated across funds will be performed to ensure proper
allocations for each type of cost and then distributed to the Finance Department and employees
responsible for authorizing invoices.
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Finding reference: 2020-004 – 14.871 Housing Choice Vouchers – Material weakness; noncompliance
Recommendation: Each month, a reconciliation needs performed between the Finance and Housing
Department figures utilized for VMS reporting. If a reconciling item exists, it should be documented
accordingly. Supporting documentation should be maintained for each filing submitted through VMS. If a
correction occurs in a subsequent month after filing is complete, a prior month correction should be
entered immediately into VMS. Since VMS requires corrections to be made in the month the voucher applies
to and finance records are maintained on cash basis, there will be reconciling items from time to time. At
the end of the reporting year, a reconciliation should be performed to determine if any corrections were
missed.
Action taken: Monthly reconciliations will be performed between the Finance and Housing Department
figures used for VMA reporting. In addition, a year-end reconciliation will be performed.
If the Department of Housing and Urban Development has any questions regarding this response, please call
Lydia Colston, CPA, Director of Finance at 410-848-3274.
Sincerely,

Lydia A. Colston, CPA
Director of Finance
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
FINANCIAL DATA SCHEDULES
PROGRAM BALANCE SHEET SUMMARY
JUNE 30, 2020

Submission Type: Audited/Uniform Guidance

Fiscal year end June 30, 2020
14.871 Housing
Choice Voucher

Total

111 Cash, unrestricted
112 Cash, restricted, modernization and development
113 Cash, other restricted
114 Cash, tenant security deposits
115 Cash, restricted for payment of current liabilities
100 Total cash

$
$
$
$
$
$

235,145
235,145

$
$
$
$
$
$

235,145
235,145

121 Accounts receivable, PHA projects
122 Accounts receivable, HUD other projects
124 Accounts receivable, other Government
125 Accounts receivable, miscellaneous
126 Accounts receivable, tenants
126.1 Allowance for doubtful accounts, tenants
126.2 Allowance for doubtful accounts, other
127 Notes, loans and mortgages receivable, current
128 Fraud recovery
128.1 Allowance for doubtful accounts, fraud
129 Accrued interest receivable
120 Total receivables, net of allowances for doubtful accounts

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

314,201
(267,071)
47,130

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

314,201
(267,071)
47,130

131 Investments, unrestricted
132 Investments, restricted
135 Investments, restricted for payment of current liability
142 Prepaid expenses and other assets
143 Inventories
143.1 Allowance for obsolete inventories
144 Inter program due from
145 Assets held for sale
150 Total current assets

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

8,467
290,742

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

8,467
290,742

161 Land
162 Buildings
163 Furniture, equipment and machinery; dwellings
164 Furniture, equipment and machinery; administration
165 Leasehold improvements
166 Accumulated depreciation
167 Construction in progress
168 Infrastructure
160 Total capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

-

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

-

171 Notes, loans and mortgages receivable, noncurrent
172 Notes, loans and mortgages receivable, noncurrent, past
173 Grants receivable, noncurrent
174 Other assets
176 Investments in joint ventures
180 Total noncurrent assets

$
$
$
$
$
$

-

$
$
$
$
$
$

-

(continued)
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
FINANCIAL DATA SCHEDULES
PROGRAM BALANCE SHEET SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
JUNE 30, 2020

Submission Type: Audited/Uniform Guidance

Fiscal year end June 30, 2020
14.871 Housing
Choice Voucher

Total

200 Deferred outflow of resources

$

-

$

-

290 Total assets and deferred outflow of resources
311 Bank overdraft
312 Accounts payable <= 90 days
313 Accounts payable <= 90 days past due
321 Accrued wage/payroll taxes payable
322 Accrued compensated absences, current portion
324 Accrued contingency liability
325 Accrued interest payable
331 Accounts payable, HUD PHA programs
332 Accounts payable, PHA projects
333 Accounts payable, other Government
341 Tenant security deposits
342 Unearned revenue
343 Current portion of long-term debt, capital
344 Current portion of long-term debt, operating borrowings
345 Other current liabilities
346 Accrued liabilities, other
347 Inter program, due to
348 Loan liability, current
310 Total current liabilities

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

290,742
233
1,856
2,089

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

290,742
233
1,856
2,089

351 Long-term debt, net of current, capital projects/mortgage
352 Long-term debt, net of current, operating borrowings
353 Non-current liabilities, other
354 Accrued compensated absences, non-current
355 Loan liability, non-current
356 FASB 5 liabilities
357 Accrued pension and OPEB liabilities
350 Total non-current liabilities

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

-

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

-

300 Total liabilities

$

2,089 $

2,089

400 Deferred inflow of resources

$

47,130 $

47,130

508.3 Nonspendable fund balance
509.3 Restricted fund balance
510.3 Committed fund balance
511.3 Assigned fund balance
512.3 Unassigned fund balance
513 Total equity, net assets/position

$
$
$
$
$
$

8,467
233,056
241,523

$
$
$
$
$
$

8,467
233,056
241,523

600 Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources and equity

$

290,742 $

290,742
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER
FINANCIAL DATA SCHEDULES
PROGRAM REVENUE AND EXPENSE SUMMARY
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Submission Type: Audited/Uniform Guidance

Fiscal year end June 30, 2020
14.871 Housing
Choice Voucher

Total

70300 Net tenant rental revenue
70400 Tenant revenue, other
70500 Total tenant revenue

$
$
$

70600 HUD PHA operating grants
70610 Capital grants
70710 Management fee
70720 Asset management fee
70730 Bookkeeping fee
70740 Front line service fee
70750 Other fees
70700 Total fee revenue

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2,517,429
2,517,429

$ 2,517,429
$
$
$
$
$
$
$ 2,517,429

70800 Other government grants
71100 Investment income, unrestricted
71200 Mortgage interest income
71300 Proceeds from disposition of assets held for sale
71310 Cost of sale of assets
71400 Fraud recovery
71500 Other revenue
71600 Gain or loss of sale of capital assets
72000 Investment income, restricted
70000 Total revenue

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

14,188
3,935
85
2,535,637

$
$
$
$
$
$
14,188
$
3,935
$
$
85
$ 2,535,637

91100 Administrative salaries
91200 Auditing fees
91300 Management fee
91310 Bookkeeping fee
91400 Advertising and marketing
91500 Employee benefit contributions, administrative
91600 Office expense
91700 Legal expense
91800 Travel
91810 Allocated overhead
91900 Other
91000 Total operating, administrative

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

151,220
12,868
59,118
82,923
306,129

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

151,220
12,868
59,118
82,923
306,129

92000 Asset management fee
92100 Tenant services, salaries
92200 Relocation costs
92300 Employee benefit contributions, tenant services
92400 Tenant services, other
92500 Total tenant services

$
$
$
$
$
$

-

$
$
$
$
$
$

-

(continued)
108

124

- $
- $
- $

-

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
FINANCIAL DATA SCHEDULES
PROGRAM REVENUE AND EXPENSE SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Submission Type: Audited/Uniform Guidance

Fiscal year end June 30, 2020
14.871 Housing
Choice Voucher

Total

93100 Water
93200 Electricity
93300 Gas
93400 Fuel
93500 Labor
93600 Sewer
93700 Employee benefit contributions, utilities
93800 Other utilities expense
93000 Total utilities

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1,431
84
1,515

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

1,431
84
1,515

94100 Ordinary maintenance and operations, labor
94200 Ordinary maintenance and operations, materials and
94300 Ordinary maintenance and operations contracts
94500 Employee benefit contributions, ordinary maintenance
94000 Total maintenance

$
$
$
$
$

745
745

$
$
$
$
$

745
745

95100 Protective services, labor
95200 Protective services, other contract costs
95300 Protective services, other
95500 Employee benefit contributions, protective services
95000 Total protective services

$
$
$
$
$

-

$
$
$
$
$

-

96110 Property insurance
96120 Liability insurance
96130 Workmen's compensation
96140 All other insurance
96100 Total insurance premiums

$
$
$
$
$

4,523
4,523

$
$
$
$
$

4,523
4,523

96200 Other general expenses
96210 Compensated absences
96300 Payments in lieu of taxes
96400 Bad debt, tenant rents
96500 Bad debt, mortgages
96600 Bad debt, other
96800 Severance expense
96000 Total other general expenses

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2,647
2,647

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2,647
2,647

96710 Interest of mortgage (or bonds) payable
96720 Interest on notes payable (short and long term)
96730 Amortization of bond issue costs
96700 Total interest expense and amortization cost

$
$
$
$

-

$
$
$
$

-

96900 Total operating expenses

$

315,559 $

315,559

97000 Excess of operating revenue over operating expenses

$

(continued)
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2,220,078 $ 2,220,078

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
FINANCIAL DATA SCHEDULES
PROGRAM REVENUE AND EXPENSE SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Submission Type: Audited/Uniform Guidance

Fiscal year end June 30, 2020
14.871 Housing
Choice Voucher

Total

97100 Extraordinary maintenance
97200 Casualty losses, noncapitalized
97300 Housing assistance payments
97350 HAP portability, in
97400 Depreciation expense
97500 Fraud losses
97600 Capital outlays, governmental funds
97700 Debt principal payment, governmental funds
97800 Dwelling units rent expense
90000 Total expenses

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2,209,134
91,432
2,616,125

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2,209,134
91,432
2,616,125

10010 Operating transfer in
10020 Operating transfer out
10030 Operating transfers from/to primary government
10040 Operating transfers from/to component unit
10050 Proceeds from notes, loans and bonds
10060 Proceeds from property sales
10070 Extraordinary items, net gain/loss
10080 Special items (net gain/loss)
10091 Inter project excess cash transfer in
10092 Inter project excess cash transfer out
10093 Transfers between program and project, in
10094 Transfers between project and program, out
10100 Total other financing sources (uses)

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

75,000
75,000

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

75,000
75,000

10000 Excess (deficiency) of total revenue over (under) total

$

(5,488) $

(5,488)

11020 Required annual debt principal payments
11030 Beginning equity
11040 Prior period adjustments, equity transfers and correction
11050 Changes in compensated absence balance
11060 Changes in contingent liability balance
11070 Changes in unrecognized pension transition liability
11080 Changes in special term/severance benefits liability
11090 Changes in allowance for doubtful accounts, dwelling
11100 Changes in allowance for doubtful accounts, other
11170 Administrative fee equity
11180 Housing assistance payments equity
11190 Unit months available
11210 Number of unit months leased
11270 Excess cash
11610 Land purchases
11620 Building purchases
11630 Furniture and equipment, dwelling purchases
11640 Furniture and equipment, administrative purchases
11650 Leasehold improvements purchases
11660 Infrastructure purchases
13510 CFFP debt service payments
13901 Replacement housing factor funds

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

110

126

247,011
227,287
14,236
3,516
3,288
-

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

247,011
227,287
14,236
3,516
3,288
-

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
HAP AND ADMIN EQUITY CALCULATIONS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020
(unaudited)

HAP excess/deficit calculation
GL#

GL Description

110.492102

Annual contributions earned

110.492103
110.494305
110.494201
110.911105

Repayments, HAP
FSS forfeitures
Interest, operating
Interest, HAP
Subsidy from admin

110.65.100.5791
110.65.100.5792
110.65.100.5793
110.65.100.5795
110.65.100.5796
110.65.100.5797

Amount
$ 2,162,743
7,094
3,935
85
-

Total HAP revenue

2,173,857

HAP, homeownerships
HAP, family unification
HAP, tenant protection
HAP, all other
HAP, FSS escrow
HAP, port-out

42,069
2,105,350
250
61,465

Total HAP expense

2,209,134

Net HAP

(35,277)

HAP equity
Beginning of year

49,513

End of year

$

(continued)
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14,236

CITY OF WESTMINSTER
HAP AND ADMIN EQUITY CALCULATIONS (CONTINUED)
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020
(unaudited)

Admin equity calculation
GL#

GL Description

110.492104

HUD admin fee distribution

110.494302
110.494303
110.494301
110.953100

Port-in, HAP
Port-in, admin fee receipts
Repayment, admin
Contributions/subsidy

Amount
$

259,471
89,866
5,349
7,094
75,000

Total admin revenue

436,780

Total PHA expenses
Less, HAP related expenses
Less, subsidy to HAP

2,616,125
(2,209,134)
-

Total admin expenses

406,991

Net admin

29,789

Admin equity
Beginning of year

197,498

End of year

$

227,287

Total ending equity

$

241,523
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Consent Calendar – CTC Settlement Agreement

To:

Mayor and Common Council

From: Elissa D. Levan, City Attorney
Date:

March 4, 2021

Re:

Settlement Agreement with CTC Technology and Energy, Inc.

Background
The City has been engaged in a dispute with its fiber engineering company, CTC Technology and Energy (CTC),
relating to the design of the Westminster Fiber Network facilities along a portion of Sullivan Road. The fiber
installed according to CTC’s original design had to be relocated at considerable expense when it could not be
determined that there existed public right of way along those portions of the road authorizing its use for the
placement of utilities. The dispute concerns who is responsible for the error. CTC has agreed to share the cost
of the relocation with the City in order to allow the parties to move forward productively. Staff has prepared a
settlement agreement to reflect this agreement between the parties.
Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Common Council approve the proposed settlement agreement and authorize the
Mayor’s execution of the same on behalf of the City.
Attachment
• Proposed Settlement Agreement
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SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
This Settlement Agreement is made this ______ day of March, 2021, by and between CTC
Technology and Energy, Inc. (“CTC”) and the Mayor and Common Council of Westminster (“the City”).
WHEREAS, the City and CTC have a contract pursuant to which CTC performs engineering and
related services with respect to the City’s construction of a municipally-owned fiber network, known as
the Westminster Fiber Network (“WFN”); and
WHEREAS, a dispute has arisen between the parties hereto regarding the provision of certain
services (“the Services”) by CTC under the contract in connection with the design and location of WFN
facilities along a portion of Sullivan Road (“the Sullivan Road Design”) in Westminster, in which
location the existence of right-of-way in which the City may install facilities is contested; and
WHEREAS, the City claims, and CTC denies, that certain errors were made by CTC in
connection with the Sullivan Road Design that caused damage to the City in the amount of $118,297.78;
and
WHEREAS, the City values its working relationship with CTC and has been generally otherwise
satisfied with CTC’s work; and
WHEREAS, the parties, in an effort to avoid future litigation expenses, have agreed upon the
following resolution of the pending disputes between them; and
WHEREAS, nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed an admission of liability, fault, or
wrongdoing by either CTC or the City;
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recital and for other good and valuable
consideration as is more fully described below, the parties agree:
1.
The City shall have a credit against outstanding invoices submitted by CTC to the City in
the amount of $59,148.89. Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, CTC shall submit its final
invoice for any and all outstanding work.
2.
The parties, for themselves, their legal representatives, agents, employees, officers,
directors, shareholders, attorneys, representatives, predecessors, successors, assigns, affiliates, insurers, and
administrators (collectively, the “Releasors”), release, acquit, and forever discharge one another and all
their legal representatives, agents, employees, officers, directors, shareholders, attorneys,
representatives, predecessors, successors, assigns, affiliates, insurers, and administrators (collectively,
the “Released Parties”), from all actions, causes of action, administrative actions, administrative
complaints, regulatory proceedings, suits, debts, dues, sums of money, accounts, reckonings, bonds,
bills, specialties, covenants, contracts, controversies, agreements, representations, promises, damages,
liabilities, judgments, expenses, fees, attorneys’ fees, costs, claims, proceedings, torts, fraud, negligence,
bad faith, defamation, and embarrassment, any extra-contractual damages, and demands whatsoever, and
any act known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, in law or in equity, which the Releasors have ever
had against the Released Parties for, upon, or by reason of the Sullivan Road Design, up to and including
the date of execution of this Agreement.
3.

Miscellaneous Provisions.
1
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A.
Entire Agreement: This Settlement Agreement constitutes the complete, final, and
entire understanding of the parties hereto, and they shall not be bound by any terms, conditions,
covenants, or representations not expressly herein contained.
B.
Modification: This Settlement Agreement may not be modified or changed orally,
but only by an agreement in writing signed by all parties.
C.
Consultation with Counsel: The parties represent that prior to signing this
Settlement Agreement, each has read it, understood its terms and conditions, consulted with counsel, and
voluntarily signed it.
D.
Choice of Law: This Settlement Agreement shall be governed by, and interpreted
according to, the laws of the State of Maryland and any suit to enforce the terms hereof or for damages
or other remedy for the breach or alleged breach hereof shall be brought exclusively in the courts of the
State of Maryland in and for Carroll County, and the parties acknowledge the jurisdiction thereof and
agree that venue is proper therein.
E.
Construction: This Settlement Agreement shall be construed without regard to any
presumption or other rule requiring construction against the party causing the Agreement to be drafted.
WITNESS:
___________________________

CTC TECHNOLOGY AND ENERGY, INC.
____________________________________
Joanne Hovis, President

By:

WITNESS:

______________________________
Sharon Visocsky, City Clerk

THE MAYOR AND COMMON COUNCIL OF
WESTMINSTER
BY:

_____________________________
Joe Dominick, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND SUFFICIENCY
this ______ day of March, 2021:

______________________________
Elissa D. Levan, City Attorney
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Consent Calendar – Ting Agreement Amendment

To:

Mayor and Common Council

From: Barbara B. Matthews, City Attorney
Date:

March 4, 2021

Re:

Amendment to Dark Fiber Lease and Network Operation Agreement with Ting

Background
On October 12, 2020, the Mayor and Common Council adopted Resolution No. 20-10, authorizing expansion of
the Westminster Fiber Network to properties outside the City limits. Resolution No. 20-10 states that the cost
of extending fiber outside the City limits is to be borne fully by Carroll County and/or the owners of property
benefiting by such extension.
During discussion of the resolution, the Mayor and Common Council directed staff to proceed initially with a
pilot project that would provide fiber connections to properties located in close proximity to the City boundaries;
the results of the pilot project would be evaluated before broadening expansion of the Network outside the City
limits. Staff has held a series of meetings with the Mayor and Council President since adoption of Resolution
No. 20-10 to define the pilot project area.
Expansion of the Westminster Fiber Network necessitates an amendment to the City’s Dark Fiber Lease and
Network Operation Agreement with Ting. Executed on February 9, 2015, the Lease and Operation Agreement
was amended in August 2017 to extend the duration of the Phase 1 Initial Deployment Period. Key provisions
of the proposed amendment include the following:
•

Ting shall invoice and collect on behalf of the City a special assessment of $10.00 per activated business
and residential subscriber.

•

The provisions of Section 9.2, “Debt Service Guarantee,” shall not be applicable to the areas outside the
City limits, including in the calculation of City fiber revenues and City debt service.

•

The provisions of Section 9.0 A – Monthly Fee for Each Premise Passed – shall only apply to areas outside
the City limits if there are no additional costs to Ting for network operations, and the activated
subscriber fees remain the same as those for other areas of the Westminster Fiber Network.

Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Common Council approve the proposed amendment to the Dark Fiber Lease and
Network Operation Agreement with Ting, and authorize the Mayor’s execution of the same on behalf of the
City.
Attachments
• Amendment to Dark Fiber Lease and Network Operation Agreement
• Dark Fiber Lease and Network Operation Agreement
• Resolution No. 20-10
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AMENDMENT TO
DARK FIBER LEASE AND NETWORK OPERATION AGREEMENT
BETWEEN TING AND THE MAYOR AND COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF
WESTMINSTER MARYLAND
EXTENSION OF SERVICES
FOR WFN – OUTSIDE CITY BOUNDARIES
This Addendum and Amendment, effective March _____, 2021, supplements and amends the
Terms and Conditions for Dark Fiber Lease and Network Operation Agreement by and between The
Mayor and Common Council of Westminster, (“the City” or “Lessor”) a municipal corporation of the
State of Maryland, and Ting Fiber, Inc. (“Ting” or “Lessee”), a Delaware corporation .
WHEREAS, the City has constructed a municipally-owned fiber network (“the Westminster Fiber
Network” or “WFN”); and
WHEREAS, the City and Ting are parties to a Dark Fiber Lease and Network Operation
Agreement (“the Agreement”), dated February 9, 2015, pursuant to which Ting leases and operates the
WFN, as amended in August 2017 to extend the duration of the Phase 1 IDP; and
WHEREAS, the City and Ting wish to expand the terms of the Agreement to include certain areas
of Carroll County, Maryland outside the boundaries of the City;
NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and for other good and valuable
consideration received, the parties agree to the following amendments to the Agreement:
1.

The following Definition is added to the Agreement:

“WFN – Outside City Boundaries” means any extension of the WFN outside the boundaries of the
City, as recorded and maintained by the State of Maryland Department of Legislative Services.
2.

The following is inserted as new Section 2.2 in Exhibit B, “Lease Fees”:

2.2 WFN – Outside City Boundaries Fee
Ting shall invoice and collect on behalf of the City a special assessment of $10.00 per activated business
and residential subscriber for subscribers in the WFN – Outside City Boundaries area (the “OCB Fee”).
The OCB Fee shall be owed by the subscriber, not Ting, and in no event will Ting be responsible for
any OCB Fee that is unpaid by or uncollectible from the subscriber, provided that Ting has used its
standard bill collections process to collect the fee.
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3.
The provisions of Section 9.2 - “Debt Service Guarantee” - shall not apply to the WFN – Outside
City Boundaries area, including in the calculation of the City Fiber Revenue and City Debt Service.
4.
The provisions of Section 9.0 A. - Monthly Fee for Each Premise Passed - shall only apply to the
WFN – Outside City Boundaries area as long as there are no additional costs to Ting for network
operations, and the activated subscriber fees remain the same as other areas of the network.
5.
All terms and conditions of the Agreement, including Section 26, “Choice of Law”, shall remain
in effect except as expressly modified herein or in another writing signed by both parties. Capitalized
terms shall have the same meaning herein as set forth in the Agreement.
6.
Provisions contained in this Addendum and Amendment shall prevail in case of conflict over
the terms of the Agreement.
7.
This Addendum and Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which
shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, on the date hereinabove set forth, the parties hereto have executed
this Agreement in three duplicate originals, any one of these shall be adequate proof of this Agreement
without locating or accounting for the other.
WITNESS:

TING FIBER, INC.

By:

WITNESS:

___
Jill Szuchmacher, Chief Strategy Officer

MAYOR AND COMMON
WESTMINSTER

By:
Shannon Visocsky, City Clerk

COUNCIL

___
Joe Dominick, Mayor

Approved for form and legal sufficiency
this ____ day of _______________, 2021

Elissa D. Levan, City Attorney
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OF

DARK FIBER LEASE AND NETWORK OPERATION AGREEMENT
THIS DARK FIBER LEASE AND NETWORK OPERATION AGREEMENT
(“Agreement”) is entered into on February 9, 2015 by and between The Mayor and Common
Council of the City of Westminster, Maryland, a municipal corporation of the State of
Maryland located in Carroll County, Maryland, with its principal offices at 56 West Main St.
Westminster, MD 21157 (hereinafter called “City” or “Lessor”) and Ting Fiber Inc., a division
of Tucows, Inc., a Delaware corporation located at 96 Mowat Avenue, Toronto, ON M6K
3M1 (hereinafter called “Ting” or “Lessee”).
RECITALS

1.

To provide better municipal services to City residents and businesses, and to faciliate
economic benefit throughout the City and Carroll County, the City of Westminster
desires to deploy a new fiber to the premise (FTTP) network throughout the
Westminster area, known as the Westminster Fiber Network (WFN).

2.

The City desires to structure the WFN in a manner that effectively enables the
provison of high capacity broadband and other services and capabilities in a
competitive, open environment.

3.

The City has conducted a public procurement process to identify and enter into an
agreement with a qualified private-sector entity to activate and operate the WFN on a
nondiscriminatory basis and to offer gigabit broadband Internet access service and
other services to City residents and businesses.

4.

The City has identified and selected Ting as the best candiate to provide such
services, and to that end the City has negotiated this Agreement with Ting.

5.

To effect the purposes set forth above, the City desires to lease to Ting certain WFNrelated assets, including dark fiber and access to associated outside plant equipment.

6.

Ting desires to accept such lease, to activate and operate the WFN on a
nondiscrimnatory basis, and to provide advanced communication services and
capabilities to City residents and businesses, as further set forth in, and subject to
the provisions of, this Agreement.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises set forth below, and for
other good and valuable consideration, the adequacy and receipt of which are hereby
acknowledged, Lessor and Lessee agree as follows:

1.0

Table of Exhibits Made Part of This Agreement

Exhibit A:
Exhibit B:
Exhibit C:
Exhibit D:
Exhibit E:

Listed Assets
Lease Fee
Initial Phase
Performance Metrics
City Maintenance of Assets
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2.0

Definitions
2.1

“Access Agreement” means the written agreement between an owner of
Premises and the City pertaining to the connection of the Premises to the
WFN, and granting a right of access and occupation to the City and/or Ting
sufficient to enable the installation and maintenance of WFN and/or Ting
facilities on the Premises.

2.2

“Agreement” means this Agreement, any and all Exhibits and Attachments
thereto, and any Addenda or written amendments to which the Parties may
agree from time to time.

2.3

“Assets” means the dark fiber strands and Outside Plant associated with the
WFN and leased to Ting under this Agreement, as specified in Exhibit A.

2.4

“Authorizations” means the permissions a Party must have to perform its
obligations under this Agreement, which may include franchises; licenses;
permits; zoning approvals; variances; exemptions; grants of authority to use
public rights of way or facilities; agreements to make attachments to poles,
ducts, conduits, towers, buildings, rooftops, manholes, and the like; and any
other approval of a governmental authority or third persons with respect to (i)
the construction, installation, repair, maintenance, operation or use of tangible
or intangible property, as the case may be, or (ii) any requirement by a
governmental authority for the engagement in a business or enterprise.

2.5

“Authorization Fees” means all permit, right-of-way, easement, pole
attachment, franchise, encroachment, or license fee, charge or assessment of
any kind relating to a Party’s execution of its obligations under this
Agreement, whether imposed by a governmental authority or a private entity.

2.6

“Customer Premises Equipment” (“CPE”) means terminal and associated
equipment and inside wiring located at a Premises that is necessary for the
receipt of Services, and which is provided and installed by Ting.

2.7

“Dark Fiber” means fiber optic cable strands without electronic and/or
optronic equipment and which is not "lit" or activated.

2.8

“Effective Date” means the date upon which this Agreement has been
executed by the Parties and is approved by the City, per the signature of the
Mayor of the City of Westminster and a vote of approval of the Common
Council of the City of Westminster.

2.9

“FTTP” means fiber to the premises.

2.10

“Initial Deployment Phase” (“IDP”) means the limited time period following
the Effective Date (for the initial IDP) and the activation of the first customer
connected to the WFN within a defined phase (for subsequent phases), during
which Ting shall have the exclusive right to provide broadband Internet
access service, and during which Ting shall arrange for the provision of
Voice and Video Services. 136

2.11

“Maintenance” means work that must be performed upon or to the WFN,
including Assets, to ensure the continuity of an acceptable signal transmitted
through the fibers (in conformance with the manufacturer’s specifications),
and capable of enabling Ting to meet the Performance Metrics, or to ensure
the safety and reliability of the Assets.

2.12

“Network Operator” means Ting’s role in (i) configuring and activating a
community fiber network utilizing the WFN, and (ii) providing data/ IP
transport services to unrelated Service Providers on a nondiscriminatory
basis, as further articulated in Section 7.1.2.

2.13

“Optical Network Terminal” / “ONT” means a device that performs interface
functions, such as code conversion, protocol conversion, and buffering,
required for communications to and from an optical fiber network.

2.14

“Outside Plant” means equipment and structure owned by the City that is
used to house or support WFN fiber optic cable, to which Ting is granted a
nonexclusive right to use under this Agreement.

2.15

“Premise” means a residence, commercial building, multi-dwelling unit
(MDU), or buildable lot that can be feasibly and reasonably served by the
WFN. In cases where a single structure may require multiple connections to
serve separate customers within the structure, each connection to an Optical
Network Terminal (ONT) will count as an individual Premise.

2.16

“Route” means the physical path traversed by the fiber strands that are
specified as Assets in Exhibit A, as set forth in applicable maps and related
documents that are made a part of this Agreement.

2.17

“Service” means any retail communications service offered and provided
using the WFN and the Assets, whether by Ting or another Service Provider,
including but not limited to broadband Internet access service, Voice Service,
and Video Service.

2.18

“Service Provider” means a provider of retail Services, to which Ting
provides data transport services using Assets.

2.19

“Subscriber” means a business or residential customer of retail Services
provided by a Service Provider.

2.20

“Video Service” means a multichannel video programming delivery service,
as such term is defined under federal law and interpreted by the Federal
Communications Commission, or its substantial equivalent.

2.21

”Voice Service” means interconnected VoIP service, as such term is
interpreted by the Federal Communications Commission, or its substantial
equivalent.
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2.22

3.0

“Westminster Fiber Network” / “WFN” means the fiber-to-the-premises
network owned and installed by the City of Westminster.

Term and Termination
3.1

Term

This Agreement, and the lease granted hereunder, shall continue for a term of ten (10) years
from the Effective Date, (“Term”), unless terminated sooner under the provisions of this
Agreement, in accordance with Section 11. Upon mutual written agreement no less than
six (6) months prior to expiration, the Parties may renew this Agreement for two (2)
consecutive ten (10) year extensions (each, a “Renewal Term”). If a written notice of intent
to renew from Ting is received by the City no less than six (6) months prior to the expiration
of the initial Term, the City shall agree to renew this Agreement if City revenues under this
Agreement for the immediately preceding fiscal quarter exceed an amount equal to the
City’s debt service for the WFN plus ten percent (10%).

3.2

4.0

Termination
3.2.1

Material Breach. Either Party may terminate this Agreement in the
event of a material breach of this Agreement by the other Party,
consistent with and subject to the procedures and remedies for breach
set forth in Section 11.

3.2.2

Termination for Convenience. In the event the City determines in
its sole discretion that this Agreement or the operation of the WFN is
causing significant economic hardship or commercial impracticability
relating to the subject matter of this Agreement, the City may
terminate this Agreement at any time upon six (6) months’ written
notice. If the City terminates under this Section 3.2.2, within 180
days the City must either (a) purchase equipment installed on the
WFN that is owned by Ting, at fair market value, or (b) permit Ting
to remove the installed equipment.

3.2.3

Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of this
Agreement, Ting shall immediately relinquish and quit all claims of
right to use the Assets as set forth in this Agreement. All other rights
and obligations of the Parties set forth under this Agreement shall
cease immediately, except for rights and obligations specifically
designated to survive termination, as set forth herein.

Agreement Contingency

In the event this Agreement is not made effective by February 28th, 2015, including execution
by the Parties and approval by the City (i.e., the Effective Date, as defined in Section 2.0),
Ting may elect to cancel this Agreement and the Lease without penalty or liability to the City.

5.0

City’s Obligations
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5.1

FTTP Network Construction and Maintenance

The City will arrange financing, develop engineering plans, contract for construction,
implement, and maintain the physical plant of a FTTP network passing every
feasible Premise in the area of the City of Westminster (the “Westminster Fiber
Network” or “WFN”), of which the Assets leased to Ting under this Agreement shall
be a part. The City will connect to the WFN every Premise that executes an Access
Agreement with the City. The City shall be responsible for acquiring and maintaining
throughout the Term, at its expense, all applicable Authorizations relating to the
construction and Maintenance of the Assets.
5.2

Lease of Assets

Upon the Effective Date, the City grants to Ting for the Term the exclusive right to
use the Assets specified in Exhibit A, as it may be amended from time to time, for
the purposes set forth in this Agreement (“Lease”).
5.2.1

Title

Legal title in the Assets and the WFN is, and shall continue to be, held by the
City, and nothing in this Agreement shall convey any legal title to real or
personal property, nor shall it create any security interest for Ting’s or any
other person’s benefit.
5.2.2

Sale or Abandonment of Assets

In the event the City sells, assigns, otherwise transfers title in, or abandons
the Assets prior to the expiration of the Term, Ting’s right to use the Assets
during the Term shall not be affected, and any such sale shall explicitly be
made subject to and conditioned upon the continuation of the Lease granted
by this Agreement (including associated payment obligations of Ting).

6.0

WFN Construction
6.1

Determination of Scope

The WFN shall be constructed in phases. The scope and timing of each phase of
WFN construction shall be determined by the City, in cooperation with Ting. The
Parties shall work together to develop criteria for identifying areas that may have
strongest demand, highest revenue potential, highest density, greatest potential for
expeditious buildout, or other indicia of likely success. The City shall endeavor to
build out first to areas that rank highest on these or other criteria to which the parties
may agree.
6.2

Initial Phase

The initial phase is described in Exhibit C.
6.3

Subsequent Phases

139

The Parties will share market data and financial performance metrics on a regular
basis, no less frequently than quarterly, and shall coordinate marketing efforts
according to the scope and pace of subsequent phases of construction of the WFN.
Ting shall engage in initial research and other activities with regard to marketing and
providing service in such areas, including contacting and aggregating likely business
and residential customers. Ting will provide the City candidate lists of locations for
which fiber connections to Premises are desirable, consistent with the City’s
objectives as set forth in the Recitals to this Agreement. The City will arrange for
construction of those fiber connections to Premises that the City and Ting find
mutually agreeable based upon considerations including, but not limited to: (1)
demand for service, (2) cost of construction, (3) density of Premises, (3) feasibility
of construction, and (4) economic development. In all circumstances, the City will
have final discretion as to construction of fiber, including whether to construct and
the timeframe for construction.
The City will make best efforts to commence construction of phase 2 and subsequent
phases as soon as possible following construction of the initial/previous phase of
construction. In general, and subject to adjustment in the sole discretion of the City,
the threshold for initiating the next phase of financing and construction will be when
the overall subscriber take rate of the project – including all phases and areas
constructed to date – exceeds 20 percent.
6.4

Construction Responsibility Demarcation

Upon the execution of an Access Agreement with a Premises owner, the City’s
responsibility for construction at business locations extends to the
telecommunications room or similar demarcation point within the business Premises,
terminating on a connection panel affixed to an interior wall. At residential
Premises, the City’s construction responsibility extends to the outside of the home’s
closest corner or side location the shortest distance from the public road. As
described more fully in Section 7.1.3, Ting shall be responsible for all cabling and
procurement, installation, and configuration of equipment on the Premises side of
such point. Ting shall be responsible for connecting and/or splicing of WFN fiber to
Premises fiber / cabling.
6.5

Maintenance and Repair

The City shall be responsible for physical Maintenance relating to the WFN,
including Assets, as described in Exhibit E.
6.6

Access to WFN by Ting

The City shall provide Ting with access to WFN plant and enclosure facilities for
installation, maintenance and troubleshooting of Ting services and equipment, and
for splicing purposes. The City shall allow Ting personnel or its agents reasonable
direct ingress and egress to City property within which Assets have been placed,
including fiber plant and enclosure facilities, and shall permit Ting personnel or its
agents to access such property at such times as may be required to install, test and
repair Ting’s equipment. Ting personnel and its agents shall, while on such property,
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comply with all industry standard rules,
regulations, and procedures, and other

requirements communicated to Ting by the City including security requirements and,
where required by government regulations as disclosed by the City, receipt of
satisfactory governmental clearances.

7.0

Ting Operational and Service Obligations

Throughout the Term of this Agreement, and as described more specifically in this Section,
Ting will operate in two roles:
1) as Network Operator of WFN, using Assets to:
(i) configure and activate a community fiber network, and
(ii) provide data/ IP transport services to unrelated Service Providers on a
nondiscriminatory basis; and
2) as a Service Provider, providing retail Services to residences and businesses
connected to the WFN.

7.1

Network Operator
7.1.1

Generally

As Network Operator of the WFN, and as may be more fully described
elsewhere in this Agreement, Ting shall, at its expense:
A. Procure, install, configure, operate, monitor, maintain, and upgrade,
excluding the City’s maintenance and repair obligations as outlined in
Exhibit E, as needed all equipment necessary to activate or “light” the
WFN and to operate an open access community broadband network; and
procure, install, configure, operate, monitor, maintain, and upgrade as
needed all Premises equipment necessary to provide data transport
services, enabling delivery of Services to customers by unaffiliated
Service Providers (subject to conditions relating to the Initial Deployment
Phase (“IDP”), set forth in Section 8);
B. Offer and provide data transport services to qualified Service Providers
following the conclusion of any IDP;
C. Maintain, repair and upgrade as needed all of Ting’s equipment, including
cabling to and between such equipment inside enclosures;
D. For business and residential connections to the WFN, be responsible for
and maintain cabling Ting installs to provide Service to Subscribers
inside the Premises from the City connection panel inward;
E. Execute any and all necessary splicing tasks between equipment and
cabling owned by Ting, and the WFN;
F. Provide technical support to Service Providers relating to data transport
services provided by Ting;
G. Acquire and maintain, at its expense, all applicable Authorizations
relating to the installation and use of Assets as set forth in this subsection.
7.1.2
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Open Access / Nondiscrimination

To facilitate the City’s objectives as stated in the Recitals to this Agreement,
following the conclusion of the Initial Deployment Phase (as set forth in
Section 8, Ting shall offer and provide data transport services using the
Assets, based upon a software platform operated by Ting, to any qualified
unaffiliated Service Provider for the provision of retail Services. Ting shall
negotiate with each such Service Provider on a good faith basis, and shall not
discriminate among similarly situated Service Providers, or in favor of a
Ting-affiliated Service Provider, for the purpose of effecting a competitive
advantage of one Service Provider over another.
Ting shall not be required to execute substantively identical agreements with
all Service Providers. Ting may negotiate agreements with Service Providers
on an individual basis, with varying terms and conditions based upon bona
fide distinctions among such Service Providers as to scale and volume, the
nature of Services to be provided, and other similar factors.
Ting may, but shall not be required to, provide Service Providers access to
unactivated fiber optic strands that are part of Assets.
7.1.3

Premises Construction, Installation, and Equipment

As Network Operator, Ting shall procure, install, configure, monitor,
maintain, and upgrade as needed any and all Customer Premises Equipment
(such as cabling and an ONT) as necessary to connect the Premises to the
WFN and deliver data transport services, enabling the provision of retail
Services by Ting or an unaffiliated Service Provider. Ting may pass on such
cost to the customer or to a Service Provider.
7.1.3.1 Business locations. Ting will be responsible for any and all
wiring and construction necessary to connect units from the
connection panel in the telecommunications room or
demarcation point within the business premises.
7.1.3.2 Residential locations. Ting will be responsible for any and
all wiring necessary to install an outdoor Optical Network
Terminal (ONT) from the City’s demarcation point through to
other Customer Premises Equipment and will assume any cost
as part of this process. (Ting may pass on such cost to the
customer or to a Service Provider).
7.1.3.3 Authorization. Ting shall acquire from the Premises owner
all necessary licenses, permits, permission to enter, occupy
and perform work on Premises. Ting, and not the City,
accepts all risks associated with such activity, including but
not limited to the risks of unanticipated costs or delays.
7.1.3.4 Ownership. Any Customer Premises Equipment used to
receive, route, or process a Service (such as a set-top box or
in-home router) leased or sold by Ting remains the property of
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Ting or the purchasing customer, as applicable under Ting’s
contract with Customer.
7.1.4

Network Equipment

Ting shall procure, install, configure, operate, monitor, maintain, and upgrade
as needed all equipment necessary to activate or “light” the WFN and to
operate an open access community broadband network, subject to the City’s
maintenance and repair obligations as outlined in Exhibit E. All such
equipment shall remain the property of Ting, provided, however, that Ting
shall not remove or deactivate any such equipment for a period of 180 days
following termination of this Agreement for any reason, and during such
period, the City shall have the option to purchase such equipment from Ting
at fair market value, subject to Section 3.2.2.
7.1.5

Authorizations

In addition to the Authorizations referred to in Section 7.1.3.3, Ting shall also
obtain and maintain at its expense throughout the Term, and make copies
available to the City upon request, all necessary Authorizations relating to its
activities under this Agreement.

7.2

FTTP Service Provider
7.2.1

Retail Gigabit Broadband Internet Access Service

Ting shall offer and provide residential and business broadband Internet
access Service (BIAS) via the WFN, including a speed tier of up to 1 gigabit
per second (“Gbps”), to all businesses and residences passed by the WFN.
7.2.2

Voice and Video Services

Ting shall make Voice and Video Services available, either through its own
efforts or those of its affiliates, unrelated Service Providers, or partnerships.
Ting shall cause Voice and Video Services to be made available prior to
termination of any IDP, and a failure to do so shall be a material breach of
this Agreement.
7.2.3

Service Authorizations

Ting shall obtain and maintain throughout the Term at its expense all
necessary Authorizations relating to the provision of BIAS, Voice, Video and
any other Services offered by Ting, and shall comply with all applicable laws
and regulations relating to the provision of such Services.
7.2.4

Relation to Other Agreements
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Any agreements or Authorizations necessary for provision of additional
Services, in particular including any Video Service franchise agreement, shall
be executed separately from and shall in no way encumber this Lease
Agreement.

7.3

Structural Separation

Ting will enact appropriate business practices and processes to create structural and
operational separation between the Network Operator and Service Provider
functions. At a minimum:
A. Ting shall establish separate operating entities for Network Operator and
Service Provider functions, respectively;
B. As Network Operator, Ting shall provide data transport services on an
open access, nondiscriminatory basis, as set forth in Section 7.1.2 of this
Agreement;
C. As Network Operator, Ting shall not share confidential or proprietary
Service Provider information with any other Service Provider, including a
separate Ting Service Provider business unit.

7.4

Performance Metrics and Standards

Ting shall meet the performance metrics and standards set forth in Exhibit D.
7.5

Ting Service Fees

Fees charged by Ting for data transport and retail Services shall be determined by
Ting according to industry standard practices. Fees for data transport services may
be individually negotiated by Ting.

7.6

Customer Service Obligations
7.6.1

Subscriber Relationship

As a Service Provider, Ting, or a contracted service provider, and not the City,
shall be responsible for all aspects of the customer relationship involving
Subscribers to retail Services provided by Ting or a contracted service
provider, as set forth in this subsection.
7.6.1.1 Subscriber Customer Support. Ting, or a contracted
service provider and not the City, shall be responsible for
receiving, servicing, and resolving directly all requests for
support from Ting’s or a contracted service provider’s
Subscribers, including but not limited to technical, billing, and
sales and marketing inquiries. Under no circumstances shall
Ting or a contracted service provider direct any Subscriber to
contact the City144
for customer support.

7.6.1.2 Billing/Collections. Ting or a contracted service provider
shall be responsible for all invoicing, billing and collection
activities relating to its Subscribers.
7.6.1.3 Sales/Marketing. Except as otherwise provided in this
Agreement, Ting or a contracted service provider shall be
responsible for any and all sales and marketing activities
relating to Ting or a contracted service provider ‘s Services,
including but not limited to pricing of services, description of
services, and promotional activities.
7.6.1.4 Bad Debts. Ting or a contracted service provider shall be
responsible for any and all bad debts associated with its
Subscribers.

7.6.2

Service Provider Relationship

As Network Operator, Ting, and not the City, shall be responsible for all
aspects of the customer relationship involving the provision of services by
Ting to Service Providers, as set forth in this subsection.
7.6.2.1 Service Provider Support. Ting, and not the City, shall be
responsible for receiving, servicing, and resolving directly all
requests for support from Service Providers, including but not
limited to technical, billing and sales and marketing inquiries.
Under no circumstances shall Ting direct any Service Provider
to contact the City for customer support, unless Ting has first
notified and obtained the City’s consent for such contact.
7.6.2.2 Billing / Collections. Ting shall be responsible for all
invoicing, billing and collection activities relating to Service
Providers.
7.6.2.3 Sales / Marketing. Except as otherwise provided in this
Agreement, Ting shall be responsible for any and all sales and
marketing activities relating to Ting services for Service
Providers, including but not limited to pricing of services,
description of services, and promotional activities.
7.6.2.4 Bad Debts. Ting shall be responsible for any and all bad
debts associated with Service Providers.

8.0

Initial Deployment Phase (IDP)

Each buildout phase of construction shall have an Initial Deployment Phase (“IDP”) wherein
Ting will have absolute discretion as to the timing and terms of additional Service Providers
operating on the Westminster Fiber Network,145
and Ting will operate as the exclusive provider

of retail broadband Internet access service. Following the conclusion of the IDP, Ting will
use commercially reasonable efforts to begin the addition of other Service Providers,
offering data transport service using leased Assets and based upon its software platform, as
described in this Agreement.
8.1

9.0

Duration.

8.1.1

Initial Phase. The initial IDP shall apply to the initial phase of
construction only (as described in Exhibit C), beginning upon the
Effective Date and ending upon mutual agreement between Ting and
the City, but no longer than two (2) years after the first customer in
the first phase of construction is “lit,” i.e., activated and added to the
network.

8.1.2

Subsequent Phases. The IDP for each subsequent phase shall begin
upon commencement of construction within that phase (as defined by
Ting and the City, and publicized as set forth in Section 10.1, “PreSales Status Website”) and end upon: a) mutual agreement between
Ting and the City, but no longer than two (2) years after the first “lit”
customer is added; or b) once subscriber penetration (number of
activated drops compared to number of premises passed in phase area)
reaches 20 percent or c) Ting reaches 3,000 total retail subscribers to
its Services, at which point any existing and future IDPs will be
discontinued.

8.1.3

Voice and Video Service Contingency. Ting shall cause voice and
video services to be made available in a particular phase area no later
than the termination date of the IDP for that phase.

8.1.4

Modification. The duration of any IDP may be reassessed and
extended or shortened by mutual agreement in writing of both the City
and Ting.

Lease Fees

As consideration for the Lease described in this Agreement, Ting shall pay the City
compensation as described in this Section and as specifically set forth in Exhibit B. Lease
fees shall be invoiced by the City on a quarterly basis, and payment shall be due within
thirty (30) days of Ting’s receipt of such invoice. The Lease fee will be comprised of three
elements:
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A.
Monthly fee for each Premise passed as defined in Exhibit B by WFN
fiber optic cable placed in conduit by the City in a street passing the Premise
(“Premise Fee”);
B.
Monthly fee for each activated Subscriber connected to the WFN
(“Subscriber Fee”); and
C.

9.1

Debt service guarantee, as described in the following Subsection.

Subscriber Fee Increases Based Upon ARPU Benchmark

As described in Exhibit B, the Subscriber Fee shall be subject to adjustment based on
incremental increases of Average Revenue Per User (ARPU) as compared to an
ARPU benchmark.
9.2

Debt Service Guarantee

In the event of a shortfall between the City’s revenue received from Ting under this
Agreement (City Fiber Revenue) and the City’s debt service requirements relating to
its construction of the WFN (City Debt Service), a debt service guarantee shall be
triggered according to the following:
1. The City shall be responsible for the first $50,000 of any difference between
City Fiber Revenue in that quarter and total City Debt Service in that quarter.
2. If the difference between City Fiber Revenue and City Debt Service in any
quarter is greater than $50,000, Ting shall be responsible for any debt service
deficit amount greater than $50,000, up to $150,000.
3. The City shall be responsible for all amounts of City Debt Service greater than
$150,000 in any quarter.
4. Any amounts paid by Ting for debt service deficit guarantee under this
Subsection shall result in a credit against subsequent payments owing by Ting
during any subsequent periods when City Fiber Revenue in that period exceeds
City Debt Service, to the extent that the credit does not reduce City Fiber Revenue
below City Debt Service in that time period.
5. In the event this Lease Agreement is terminated by the City for convenience
pursuant to Section 3.2.2 prior to the end of the Term, the City shall reimburse
Ting within 60 days for any City Debt Service amount paid by Ting which has not
already been credited.
9.3

Video Franchise Fee Offset

Any fees Ting is required to pay to the City under the terms of a video franchise
agreement involving the City shall offset amounts due the City under this
Agreement. Ting shall itemize on a dollar-for-dollar basis any such offset in
quarterly Lease fee statements provided to the City. A failure by Ting to claim any
147 statements following the accrual of the
such offset within the next four (4) quarterly

video franchise fee obligation related to the offset shall amount to a waiver of such
offset. The City shall have no responsibility for calculating or including such offset
unless Ting specifically claims an offset in writing.
9.4

Quarterly Report

On a quarterly basis, Ting shall provide to City a written report including at least the
following information:
(1) a list of Subscribers activated by Ting or a contracted Service Provider during the
previous quarter, by month, including physical address;
(2) a list of Subscribers deactivated by Ting or a contracted Service Provider during
the previous quarter, by month, including physical address;
(3) a net Subscriber count, as of the last day of each month in the reported quarter,
and cumulatively, as of the last day of the reported quarter;
(4) the locations of passed premises, by month;
(5) the number of passed premises, by month;
(6) the net number of passed premises, as of the last day of the reported quarter; and
(7) any other information that the City may reasonably require.

10.0

Community Engagement

In furtherance of the mission of expanding fiber optic deployment and use in Westminster,
the Parties agree to undertake certain activities designed to engage and educate the public as
to construction timelines and phases, and the benefits and capabilities of the WFN. Such
activities shall include, but shall not be limited to, the following:
10.1

Pre-Sales Status Website

To provide residents and businesses in Westminster information regarding the status
of pre-sales construction thresholds for particular neighborhoods or phases, Ting will
promptly make available complete and up-to-date information concerning pre-sales
levels, by neighborhood and/or phase, as may be appropriate, on a public website.
10.2

Education

In furtherance of its mission to expand fiber optic deployment and use in
Westminster, the City will work with Ting to educate residents and businesses about
construction phases and pre-sale threshold for construction.
10.3

“Hackerspace” / Broadband Incubator

Both Parties agree to support financially and operationally the creation and operation
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of a “hackerspace” and/or broadband incubator
venue, in conjunction with other

community partners to be recruited by both Parties. The City will identify and assist
in securing space for the initiative, and will coordinate with community partners to
provide and manage equipment (which may include, but shall not be limited to, 3D
printers, Raspberry PI computers and Arduinos). Ting shall source and fund the
purchase of all appropriate equipment, as jointly identified by the City and Ting.

11.0

Default and Remedies
11.1

Default

A Default under this Agreement shall occur if (a) a Party materially breaches this
Agreement, (b) such breach is not excused by any provision of this Agreement, and
(c) such breach continues un-remedied for a period of sixty (60) days following receipt
of written notice from the non-breaching Party. If the breach by its nature cannot be
cured within sixty (60) days and the breaching Party within that time has commenced
its cure, there shall be no Default as long as the Party diligently continues such cure to
completion.
11.2

Remedies

Upon the occurrence of a Default, the non-breaching Party shall have the right, subject
to the express limitations contained in this Agreement, to terminate this Agreement,
including the Lease for which it provides. Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude
either Party from also pursuing other available remedies, including damages,
injunctive relief, and costs (including reasonable attorney’s fees), subject to the
provisions of sections 11.2.1 and 18.1. The following Section 11.2.1 shall not be
construed as prohibiting Ting from obtaining injunctive relief.
11.2.1 Equitable Relief
In the event of a breach or threatened breach by Ting of any provision of the
Agreement, Ting recognizes the substantial and immediate harm that a
breach or threatened breach will impose upon the City, and further recognizes
that in such event monetary damages will be inadequate to fully protect the
Cit. Accordingly, the in the event of a breach or threatened breach of this
Agreement, Ting consents to the City’s entitlement to such ex parte,
preliminary, interlocutory, temporary or permanent injunctive, or any other
equitable relief, protecting and enforcing the City’s rights hereunder and
preventing Ting from further breaching any of its obligations set forth herein.
Ting expressly waives any requirement based on a state, rule of procedure,
or other source, that the City post a bond as a condition of obtaining any of
the above-described remedies. Nothing herein shall be construed as
prohibiting the City from pursuing any other remedies available to the City
at law or in equity for such breach or threatened breach, including the
recovery of damages from Ting, subject to Section 18.1.
11.3

Arbitration and Mediation

Upon the mutual consent of the Parties, any dispute concerning performance under
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this Agreement may be submitted for
resolution via binding arbitration conducted

under the applicable rules and processes of the American Arbitration Association.
Upon the mutual consent of the Parties, any dispute concerning performance under
this Agreement may be submitted for resolution through nonbinding mediation, in a
forum and according to procedures jointly agreed by the Parties.

12.0

Performance Bond or Letter of Credit
Within 30 days following the Effective Date, Ting shall cause the issuance of, and
make available for redemption by the City, as described in this subsection, a
performance bond or irrevocable letter of credit, to the satisfaction of the City, in the
amount of two million dollars ($2,000,000), which shall remain effective and updated
throughout the Term. Ting shall immediately provide a copy of all related documents,
and any updates to such documents made during the Term, to the City. The City shall
have the right to redeem and collect on all or a portion of the bond or letter of credit in
the event of a Default by Ting, upon presentation to the issuing bank or surety of a
demand for payment accompanied by a certificate of default. The bond or letter of
credit may be drawn upon to the extent necessary to effect a cure of Ting’s breach
and/or to mitigate or offset damages cause thereby.

13.0

Confidentiality
13.1

Non-Disclosure of this Agreement.

Neither Party may disclose the existence of or terms of this Agreement to the public
until both Parties agree upon a time and manner for a formal publicity statement.
All sharing of information concerning this Agreement shall be only with those
individuals deemed necessary to carry out the terms of this Agreement, except as
required for disclosures required by law, or to incorporate requirements of this
agreement into its own agreements with Customers and/or Service Providers.
13.2

Confidential Information.

If either Party provides or has provided confidential or proprietary information
(“Confidential Information”) designated as such to the other Party, the receiving
Party shall hold such information in confidence and shall afford it the same care and
protection that it affords to its own confidential and proprietary information (which
in any case shall be not less than reasonable care) to avoid disclosure to or
unauthorized use by any third party, except as otherwise provided below. Except as
provided in the preceding subsection, this Agreement and its terms shall not be
deemed the Confidential Information of both Parties. All Confidential Information,
unless otherwise specified in writing, shall remain the property of the disclosing
Party and shall be used by the receiving Party only for the intended purposes set forth
in this Agreement. Except as otherwise required by law, after the receiving Party’s
need for Confidential Information has expired, or upon the reasonable request of the
disclosing Party, or promptly following the termination or expiration of this
Agreement, the receiving Party shall destroy or return to the disclosing Party all
Confidential Information, including all copies of such information, and all notes,
summaries, or other writings reflecting Confidential Information. The receiving
Party shall not reproduce Confidential Information, except to the extent reasonably
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necessary to perform under this Agreement, or as otherwise may be permitted in
writing by the disclosing Party.
13.3

Exceptions

The foregoing provisions of this section shall not apply to (i) any required
disclosures to any government authority, (ii) disclosures required under the Freedom
of Information Act and applicable state or local government open records laws, (iii)
any Confidential Information or any provisions of this Agreement which becomes
publicly available, other than through the Party claiming this exception, or is
required to be disclosed by law, (iv) Confidential Information that is independently
developed by the receiving Party without breach of any obligation of confidentiality;
(v) Confidential Information that becomes available to the Party claiming this
exception without restriction from an unrelated third party, or becomes relevant to
the settlement of any dispute or enforcement or defense of either Party’s rights under
this Agreement, provided that appropriate protective measures shall be taken to
preserve the confidentiality of such Confidential Information to the extent
permissible in accordance with such settlement or enforcement process; (vi)
disclosures of this Agreement to any proposed permitted assignee provided that each
such proposed assignee agrees to be bound by confidentiality obligations no less
stringent than those set forth herein; or (vii) disclosures by either Party of the general
physical route of the WFN or Assets for marketing and sales-related purposes.
13.4

Survival

The confidentiality provisions in this section shall survive expiration or termination
of this Agreement.

14.0

Intellectual Property

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as a grant of any right or license under any
copyrights, inventions, patents, trade secrets or other intellectual property now or later
owned or controlled by Ting or the City, and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as
granting any right, title or interest in the other Party’s trademarks, trade names, service
marks or other intellectual property rights. The Parties agree not to use the trademarks, trade
names, or service marks of the other party without prior written permission.
15.0

Taxes

Each Party shall be responsible for paying its own federal, state or local sales, use, excise,
value-added, personal property, income or other taxes or charges assessed on or levied
against any transaction or event arising from the performance of this Agreement.
16.0

Insurance

During the term of this Agreement, each Party shall maintain a policy of comprehensive
liability insurance, including public liability, bodily injury, and property damage, written by
a company licensed to do business in the State of Maryland, covering use and activity
contemplated by this Agreement with combined single limits of no less than One Million
151Million Dollars ($2,000,000.00) aggregate,
Dollars ($1,000,000.00) per occurrence and Two

with Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000.00) umbrella coverage. Each Party shall maintain
motor vehicle insurance meeting the requirements of Maryland law and covering every
vehicle and driver involved in providing the services, in the following amounts: (1) bodily
injury liability with limits of $500,000.00 each person and $1,000,000.00 each accident; (2)
property damage liability with a limit of $100,000 each accident. Each Party shall name the
other Party, including its officers, employees, and agents, as Additional Insureds for the said
purpose and use of this Agreement. Each Party shall also maintain Workers’ Compensation
insurance to meet the requirements of the Workers’ Compensation laws of Maryland where
applicable. Certificates of Insurance evidencing such insurance coverage shall be provided
to either Party upon the other Party’s request.
17.0

Doing Business in Maryland

Ting warrants and represents that (1) if it is a corporate entity, it is either (a) incorporated in
Maryland or (b) registered or qualified by the Maryland State Department of Assessments
and Taxation (SDAT) as required by the Maryland Annotated Code, Corps. & Assocs.
Article, to do business in Maryland and (2) it is in good standing with SDAT and has paid all
taxes (including but not limited to income, real property, and personal property taxes due the
State of Maryland or any other governmental entity.

18.0

Warranties and Disclaimers
18.1

LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER FOR ANY SPECIAL,
INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL COSTS,
LIABILITIES OR DAMAGES, WHETHER FORESEEABLE OR NOT,
INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION AS APPLICABLE, ECONOMIC LOSS OR
LOST BUSINESS OR PROFITS, INTERRUPTIONS OF SERVICE, OR ANY
DELAY, ERROR OR LOSS OF DATA OR INFORMATION, ARISING IN ANY
MANNER OUT OF, OR IN CONNECTION WITH, THIS AGREEMENT AND A
PARTY’S PERFORMANCE OR NONPERFORMANCE OF ITS OBLIGATIONS
UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION,
WHETHER IN CONTRACT OR TORT (INCLUDING STRICT LIABILITY), ALL
CLAIMS FOR WHICH ARE HEREBY SPECIFICALLY WAIVED.
18.2

Representations and Warranties; Disclaimers

By execution of this Agreement, each Party represents and warrants to the other that:
(a) the Party is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws
of the jurisdiction of its organization; (b) the Party has full right and authority to enter
into and perform this Agreement in accordance with the terms hereof and thereof; (c)
the Party’s execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement will not conflict
with, violate or result in a breach of (i) any law, regulation, order, writ, injunction,
decree, determination or award of any governmental authority or any arbitrator,
applicable to such Party, (ii) any of the terms, conditions or provisions of its charter,
bylaws, or other governing documents of such Party, (iii) any material agreement to
which it is a party, or (iv) any instrument to which such Party is or may be bound or to
which any of its material properties 152
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delivery and performance of this Agreement has been duly authorized by all requisite
corporate action; (e) that the signatories for such Party are authorized to sign this
Agreement; (f) there are no actions, suits, proceedings or investigations pending, or to
the knowledge of the Party, threatened against or affecting the Party of any of its
properties, assets or businesses in any court or before or by any governmental authority
that could, if adversely determined, reasonably be expected to have a material adverse
effect on the Party’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement; (g) the
Party has not received any currently effective notice of any material default; and (h)
the Party has not previously been and is not currently, debarred, suspended, or
proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, voluntarily excluded from transactions by
any federal or state department or agency, or subject to any inquiry, investigation, or
proceeding regarding the foregoing
18.3

General Disclaimer

GENERAL DISCLAIMER. EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN THIS
AGREEMENT, THE CITY AND TING MAKE NO WARRANTIES, WHETHER
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AS TO THE MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR
A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OF ANY OF ITS FIBERS OR ASSETS, OR ANY
SERVICE PROVIDED HEREUNDER OR DESCRIBED HEREIN, OR AS TO ANY
OTHER MATTER, ALL OF WHICH ARE HEREBY EXPRESSLY EXCLUDED
AND DISCLAIMED.

19.0

Assignment

Except as otherwise provided herein, neither Party may assign, sell, transfer, delegate or in
any other manner dispose of any of its rights, privileges or obligations under this Agreement
without the other Party’s prior written consent, which shall not be unreasonably withheld,
conditioned or delayed. Any attempt to make any such assignment, sale, transfer,
delegation or disposition without any such prior written consent of the other Party shall be
null and void. Notwithstanding the foregoing, either Party may assign, sell, transfer,
delegate or in any other manner dispose of, any of its rights, privileges or obligations
under this Agreement without consent of the other Party to an affiliate of such Party, so
long as the assignor remains liable for all of its obligations under this Agreement prior
to the assignment date and assignee is liable for all of its obligations under this
Agreement from and after the assignment date.
19.1

Agreement Binding; Assignees

This Agreement shall be binding on and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their
respective permitted successors and assigns. In the case of any assignment, sale,
transfer or disposition requiring the other Party’s consent or as permitted under this
Agreement, the assignee, purchaser or transferee shall execute and deliver a written
agreement reasonably acceptable to the non-assigning Party in which the assignee,
purchaser or transferee agrees to be bound by all of the terms and conditions of this
Agreement to the extent of the rights and obligations assigned, sold or transferred.
20.0

Relationship of the Parties
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This Agreement is not intended to create, nor shall it be construed to create, any partnership,
joint venture, or employment relationship between the City and Ting, and neither party shall
be liable for the payment or performance of any debt, obligations, or liabilities of the other
party, unless expressly assumed in writing. Each party covenants that it shall not act in a
manner that may be construed to be inconsistent with the foregoing nor otherwise act or
purport to act on behalf of the other Party except as may be expressly authorized in writing
by the other arty. The City and Ting, in performing any of their obligations hereunder, shall
be independent contractors or independent Parties and shall discharge their contractual
obligations at their own risk subject, however, to the terms and conditions hereof.
21.0

Indemnification

To the extent permitted by law, and specifically, subject to the provisions of the Maryland
Local Government Tort Claims Act, Maryland Code Annotated, Courts and Judicial
Proceedings Article, Section 5-301 et seq., provided that funds have been appropriated,
each Party, on behalf of itself and its affiliates, directors, officers, employees, agents,
successors, and assigns (“Indemnitor”) agrees to indemnify, defend, protect and hold the
other Party and it directors, officers, directors, employees, agents, successors, and assigns
(“Indemnified Persons”) harmless from and against any claims, suits, actions or damages
brought or asserted by a third party of any kind or character (collectively “Claims”) and
from and against any liability, losses, fines, judgments, costs and expenses (including
reasonable attorney, accountant and expert fees) arising out of any claims incurred by any
Indemnified Persons (a) because of the death of any person, or any injuries or damage
received or sustained by any persons or property, which in whole or in part arise on account
of the negligent acts or omissions or willful misconduct of the Indemnitor in the
performance or non-performance of its obligations or exercise of its rights under this
Agreement, including any material violation by Indemnitor of any law or permit applicable
thereto; (b) under the Workers’ Compensation laws asserted by any other person providing
goods or services for or on behalf of any of the foregoing in connection with this
Agreement; or (c) arising out of, caused by, related to, or based upon, a contractual or other
relationship between such claiming party and the Indemnitor, as it relates to the use of
Assets.
21.1

Exceptions

An Indemnitor’s obligations under this section shall not apply to any Claims to the
extent caused by negligent acts or omissions or willful misconduct by a person
claiming indemnification.
22.0

Severability

Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed so as to require the commission
of any act contrary to law, and wherever there is any conflict between any provision of this
Agreement and any law, such law shall prevail; provided, however, that in such event, the
provisions of this Agreement so affected shall be curtailed and limited only to the extent
necessary to permit compliance with the minimum legal requirement, and no other
provisions of this Agreement shall be affected thereby and all such other provisions
shall continue in full force and effect, except to the extent the affected provision is a
material provision which negates the contemplated benefits of the transaction, in which
event the parties shall negotiate in good faith for alternatives to achieve the contemplated
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consideration, or the adversely impacted Party shall have the right to terminate this
Agreement on one hundred eighty (180) day’s notice.

23.0

Force Majeure
23.1

Force Majeure Events

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, neither Grantor nor Grantee
shall be liable for any failure or delay in performing its obligations, or for any loss or
damage, resulting from any event or circumstance beyond the reasonable control of
the Party, including but not limited to an earthquake, hurricane, fire, flood, lightning,
sinkhole or other forces of nature, acts of war, terrorism (including cyberterrorism), or
civil unrest, strikes, lockouts or other labor unrest, or legal order, government action
or application of laws, regulations or codes (“Force Majeure Event”).
23.2

Response to Force Majeure Events

A Party whose performance is impacted by a Force Majeure Event shall provide
reasonable notice to the other Party and shall make commercially reasonable efforts
to minimize the impact of the Force Majeure Event on its performance.
23.3

Suspension Pending Force Majeure

The deadline by when a Party must perform an obligation under this Agreement, other
than payment of money, shall be postponed by the period of time by which the Party’s
ability to perform that obligation is materially prevented or interfered with by a Force
Majeure Event.
24.0

Eminent Domain

Should any portion of the Assets or any other interest belonging to the City or to Ting with
respect to this Agreement be acquired by condemnation, eminent domain, nationalization or
expropriation (each of which, a “Taking”) by any government authority or other person
possessing such power, then each Party will be excused from performance of its obligations
to the extent of the taking, as provided in this Section. In the proceeding for any Taking or
an involuntary discontinuance of the use of the Assets in anticipation of an imminent
Taking, the interests of City and Ting in the affected portion will be severed. The City and
Ting each may claim and receive the portion of the total award attributable to its interest in
the Assets, and the City and Ting each may claim damages payable on account of the Taking
and the relocation or re-routing expenses relating to the Assets.
25.0

Notices

All notices, demands and requests required or permitted to be given under the provisions of
this Agreement shall be (a) in writing, (b) delivered by facsimile transmission with
confirmation of delivery, electronic mail with confirmation of delivery receipt, or sent by
overnight commercial delivery service or certified mail, return receipt requested. Notice
shall be deemed to have been given on the date of the transmission and receipt of facsimile
or electronic mail transmissions, or the delivery date set forth in the records of the delivery
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service or on the return receipt when addressed
as follows:

If to the City of Westminster:
The Mayor and Common Council of Westminster
56 West Main St.
Westminster, MD 21157
With a copy to:
[office of City Attorney]
If to Ting:
Adam Eisner
96 Mowat Ave.
Toronto, ON M6K 3M1
With a copy to:

26.0

Choice of Law

This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of
Maryland, without regard to any conflicts of law provision that would affix jurisdiction in
another State, and any dispute arising out of this Agreement shall be filed in a court of
competent jurisdiction in Carroll County, Maryland.
27.0

Headings

Headings and captions of this Agreement’s sections and paragraphs are only for convenience
and reference. These headings and captions shall not affect or modify this Agreement’s
terms or be used to interpret or assist in the construction of this Agreement.
28.0

Waiver

Any right or remedy provided for in this Agreement shall not preclude the exercise of any
other right or remedy under this Agreement or under any provision of law, nor shall any
action taken or failure to take action in the exercise of any right or remedy be deemed a
waiver of any other rights or remedies at the time
29.0

Counterparts

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an
original, and all such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same document. This
Agreement also may be executed via counterpart facsimiles on (a) the telecopy or facsimile
by each Party of a signed signature page thereof to the other Party, with return receipt by
telecopy or facsimile requested and received, and (b) the Parties' agreement that they will each
concurrently post, by next business day courier, a fully executed original counterpart of the
Agreement to the other Party.
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EXHIBIT A
LISTED ASSETS

The particular Assets in which Ting shall have a right of use under the Lease set forth in this
Agreement shall be as described in this Exhibit A. This Exhibit may be amended by the
Parties from time to time in a writing signed by both Parties and referencing this Exhibit A.
As of the Effective Date, Assets include the following:
•
•
•
•

One pad mounted enclosure for network equipment adjacent to Carroll
Lutheran Village at intersection of Luther Drive and Old New Windsor Pike
4 Equipment racks in the City equipment enclosure at the Airport
An unspecified* number of fiber optic strands serving the CLV and Fairway
Drive neighborhoods
An unspecified number of fiber optic strands serving the Airport region.

* The exact number and identification of specific fiber optic strands and other unspecified
quantities shall be determined by the Parties in due course, and shall include a quantity
sufficient to enable the Parties to execute their obligations under this Agreement.
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EXHIBIT B

LEASE FEES

In consideration of the lease of Assets by the City to Ting, and other good and valuable
consideration, Ting agrees to pay the City during the Term a quarterly Lease Fee, comprised
of the following elements:

1. Per-Premises Fee
Ting shall pay the City $6.00 per Premises passed by the WFN, per month.
A Premises is “passed” if it is feasible to connect the Premises to the WFN, to execute an
Access Agreement with the Premises owner, and otherwise to promptly activate a
Subscriber occupying the Premises. In general, a Premise will be “passed” if the WFN is
present in or near the public right of way abutting the Premises property.
2. Per-Subscriber Fee
Ting shall pay the City $17.00 per activated business and residential Subscriber, per
month. A Subscriber is “activated” if the Premises is connected to the WFN and the
Subscriber has agreed to receive Services (whether provided by Ting or another retail
Service Provider) for the applicable month. Such fee will be pro-rated for partial
activated months.
2.1.

ARPU Benchmark Adjustment

The Subscriber fee shall be subject to annual adjustment, as described in this subsection.
As of the date upon which 1,500 total Subscribers are activated, a baseline ARPU will be
calculated by dividing Ting’s gross revenue from the provision of voice, video and
broadband Internet access service during the previous calendar year by the number of
Subscribers to Services provided by Ting.
One year from that date, and annually thereafter, the Subscriber fee will be adjusted as
follows:
•
•
•
•

Total ARPU will be calculated and reported for all Services by or through Ting on the
WFN, including retail Services from other Service Providers.
For every 10 percent increase in ARPU above the ARPU benchmark, the Subscriber fee
will increase by $1.00.
Fee adjustment in subsequent years will utilize the previous year’s total ARPU
calculation as the benchmark from which to calculate increase.
Subscriber fees shall not be reduced, in the
event of a decline in ARPU.
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3. Payment Terms
Payment of lease fees described in this Exhibit, and of any other fees or charges under the
Agreement, shall be due within 30 days of Ting’s receipt of a City invoice. In the event that
any payment required by this Agreement is not actually received by the City on or before
such date, interest on such payment shall accrue from such date at a rate equal to the
prevailing prime rate of interest for commercial loans as published in the “Money Rates”
section of the Wall Street Journal or as published by a comparable rate source to be
determined by the City should rate not be published by the Wall Street Journal. Such
interest shall be compounded daily.
All payments to the City shall be directed as follows:
Attn: Finance Department
City of Westminster
56 W Main St.
Westminster, MD 21157
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EXHIBIT C
INITIAL PHASE

The initial phase of the WFN, previously described in some contexts as the “FTTP Pilot,”
consists of approximately 10.0 Route miles of new underground fiber construction within
two distinct service areas, as described below and as shown on the following maps:
Service Area A: business and industrial zone, comprised of approximately 250
business units in the Carroll County Air Business Center, West Branch Trade Center, and
Westminster Technology Park; and
Service Area B: the Carroll Lutheran Village and surrounding residential area,
comprised of more than 200 single-family and attached homes, approximately 300
apartment residences, and 150 assisted living / nursing home residences.
Overview Map:
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Service Area A Detail Map 1:
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Service Area A Detail Map 2:
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Service Area B Detail Map 1:
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Service Area B Detail Map 2:
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EXHIBIT D

PERFORMANCE METRICS

Performance metrics for Ting:

A.

Ting network performance: Upon successful testing of network by the City,
in the event Ting, as either a service provider or network operator, suffers a
network outage outside of events defined as Force Majeure, or scheduled
network maintenance, or resulting from the City’s non-performance of its
obligations under this Agreement, then Ting will adhere to the following
credit schedule:

98.0% to 98.9% uptime: 15% of monthly fees paid returned to customers
97.0% to 97.9% uptime: 30% of monthly fees paid returned to customers
96.0% to 96.9% uptime: 40% of monthly fees paid returned to customers
Below 96%: 50% of monthly feels paid returned to customers
B.

Ting support performance: Ting will strive to answer all inbound customer
phone calls within 90 seconds, and all inbound emails within 24 hours.
Telephone support will be “no-hold”, meaning all connected customers will
reach an agent immediately, without encountering a phone tree.
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EXHIBIT E

CITY MAINTENANCE OF ASSETS

1.

Maintenance.

(a)
Scheduled Maintenance. Routine maintenance and repair of the Assets
(“Scheduled Maintenance”) will be performed by or under the direction of the City as
necessary to keep the Assets in good operating condition, at Ting’s reasonable request or at
the City’s reasonable discretion, all at City’s expense. Scheduled Maintenance will commence
upon the Effective Date, and includes: (i) inspection of the WFN and other Assets on a
regularly scheduled basis, which shall be no less than once each calendar quarter;
(ii) appropriate routine preventative maintenance on the Assets, minimally in accordance with
industry standards; (iii) performance of all required cable locates and membership in a state
or regional one-call (call-before-you-dig) center for all locations along the Route;
(iv) maintenance of an inventory of spare cable and other equipment, together with
maintenance equipment, at strategic locations to facilitate timely restoration along the Route;
and (v) non-routine maintenance, repair and replacement of the WFN and other Assets arising
out of City’s or City’s agent(s)’s fault, negligence, or misconduct.
(b)
Unscheduled Maintenance. Non-routine maintenance and repair of the WFN
and other Assets which is not included as Scheduled Maintenance (“Unscheduled
Maintenance”) will be performed by or under the direction of City and at the City’s expense.
Unscheduled Maintenance will commence upon the Effective Date, as provided in the
Agreement. Unscheduled Maintenance shall consist of Unscheduled Maintenance in response
to: (i) notification by Ting or any third party of any failure, interruption or impairment in the
operation of the Assets, or any event imminently likely to cause the failure, interruption or
impairment in the operation of the Assets; or (ii) any potential service-affecting situation to
prevent any failure, interruption or impairment in the operation of the Assets, each to the extent
same is not included in the definition of Scheduled Maintenance.
If known to Ting, Ting shall promptly report the need for Unscheduled Maintenance
to the City in accordance with escalation procedures provided in Section 3 below. The City
will log the time of Ting’s report, verify the problem and dispatch personnel to take corrective
action.
2.
Response. The City’s maintenance employees shall be available for dispatch twentyfour (24) hours a day, seven (7) days a week. The City will have its first maintenance
employee (or contracted agent) at the site requiring emergency Unscheduled Maintenance
activity within four (4) hours after the time the City becomes aware of an event requiring
Unscheduled Maintenance due to an emergency situation.
3.

Cooperation and Coordination.

(a)
The Parties each shall use the escalation list of the other Party, as updated from
time to time by the applicable Party pursuant to the escalation list or other notice provision, to
report and seek immediate initial redress of exceptions noted in the performance of a Party in
meeting maintenance service objectives and regarding all other aspects applicable to WFN
operations. The notice list numbers are 24 hour, 7 day per week emergency notification
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(b)
In performing its services under this Exhibit, the City will take workmanlike
care to prevent impairment to the signal continuity and performance of the Assets. The
precautions to be taken by City will include notifications to Ting. In addition, the City will
reasonably cooperate with Ting in sharing information and analyzing the disturbances
regarding the Assets. In the event that any Scheduled Maintenance or Unscheduled
Maintenance requires a traffic roll or reconfiguration involving Assets, then Ting shall, at
City’s request, make such personnel of Ting available as may be necessary in order to
accomplish such maintenance, which personnel shall coordinate and cooperate with the City
in performing such maintenance as required of the City hereunder.
(c)
The City will use commercially reasonable efforts to notify Ting at least ten
(10) days prior to the date of any Scheduled Maintenance that may result in an outage or
degradation in the use of Assets, and as soon as possible, but in no event later than eight (8)
hours after becoming aware of the need for Unscheduled Maintenance. Ting may be present
during the performance of any Scheduled Maintenance or Unscheduled Maintenance so long
as this right or the exercise thereof does not interfere with the City’s ability to perform its
obligations under this Agreement. In the event that Scheduled Maintenance is canceled or
delayed for whatever reason as previously notified, the City will use commercially reasonable
efforts to notify Ting at the City’s earliest opportunity, but in no event less than forty-eight
(48) hours after cancellation, and will comply with the above-provisions for any re-scheduled
activity.
4.

Facilities.

(a)
The City will maintain the WFN Assets in a manner which will permit Ting’s
use and operation, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Agreement, including
the Performance Metrics
(b)
The City will maintain sufficient capability to teleconference with Ting during
Unscheduled Maintenance in emergency situations in order to provide regular
communications during the repair process.
(c)
It is the City’s intention, and the City represents and warrants, that maintenance
work performed by City on the Assets will not normally result in interruptions or defects.
Scheduled Maintenance which is reasonably expected to produce any signal discontinuity or
jeopardize Ting’s use of the WFN and other Assets in any material respect generally will be
scheduled after midnight and before 5:00 a.m. local time. Major system work, such as fiber
rolls and hot cuts, will be scheduled for Scheduled Maintenance weekends as mutually agreed
by Ting and the City. A calendar showing City-approved Scheduled Maintenance for the
following year will be available to Ting during the last quarter of each calendar year during
the Term for Ting’s approval. The City’s intent is to avoid major system work on the first and
last weekends of the month and high-traffic holidays.
5.

Restoration.

(a)
The City will respond to any interruption of service or a failure of the Assets
as quickly as possible, but in no event later than four (4) hours after the City became actually
aware of the failure or interruption, in accordance with the procedures set forth herein. The
City shall address the problem by working diligently to enable restored service as soon as
technically practical and commercially reasonable, in accordance with the procedures set forth
herein. In order to accomplish such objective, Ting acknowledges that such repairs may be
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temporary in nature. In such event, within twenty-four
(24) hours after completion of any

such Unscheduled Maintenance, the City will commence its planning for permanent repair,
and thereafter promptly shall notify Ting of such plans, and shall use commercially reasonable
efforts to implement such permanent repair as soon as possible thereafter.
6.

Escalation List – To be determined later.
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RESOLUTION NO. 20-10
A RESOLUTION OF THE
MAYOR AND COMMON COUNCIL OF WESTMINSTER,
DIRECTING TO CITY STAFF TO PROCEED EXPEDITIOUSLY
TO IMPLEMENT THE EXTENSION OF THE WESTMINSTER FIBER
NETWORK OUTSIDE THE CITY’S BOUNDARIES.
WHEREAS, on February 27, 2017 the Mayor and Common Council of Westminster
approved a Master Broadband Agreement (“the County Agreement”) with Carroll County,
Maryland (“the County”), pursuant to which the County agreed to permit the City to use its rights
of way to extend the Westminster Fiber Network outside the City’s boundaries in order to provide
high-speed internet and other related services to County residents, subject to the County’s review
and approval of individual project phases; and
WHEREAS, the Agreement was signed by the County Commissioners on October 5,
2017; and
WHEREAS, the City’s deployment of fiber for the WFN inside the City is nearly
complete; and
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Common Council deem the expansion of the network outside
the City to be in the public interest, particularly given increased demand for reliable high-speed
network connections caused by the prevailing pandemic conditions, provided that it is not the
intention of the City that the capital costs of extending fiber outside the City’s limits be borne by
City taxpayers.
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common
Council of Westminster that the City Administrator, under the direction of the Mayor, is authorized
and directed to work with City staff members to take those actions necessary to implement as soon
as possible the extension of the WFN to properties outside the City, including but not limited to
those actions necessary to gain County approval for the use of its rights of way for specific phases
of such implementation, pursuant to the County Agreement.
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT nothing herein shall be deemed to direct or
authorize City staff to proceed with efforts to extend fiber outside the City’s boundaries unless the
cost of doing so is fully undertaken by Carroll County and/or the owners of property benefited by
such extension.
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THIS RESOLUTION shall take effect on
12 2020.
October, ___,
12 day of October, 2020
ADOPTED this _____
__________________________________________
Shannon Visocsky, City Clerk
1 OF 2
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12 day of October, 2020
APPROVED this _____
__________________________________________
Joe Dominick, Mayor
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND SUFFICIENCY
13th day of October, 2020.
this _____
___________________________
Elissa D. Levan, City Attorney

2
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Consent Calendar – City Administrator

To:

Common Council

From: Mayor Dominick
Date:

March 4, 2021

Re:

City Administrator Recruitment Proposal – GovHR USA

City Administrator Barbara Matthews departs her position on May 3, 2021. Following an interview process
of recruitment firms, the Mayor and Common Council have chosen to hire GovHR USA for the recruitment of
the City Administrator position.
Attachment
• City Administrator Recruitment Proposal
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City of Westminster, Maryland
City Administrator
Recruitment Proposal
February 11, 2021

630 Dundee Road
Suite 130
Northbrook, IL 60062
847-380-3240
info@GovHRusa.com
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About Us
A note about COVID-19 -- We are carefully monitoring recommendations from the federal,
state and local governments and working with clients as they begin to reopen. Before COVID
we made extensive use of technology for video interviews with candidates and meetings
with clients. We have utilized these during COVID and can combine technology with
appropriate in person meetings to assist clients in cost effective recruiting processes.
GovHR is a public management consulting firm serving local
government clients and other public-sector entities across the
country. Our headquarters are in Northbrook, Illinois. We are
a certified Female Business Enterprise in the State of Illinois
and work exclusively in the public and non-profit sectors.
GovHR offers customized executive recruitment services,
management studies and consulting projects for local
government and organizations who work with local
government. Please note the following key qualifications of
our firm:










Since our establishment in 2009, our consultants have
conducted more than 700 recruitments in 38 states,
with an increase in business of at least 30% each year.
Twenty-eight (28%) of our clients are repeat clients, the
best indicator of satisfaction with our services.
Surveys of our clients show that 94% rate their overall
experience with our firm as Outstanding and indicate
they plan to use our services or highly recommend us in
the future.
Our state of the art processes, including extensive use
of social media for candidate outreach and video
interviews with potential finalist candidates, ensure a
successful recruitment for your organization.
Our high quality, thorough recruitment brochure
reflects the knowledge we will have about your
community and your organization and will provide
important information to potential candidates.
We are committed to providing you with a pool of
candidates that reflects the diversity of your
community. We support the following organizations
with our time as well as provide financial resources:
National Forum for Black Public Administrators, Local
Government Hispanic Network, League of Women in
Government and Engaging Local Government Leaders.

City of Westminster, Maryland – City Administrator
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About the Owners
GovHR is led by Heidi Voorhees,
President, and Joellen Cademartori,
Chief Executive Officer.
Ms. Voorhees has conducted more than
400 recruitments in her management
consulting career, with many of her
clients repeat clients, attesting to the
high quality of work performed for
them. In addition to her 17 years of
executive recruitment and management
consulting experience, Ms. Voorhees
has 19 years of local government
leadership and management service,
including ten years as the Village
Manager for the Village of Wilmette,
Illinois.
Ms. Cademartori is a seasoned manager,
with expertise in public sector human
resources management. She has held
positions from Human Resources
Director and Administrative Services
Director to Assistant Town Manager and
Assistant County Manager. Ms.
Cademartori has worked in forms of
government ranging from Open Town
Meeting to Council-Manager and has
supervised all municipal and county
departments ranging from Public Safety
and Public Works to Mental Health and
Social Services. She has worked in
Massachusetts, North Carolina, and
Illinois.

3

Our Team

Recruitment Consultant & Main Point of Contact:

Lee Szymborski
Senior Vice President
847-380-3240
LSzymborski@GovHRusa.com

Mike Jaillet
Vice President
847-380-3240
MJaillet@GovHRusa.com

Proposal Inquiry:
Laurie Pederson
Administrative Services Director
847-380-3198
LPederson@GovHRusa.com

GovHR Owners:
Heidi J. Voorhees
President
847-380-3243
HVoorhees@GovHRusa.com

Joellen J. Cademartori
Chief Executive Officer
847-380-3239
JCademartori@GovHRusa.com
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References

The following references can speak to the quality of service provided by GovHR.
_____________________________________
Sykesville, MD
(Town Manager, 2019) - Lee Szymborski
Ian Shaw
Mayor
7547 Main Street.
Sykesville, MD 21784
410-795-8959
IShaw@sykesville.net
South Norwalk Electric & Water, CT
(General Manager/CEO, 2020) - Lee Szymborski & Heidi Voorhees
1 State St.
Norwalk, CT 06854
David Westmoreland, Chairperson
203-854-7810
dgwestmoreland@yahoo.com
Franklin, WI
(Planning Manager, 2020) - Lee Szymborski
(Director of Administration, 2020) - Lee Szymborski
(Economic Development Director, 2015 & 2018) – Lee Szymborski
(Director of IT, 2015) – Lee Szymborski
9229 W. Loomis Road
Franklin, WI 53132
414-858-1100
Steve Olson
Mayor
solson@franklinwi.gov

_____________________________________
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Scope of Services – Full Scope Recruitment
A typical recruitment and selection process takes approximately 175 hours to conduct. At least 50 hours
of this time is administrative, including advertisement placement, reference interviews, and due diligence
on candidates. We believe our experience and ability to professionally administer your recruitment will
provide you with a diverse pool of highly qualified candidates for your position search. GovHR clients are
informed of the progress of their recruitment throughout the entire process. We are always available by
mobile phone or email should you have a question or need information about the recruitment.
Phase I: Position Assessment, Position Announcement & Brochure
One-on-one or group interviews will be conducted with stakeholders identified by the client to develop
the Recruitment Brochure. We have a variety of other options for gathering input:
 Dedicated email and surveys to obtain feedback from stakeholder groups
 Public Forums conducted by our consultants
A combination of the above items can be used to fully understand community and organizational needs
and expectations for the position.
Development of a Position Announcement to be placed on websites and social media
Development of a thorough Recruitment Brochure for client review and approval
Agreement on a detailed Recruitment Timetable – a typical recruitment takes between 90 to 120 days
from the time you sign the contract to appointment of the finalist candidate.
Phase II: Advertising, Candidate Recruitment & Outreach
We make extensive use of social media as well as traditional outreach methods to ensure a diverse and
highly qualified pool of candidates. In addition, our website is well known in the local government industry
– we typically have 6,000 visits to our website each month. Finally, we develop a database customized to
your recruitment and can send an email blast to thousands of potential candidates.
Phase II will include the following:
 GovHR consultants will personally identify and contact potential candidates in person, via
email, and also via telephone.
 Develop a database of potential candidates from across the country unique to the
position and to the client, focusing on:
 Leadership and management skills
 Size of organization
 Experience in addressing challenges and opportunities also outlined in
Phase I
 The database will range from several hundred to thousands of names and an email blast
will be sent to each potential candidate.
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Scope of Services - Continued
 Placement of the Position Announcement in appropriate professional online publications:
 Public sector publications & websites
 Social media
 LinkedIn (over 15,000 connections)
 Facebook
 Twitter
 Instagram
 GovHR will provide you with a list of advertising options for approval
PHASE III: Candidate Evaluation & Screening
Phase III will include the following steps:
 Review and evaluation of candidates’ credentials considering the criteria outlined in the
Recruitment Brochure
 Candidates will be narrowed down to those candidates that meet the qualification criteria
 Candidate evaluation process:
o Completion of a questionnaire explaining prior work experience
o Live Video Interview (45 minutes to 1 hour) conducted by consultant with
each finalist candidate
o References (at least 2 references per candidate will be contacted at this time)
o Internet/Social Media search conducted on each finalist candidate
All résumés will be acknowledged and inquiries from candidates will be personally handled by GovHR,
ensuring that the client’s process is professional and well regarded by all who participate.
Phase IV: Presentation of Recommended Candidates
Phase IV will include the following steps:
 GovHR will prepare a Recruitment Report presenting the credentials of those candidates
most qualified for the position.
 GovHR will provide an electronic file which contains the candidates’ materials along
with a “mini” résumé for each candidate so that each candidate’s
credentials are presented in a uniform way.
 Client will receive a log of all applicants and may review résumés if requested.
 Report will arrive in advance of the Recruitment Report Presentation.
GovHR will spend approximately 2 hours with the client reviewing the recruitment report and providing
additional information on the candidates.
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Scope of Services - Continued
Phase V: Interviewing Process & Background Screening
Phase V will include the following steps:
GovHR will:
 Develop the first and second round interview questions for your review and comment
 Coordinate candidate travel and accommodations
 Provide you with interview books that include:
 Candidates Credentials
 Set of questions with room for interviewers to make notes
 Evaluation sheets to assist interviewers in assessing the candidate’s skills and
abilities
Background screening* will be conducted along with additional references contacted:

Background
Screening
Process

*Per state and federal regulations
GovHR will work with you to develop an interview schedule for the candidates, coordinating travel and
accommodations. GovHR consultants, if requested, will be present for all the interviews, serving as a
resource and facilitator.
GovHR will coordinate a 2-Step Interview process. The first round interviews will include five or six
candidates. The second round interviews will include two or three candidates. GovHR will supply
interview questions and an evaluation form.
In addition to a structured interview, the schedule can incorporate:
 Tour of client facilities
 Interviews with senior staff
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Scope of Services - Continued
Phase VI: Appointment of Candidate
 GovHR will assist you as much as you request with the salary and benefit negotiations and
drafting of an employment agreement, if appropriate.



GovHR will notify all applicants of the final appointment, providing professional background
information on the successful candidate.
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Project Timeline

Week

Week

Week

Week

Week

Week

Week

Week

Week

Week

Week

Week

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

Phase I

Phase II
Phase III

Phase IV
Phase V

Phase VI

Weeks 1 & 2

Phase 1: On Site Interviews & Brochure Development

Weeks 3 thru 6

Phase 2: Advertising, Candidate Recruitment & Outreach

Weeks 7 & 8

Phase 3: Candidate Evaluation & Background Screening

Week 9

Phase 4: Presentation of Recommended Candidates

Week 10

Phase 5: Interview Process & Additional Background Screening

Weeks 11 & 12

Phase 6: Appointment of Candidate
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Full Scope Recruitment – Price Proposal
Summary of Costs:

We are carefully monitoring recommendations from
the federal, state and local governments and working
with clients on alternatives to in person meetings. We
are fully operational and can work with you via video
and by utilizing electronic files. If at the time of
recruitment, COVID-19 restrictions are lifted and
travel is possible, we are happy to attend meetings in
person. For this reason, we have priced travel as a
separate expense.
**Consultant travel expenses are not included in the
price proposal. If the consultant is requested to travel
to the client, $1,000 per trip (up to 3 trips) for travel
will be charged.
Possible in-person meetings could include:
1. Recruitment brochure interview process
2. Presentation of recommended candidates
3. Interview Process
Any additional consultant visits requested by the
Client (beyond the three visits listed above) will be
billed at $125/hour; $500 for a half day and $950 for a
full day. The additional visits may also result in an
increase in the travel expenses and those expenses
will be billed to the client.

Recruitment Fee:

$18,000
____________________________
Recruitment Expenses:
Expenses include candidate due
diligence efforts
$1,500
____________________________
Advertising:
*Advertising costs over $2,500 will be
placed only with client approval. Client
is billed only for actual cost.
$2,500*
_____________________________
Total:
$22,000**
**This fee does not include travel and
accommodations for candidates
interviewed.

Payments for Fees & Services:
Professional fees and expenses will be invoiced as follows:
1st Payment: 1/3 of the Recruitment Fee (invoice sent upon acceptance of our proposal).
2nd Payment: 1/3 of the Recruitment Fee and expenses incurred to date (invoice sent following the
recommendation of candidates).
Final Payment: 1/3 of the Recruitment Fee and all remaining expenses (invoice sent after recruitment is
completed).
Recruitment expenses will be itemized in detail. Payment of invoices is due within thirty (30) days of
receipt.
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Guarantee – Full Scope Recruitment

GovHR Guarantee
GovHR is committed to assisting our clients until a candidate is appointed to the position. Therefore, no
additional professional fee will be incurred if the client does not make a selection from the initial group
of recommended candidates and requests additional candidates be developed for interview
consideration. If additional advertising beyond the Phase I advertising is requested, client will be billed for
actual advertising charges. Reimbursable expenses may be incurred should the recruitment process
require consultant travel to the Client.
Upon appointment of a candidate, GovHR provides the following guarantee: should the selected and
appointed candidate, at the request of the client or the employee’s own determination, leave the employ
of the client within the first 12 months of appointment, we will, if desired, conduct one additional
recruitment for the cost of expenses and advertisements only. This request must be made within six
months of the employee’s departure.

Why Choose GovHR?
 We are a leader in the field of local government recruitment and selection with experience in
more than 38 states, in communities ranging in population from 1,000 to 1,000,000. More than
28% of our clients are repeat clients showing a high level of satisfaction with our work. We
encourage you to call any of our previous clients.
 We are committed to bringing a diverse pool of candidates to your recruitment process. We
network extensively with state, city and county management associations, attending more than
20 state and national conferences each year. In addition, we support and attend the meetings of
League of Women in Government, the Local Government Hispanic Network, National Forum for
Black Public Administrators and Engaging Local Government Leaders.
 We conduct comprehensive due diligence on candidates. Before we recommend a candidate to
you, we will have interviewed them via video, conducted reference calls, and news media and
social media searches. Our knowledge of local government ensures that we can ask probing
questions that will verify their expertise.
 We are your partners in this important process. You are welcome to review all the resumes we
receive and we will share our honest assessment of the candidates.
 Our goal is your complete satisfaction. We are committed to working with you until you find the
candidate that is the best fit for your position.
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Signature Page

We believe we have provided you with a comprehensive proposal; however, if you would like a service
that you do not see in our proposal, please let us know. We can most likely accommodate your request.
This proposal will remain in effect for a period of six months from the date of the proposal. We look
forward to working with you on this recruitment and selection process!
City of Westminster, Maryland agrees to retain GovHR USA, LLC (“GovHR”) to conduct a City Administrator
Recruitment in accordance with its proposal dated February 11, 2021. The terms of the proposal are
incorporated herein and shall become a part of this contract.
ACCEPTED:
City of Westminster, Maryland
By: ____________________________________
Title: __________________________________
Date: __________________________________
Billing Contact: __________________________
Billing Contact Email: _____________________
GovHR USA, LLC
By: ____________________________________
Title: ___________________________________
Date: ___________________________________
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Optional Services
GovTemps USA
Need an Interim? GovTempsUSA, a subsidiary of GovHR USA, specializes in the temporary placement of
positions in local government. The firm offers short-term assignments, in addition to long-term and
outsourced arrangements. Our placement professionals at GovTempsUSA have typically enjoyed
distinguished careers in local government and displayed a commitment to public service throughout their
career.

Recorded One-Way Video Interview of Candidates
Candidates we recommend for your consideration can complete a one way video interview with 3 to 5
questions that will be recorded and which you can review electronically at your convenience. This can
occur prior to making your decision on which candidates to invite for an interview. Cost $100 per
candidate.

Leadership/Personality Testing
GovHR has experience working with a wide variety of leadership and personality assessment tools,
depending on the qualities and experiences the client is seeking in their candidates. These include but
are not limited to Luminaspark, Caliper, DISC and others. Depending on the evaluation type selected
fees can range between $100 to $500 per candidate.

360° Evaluation
As a service to the Client, we offer the option to provide you with a proposal for a 360° performance
evaluation for the appointed position at six months into his or her employment. This evaluation will
include seeking feedback from both elected officials and department directors, along with any other
stakeholder the Client feels would be relevant and beneficial. This input will be obtained on a confidential
basis with comments known only to the consultant. If you are interested in this option, GovHR will prepare
a proposal for this service.
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LEE SZYMBORSKI
Lee Szymborski is a Senior Vice President with GovHR USA, working on both executive search and
general management consulting assignments. He has more than 33 years of experience in local
government administration.

Mr. Szymborski’s experience spans both Wisconsin and Illinois communities. Mr. Szymborski served more than 15 years as City Administrator
in Mequon, Wisconsin. Mequon is a full service city with $30 million in combined budgets, and more than 170 employees serving 23,000
residents. He also worked for the City of Wauwatosa and Milwaukee County. In Illinois, he served for 12 years as Assistant Village Manager
in Buffalo Grove.
Mr. Szymborski’s track record points to a results-oriented approach to municipal government management. That is demonstrated by his
work including the purchase of a $14 M private water utility that has seen its customer base increase under city ownership (Mequon);
reorganizing city departments and reducing workforce costs in an organizationally sensitive manner (Mequon); spearheading a 10community oversight committee to secure the startup of commuter rail service (Metra) on the WI Central railway (Buffalo Grove); and repurposing TIF funds to provide incentives that secured a $16 M mixed-use development in Mequon’s Town Center. He is additionally skilled
in budgeting, personnel administration, community engagement efforts and strategic planning.
Lee’s experience in recruiting key staff extends back to his management roles in both Buffalo Grove and Mequon. In Buffalo Grove, he
handled all aspects of recruiting the management team. During his time in Mequon, Mr. Szymborski recruited all members of the City’s
management team.
His recent searches include City Manager, City Administrator and department head positions for communities throughout the Midwest and
East Coast. He has done management studies and strategic plans for several Wisconsin, Illinois and Missouri communities, professional
associations and councils of government. He has also been part of GovHR USA’s classification and compensation studies in several Wisconsin,
Illinois, Minnesota and Massachusetts communities.

PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

MEMBERSHIPS AND AFFILIATIONS

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Master of Science degree in Urban Affairs, University of
Wisconsin - Milwaukee
Bachelor of Arts in Political Science, University of Wisconsin –
Milwaukee

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND
SPEAKING ENGAGEMENTS
•
•
•

Speaker at state City Management Association meetings in
Wisconsin, Illinois and Missouri
Former Adjunct Instructor at Upper Iowa University Milwaukee Center and Concordia University Wisconsin
Published articles in Public Management Magazine, Milwaukee
Journal Sentinel

•

Mequon Police and Fire Commission
Mequon-Thiensville Sunrise Rotary Club
Board of Directors for the Mequon Nature Preserve
International City/County Management Association
Wisconsin City/County Management Association
Former President Illinois Association of Municipal Management
Assistants
Former President Mequon-Thiensville Sunrise Rotary Club

PROFESSIONAL BACKGROUND
Over 33 Years of Experience in Local Government Administration
• City Administrator, Mequon, WI
1999-2014
• Assistant Village Manager, Buffalo Grove, IL
1987-1999
• Milwaukee County and City of Wauwatosa, WI 1980-1986

AWARDS
•

Mequon – Thiensville Chamber of Commerce’s Distinguished
Service Award
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MICHAEL A. JAILLET
Michael A Jaillet is a Vice President for GovHR USA. Mr. Jaillet has extensive experience in local
governance, operations, staffing and management domestically and internationally.

Mr. Jaillet has over 36 years of local government management experience working in four municipalities in the Boston metropolitan
area. He spent most of his career in Westwood Massachusetts, an affluent suburban community where he served as the Town
Administrator for 32 years. Over his tenure he had a range of accomplishments including continuing expansion and updating of services,
hiring key executive staff, facility management and maintenance, expanding affordable housing opportunities, fostering economic
development, enhancing fiscal stability and promoting transparent and ethical governance. Mr. Jaillet also served as Bellingham
Massachusetts’ first Administrator for two years, a manager and consultant to the City of Boston Assessing Department over five years, and
Planning Analyst for Clinton Massachusetts for one year.
Mr. Jaillet has extensive international experience and interest. After graduating from college, Mr. Jaillet started his career as a Peace Corps
Volunteer in Tougan Sous-Prefecture in Burkina Faso, West Africa where he was a Rural Development Planner and Grantsman for two
years. Mr. Jaillet has continued his interest in international development as a member, chair and vice chair of the International City/County
Management Association’s (ICMA) International Committee for 20 years. Examples of Mr. Jaillet’s International work includes leader of the
Advance Team Montenegro Resource City Program, Economic Development Expert volunteer for the Engine ICMA Program in Kyela
Tanzania, CLAIR Fellowship Exchange Delegate representing the ICMA in Japan, Massachusetts Municipal Association Exchange Delegate in
Pakistan, Rotary International District 7910 Delegate in KwaZulu Natal South Africa, presenter on Citizen Participation in Sweden and
Slovakia, on Economic Development in Jamaica, and on Ethics in Mexico.
Mr. Jaillet earned a Master of Arts Degree in Economics and a Master of Science in Urban Affairs and Policy Analysis from Southern Illinois
University in Edwardsville, Illinois where he served as a Research Assistant (2) and Marketing Analyst and was awarded the Leo Cohen Award
in Urban Management. He earned a Bachelor of Arts Degree in Political Science from Southeastern Massachusetts University in Dartmouth,
Massachusetts. Mr. Jaillet taught a graduate course in Administrative Strategies for Local Government at the Sawyer School of Management
at Suffolk University in Boston and courses in Economics at Framingham State College, Blackburn College in Carlinville, and Southern Illinois
University in Edwardsville, where he was nominated for the Teaching Excellence Award.

PROFESSIONAL EDUCATION

MEMBERSHIPS AND AFFILIATIONS

•
•

•
•
•

•

Master of Arts in Economics from Southern Illinois University
Master of Science in Urban Affairs and Policy Analysis from
Southern Illinois University
Bachelor of Arts in Political Science from Southeastern
Massachusetts University

PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT AND
SPEAKING ENGAGEMENTS
•
•
•
•

Administrative Strategies for Local Government, Suffolk
University, Boston, MA (Instructor)
Economics, Framingham State College, (Instructor)
Economics, Blackburn College, Carlinville (Instructor)
Economics, Southern Illinois University, Edwardsville, IL
(Instructor/Analyst)

International City/County Management Association
Massachusetts Municipal Management Association
Massachusetts Municipal Association

PROFESSIONAL BACKGROUND
•
•
•

Town Administrator, Westwood, MA
Town Administrator, Bellingham, MA
Manager and Consultant, City of Boston
Assessing Department, Boston, MA
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1985 - 1987
1983 - 1988
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City Management Recruitment Client List
TYPE

STATE

CLIENT

POSITION

City Management Alaska

Bethel

City Manager

Homer
Seward
Unalaska
Eagle
Englewood
Cheshire
East Hampton
Enfield

City Manager (Professional Outreach)
City Manager
City Manager
Town Manager
City Manager
Town Manager
Town Manager
Town Manager

Meriden
Newark
Lakeland
Largo
Palm Beach
Decatur

Crest Hill
Decatur

City Manager
City Manager
City Manager
Assistant City Manager
Assistant City Manager
Assistant City Manager
City Manager
Village Manager
Village Manager
Village Manager
Village Manager
City Manager
Village Manager
City Manager
Village Administrator
City Manager
Village Administrator
Village Manager
City Administrator
City Manager

DeKalb

Deputy City Manager
City Manager

Dixon
East Moline

City Manager
City Administrator

East Peoria
Effingham

City Administrator
City Administrator

Elmhurst

City Manager

Colorado
Connecticut

Delaware
Florida
Georgia
Illinois

Algonquin
Arlington Heights
Barrington
Bensenville
Bloomington
Buffalo Grove
Carbondale
Cary
Centralia
Clarendon Hills
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OPULATION YEAR
6,500

2019

5,300
2,693
4,768
6,739
34,957
29,261
13,000
45,246

2019
2019
2017
2017
2019
2017
2019
2015
2018
2020
2018
2018
2020
2018
2021
2018
2018
2012
2014
2018
2015
2018
2010
2011
2011
2020
2014
2010
2015
2014
2018
2019
2013
2018
2015
2011
2016
2016
2010
2018
2010

60,838
33,398
110,000
82,244
85,933
25,000
25,000
30,947
75,525
10,455
20,703
78,005
42,909
25,092
18,713
13,000
8,572
8,572
20,837
76,178
76,178
44,862
43,849
18,601
21,300
23,503
12,384
12,577
43,300

City Management Recruitment Client List
TYPE
STATE
City Management Illinois

CLIENT
Fox Lake
Freeport
Galesburg
Geneseo
Glen Ellyn
Glencoe
Hanover Park
Highland Park
Hinsdale
Homer Glen
Homewood
Inverness
Joliet
Kenilworth
La Grange
La Grange
La Grange Park
Lake Bluff
Lake Forest
Lake Villa
Lake Zurich
Libertyville
Lincoln

Lincolnshire
Lindenhurst
Lombard
Marengo
Mettawa
Mokena
Moline
Monmouth
Morton Grove
Mt. Prospect
Mundelein
New Lenox
Normal
Oak Brook

POSITION
OPULATION YEAR
Village Administrator
10,550
2013
City Manager
25,000
2017
City Manager
33,706
2010
City Administrator (Virtual)
6,500
2019
Assistant Village Manager
27,000
2013
Village Manager
27,000
2010
Assistant Village Manager
8,723
2015
Village Manager
8,723
2013
Village Manager
38,510
2012
City Manager
31,365
2011
Village Manager
16,816
2013
Village Manager
24,220
2011
Assistant Village Manager (Virtual)
19,464
2017
Village Administrator
7,400
2013
City Manager
147,500
2013
2017
Village Manager
2,562
2012
Assistant Village Manager (Virtual)
15,732
2017
Village Manager
15,732
2017
Assistant Village Manager
13,579
2020
Assistant to the Village Manager
5,700
2016
City Manager
19,375
2018
Village Administrator
8,774
2013
Village Manager
19,631
2015
Village Manager
20,431
2016
City Administrator
14,500
2014
Assistant Village
Manager/Community Development
Director
7,500
2016
Village Manager
7,500
2012
Village Administrator
14,468
2017
Village Manager
43,165
2013
City Administrator
7,614
2011
Part-time Village Administrator
500
2010
Village Administrator
19,042
2015
City Administrator
43,100
2017
City Administrator
9,444
2014
Village Administrator
23,500
2011
Village Manager
54,771
2015
Village Administrator
31,385
2020
Village Administrator
25,000
2011
City Manager
54,264
2017
Village Manager
7,883
2014

630 Dundee Road, Suite 130 Northbrook, IL 60062
847.380.3240 Fax: 866.401-3100
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City Management Recruitment Client List
TYPE

STATE

City Management Illinois

CLIENT
Oak Park
Orland Park

POSITION
Assistant Village Manager/Human
Resources Director
Village Manager

Pekin
Pingree Grove
Princeton
Princeton
River Forest
Rock Island
Savoy
Schiller Park
Shorewood
Skokie
Tinley Park
Vernon Hills
Volo
Washington
Wauconda

City Manager
Village Manager
City Manager
City Manager
Villlage Administrator
City Manager
Village Administrator (Virtual)
Village Manager
Village Administrator
Village Manager
Village Manager
Village Manager
Village Administrator
City Administrator
Village Administrator

Willowbrook
Village Administrator
Winnetka
Assistant Village Manager
Woodridge
Village Administrator
Wynstone Property Owners Asso General Manager
Munster
Town Manager
Indiana
Town Manager (Professional
Outreach)
St. John
Bondurant
City Administrator
Iowa
Burlington
City Manager
Muscatine
City Administrator
Newton
City Administrator
Washington
City Administrator
Webster City
City Manager
West Liberty
City Manager
Windsor Heights
City Administrator
Greenbelt
City Manager
Maryland
Hagerstown
City Administrator
Sykesville
Town Manager
Cambridge
City
Manager
Massachusetts
Eastham
Town Administrator
Provincetown
Town Manager
Williamstown
Town Manager
Adrian
City Administrator
Michigan
Albion
City Manager
630 Dundee Road, Suite 130 Northbrook, IL 60062
847.380.3240 Fax: 866.401-3100
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OPULATION YEAR
52,000
60,000

8,967
12,422
32,971
1,500
23,603

2019
2016
2019
2016
2020
2011
2019
2010
2011
2020
2015
2018
2013
2013
2021
2013
2015
2013
2017
2019
2019
2017
2020
2014

18,047
5,493
25,663
23,819
15,000
7,266
8,000
3,736
4,860
23,753
40,612
3,941
110,000
4,956
2,990
8,400
20,676
8,337

2020
2017
2011
2020
2016
2011
2016
2013
2019
2016
2015
2019
2016
2016
2015
2015
2018
2018

33,223
10,000
7,700
7,700
11,635
39,684
8,607
11,870
17,495
65,000
58,000
25,911
3,300
15,700
13,758

City Management Recruitment Client List
TYPE
STATE
City Management Michigan

CLIENT
Alpena
Caro
Charlotte
Delta Charter Township
Eastpointe
Ferndale
Hamtramck
Kalamazoo
Lincoln Park
Oakland Township

POSITION
City Manager
City Manager
City Manager
Township Manager
City Manager
City Manager
City Manager
City Manager
City Manager
Township Manager

Rochester
Royal Oak
Troy

North Carolina Fayetteville

City Manager
City Manager
Assistant City Manager
City Manager
City Administrator
Assistant City Administrator
City Administrator
City Manager
City Manager
City Administrator
City Administrator
City Manager
Assistant City Manager
City Manager
Assistant to the City
Manager/Communications Director
Assistant to the City
Manager/Director of Human
Resources
City Manager
City Administrator
City Manager
City Manager
City Manager
Borough Administrator
Town Administrator
Village Manager
Assistant City Manager

North Dakota
Ohio
Pennsylvania

City Manager
City Manager
Township Manager

Minnesota
Missouri

Waconia
Woodbury
Ballwin
Cape Girardeau
Ferguson
Maryland Heights
Republic
South Lyon
University City

Webster Groves
Wildwood
Nevada
Boulder City
New Hampshire Portsmouth
Waldwick
New Jersey
Mamaroneck
New York

Minot
Oberlin
Ferguson Township

630 Dundee Road, Suite 130 Northbrook, IL 60062
847.380.3240 Fax: 866.401-3100
GovHRusa.com
192

OPULATION YEAR
10,410
2012
4,208
2012
9,100
2020
32,400
2014
32,673
2019
20,428
2019
21,752
2017
75,000
2013
36,665
2019
16,779
2013
2018
19,132
13,000
2015
59,112
2019
83,813
2019
83,813
2018
13,500
2021
68,820
2017
30,181
2020
38,000
2020
21,111
2015
27,436
2015
15,590
2016
11,327
2018
35,172
2020
35,172
2017
35,172

2018

35,172
22,800
35,517
35,524
16,207
21,796
9,800
29,156
19,426
210,000

2020
2020
2014
2019
2021
2019
2015
2021
2018
2012
2017
2018
2020
2016
2017

45,700
8,390
18,300

City Management Recruitment Client List
TYPE
STATE
City Management Pennsylvania
Rhode Island
Texas

Virginia

West Virginia
Wisconsin

CLIENT
Mt. Lebanon
South Fayette Township
North Kingston
Burleson

POSITION
Municipal Manager
Township Manager
Town Manager
City Manager

Garland
McKinney
Missouri City
Chesapeake
Portsmouth
Salem
Virginia Beach
Bridgeport
Morgantown
Baraboo
Bayside
Bellevue
Beloit
Beloit (Town)
Brown Deer
Burlington
Cedarburg
Fon du Lac
Fort Atkinson
Franklin
Glendale
Hartford
Hobart
Janesville
Lake Geneva
Lisbon
Monroe
Oak Creek
Plymouth

Assistant City Manager
Assistant City Manager
Assistant City Manager
City Manager
City Manager
City Manager
City Manager
City Manager
City Manager
City Administrator
Assistant Village Manager
Village Administrator
City Manager
Town Administrator
Village Manager
City Administrator
Town Administrator
City Manager
City Manager
Director of Administation
City Administrator
City Administrator
Village Administrator
City Manager
City Administrator
Town Adminstrator/Clerk
City Administrator
City Administrator
Director of City Services

Prairie du Chien
Princeton
Racine
Rhinelander
Richfield
Rome
Shorewood
Waukesha

City Administrator/Utilities Manager
City Administrator
City Administrator
City Administrator
City Administrator
Village Administrator
Town Administrator
Village Manager
City Administrator

630 Dundee Road, Suite 130 Northbrook, IL 60062
847.380.3240 Fax: 866.401-3100
GovHRusa.com
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OPULATION YEAR
33,137
2015
14,416
2018
26,326
2015
36,990
2011
43,960
2018
233,206
2016
191,645
2019
74,139
2019
245,000
2019
96,000
2020
25,643
2019
442,707
2019
8,582
2019
31,000
2016
12,048
2019
4,400
2019
15,524
2018
36,966
2015
7,083
2016
12,061
2012
10,511
2014
11,475
2015
43,021
2012
12,300
2012
36,155
2019
12,920
2016
14,251
2015
8,500
2016
63,480
2013
7,710
2015
2,521
2014
10,827
2020
35,243
2016
8,540
2010
8,540
5,900
1,504
78,200
7,800
11,500
2,720
13,331
71,000

2020
2017
2010
2016
2018
2009
2016
2017
2012

City Management Recruitment Client List
TYPE
STATE
City Management Wisconsin

CLIENT
Waukesha
West Bend
Whitewater

POSITION
City Administrator
City Administrator
City Manager

630 Dundee Road, Suite 130 Northbrook, IL 60062
847.380.3240 Fax: 866.401-3100
GovHRusa.com
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OPULATION YEAR
71,000
2014
31,000
2016
14,300
2012

Ordinance No. 932 – Disposition of Winters Lot

To:

Mayor and Common Council

From: Barbara B. Matthews, City Administrator
Date:

March 1, 2021

Re:

Ordinance No. 932 – Authorizing Disposition of Winters Lot and Execution of Purchase Agreement

Background
For many years, the City has leased space at 56 West Main Street for its administrative offices. While the
building is owned by Winchester West, L.L.C., the adjacent parking lot at the corner of Main Street and
Bond Street (the Winters Lot) is owned by the City of Westminster.
On July 31, 2018, the City renewed its lease for office space at 56 West Main Street. Section 11 of the
lease, a copy of which is attached, provides for the City’s sale of the Winters Lot to Winchester West, L.L.C.
upon the expiration of the lease agreement. The stated sale price is $120,000.
In the near future, the City will relocate its administrative offices to 45 West Main Street. Ordinance No.
932 provides for the disposition of the Winters Lot, and authorizes the Mayor’s execution of the associated
Purchase Contract in substantially the same form as the attached. The terms of the Purchase Contract
include a 45-day study period by Winchester West, L.L.C.
The Common Council introduced Ordinance No. 932 on February 22, 2021.
Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Common Council adopt Ordinance No. 932.
Attachments
• Ordinance No. 932, including associated attachments
• Lease Agreement for 56 West Main Street
cc: Lydia Colston, Director of Finance
Elissa D. Levan, City Attorney
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ORDINANCE NO. 932
AN ORDINANCE OF THE MAYOR AND COMMON COUNCIL OF WESTMINSTER
AUTHORIZING THE DISPOSITION OF CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY KNOWN AS THE
“WINTERS LOT”, LOCATED AT THE NORTHERN QUADRANT OF THE
INTERSECTION OF WEST MAIN STREET AND JOHN STREET, WESTMINSTER,
MARYLAND 21157, CONSISTING OF LOTS 1297 AND 1298, COMPRISING
COLLECTIVELY 10, 714 SQ. FT., AND IMPROVED WITH A PARKING LOT
WHEREAS, pursuant to Md. Code Ann., Local Gov’t. Article, § 5-202, the Mayor and Common
Council of Westminster (“the City”) has the authority to pass such ordinances as it deems necessary to assure
the good government of the City; protect and preserve the City’s rights, property, and privileges; and preserve
peace and good order; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to § 12 of the City Charter, the Common Council is authorized to purchase and
hold real, personal and mixed property for the use and benefit of the municipal corporation, and may convey
and dispose of the same or any part thereof, and may receive property by gift, devise or deed, in trust for any
municipal object; and
WHEREAS, the City owns certain property, improved with a parking lot, commonly known as the
“Winters Lot”, comprising Parcel 1297, conveyed to it by Deed dated July 15, 1970, from the Davis Library
Company, recorded among the Land Records of Carroll County, at Liber 472, Folio 451, also described as
Tax Map 104, Grid 9, Parcels 1297, and Parcel 1298, conveyed to it by Deed dated July 30, 1976, from Popi
Amprazes, recorded among the Land Records of Carroll County, at Liber 633, Folio 550, also described as
Tax Map 104, Grid 9, Parcels 1298; and
WHEREAS, the Winter’s Lot is located immediately to the south of and adjacent to the office
building at 56 West Main Street, known as Winchester West, which is owned by Winchester West, L.L.C.;
and
WHEREAS, the City has for several years maintained its administrative offices in Winchester West,
and the Winters Lot has provided parking to City employees and persons transacting business with the City
at its administrative offices; and

196

WHEREAS, as the City has purchased and is renovating a building at 45 West Main Street intended
to serve as its permanent administrative officers, the City will no longer have need of Winters Lot for parking
for employees and persons doing business with the City after the renovations to the newly acquired building
are finished and the City moves its operations, which is anticipated to occur before May 31, 2021; and
WHEREAS, the City wishes to convey the Winters Lot to Winchester West, L.L.C., and Winchester
West, L.L.C. wishes to purchase the Winters Lot for a sales price of One Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars
($120,000.00) upon the terms and conditions set forth in a proposed Purchase Contract, attached hereto as
Exhibit 1; and
WHEREAS, the Mayor and Common Council deem the sale of Winters Lot to Winchester West,
L.L.C., and the realization of funds as a consequence of said sale to be useful to the government of the City
and a public good.
Section 1.

BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Common Council of Westminster that,

provided that the Purchase Contract is executed by all parties no later than March 15, 2021, and that all of
the conditions and prerequisites to Closing set forth in the Purchase Contract are met, the Mayor is authorized
to take all actions necessary to transfer the Winters Lot, in exchange for the required consideration, to
Winchester West, L.L.C.
Section 2

BE IT FURTHER ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COMMON COUNCIL OF

WESTMINSTER that this Ordinance shall take effect ten (10) days after the date of its passage and approval,
unless it is returned unsigned by the Mayor at the next meeting of The Mayor and Common Council, together
with the Mayor’s reasons for withholding his signature therefrom, and is not passed thereafter by the votes
of four-fifths of the members of the Common Council, and further provided that it is posted after adoption
for not less than two (2) weeks in some conspicuous location in the City Hall and recorded in a book provided
for that purpose.
INTRODUCED this _____ day of February, 2021

Shannon Visocsky, City Clerk
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PASSED this _____ day of March, 2021

Shannon Visocsky, City Clerk

APPROVED this _____ day of March, 2021

Joe Dominick, Mayor

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND SUFFICIENCY
this ____ day of March, 2021:
______________________________
Elissa D. Levan, City Attorney
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LEASE AGREEMENT
This Lease Agreement ("Lease") is made as of the

.3l'S-I-

day�' 2018 for a term

commencing August 1, 2018, by and between Winchester West, LLC, a MarylQd limited liability
company ("Landlord") and the Mayor and Common Council of Westminster ("Tenant").
WHEREAS, Landlord is the Owner of land and improvements commonly known and
numbered as 56 W. Main Street, Westminster, Maryland, 21157 (the structure located thereon to be
designated hereinafter as "the Building"); and
WHEREAS, pursuant to a Lease dated March 12, 2012 between Landlord and Tenant, as
amended by an Amendment to Lease dated May, 2015, a Letter Agreement dated March 26, 2018,
and a Letter Agreement dated April 30, 2018 (collectively, the "Prior Lease"), Tenant leased a portion
of the Building, consisting of the entire 1st floor of the Building and including the basement storage
space currently in use by the Tenant, and an additional 3,248 (2,900 useable) square feet of "as is"
contiguous office space on the 2nd floor of the Building as shown in the floor diagram attached hereto
as Exhibit "A", (the "Premises"); and
WHEREAS, the Prior Lease term expires on July 31, 2018; and
WHEREAS, Landlord desires to lease the Premises to Tenant, and Tenant desires to lease the
Premises from Landlord for the term, at the rental and upon the covenants, conditions and provisions
herein set forth.
THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein contained, and other good and
valuable consideration, it is agreed:
1.

Term.
A.

Landlord hereby leases the Leased Premises to Tenant, and Tenant hereby leases the

same from Landlord, for an "Initial Term" beginning August 1, 2018 ("Effective Date") and ending
September 30, 2019.

1
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B.

Tenant shall have the option to extend the term of this Lease for an additional period

of between three (3) and twelve (12) months beginning October 1, 2019 (the "Additional Term"), if
Tenant gives written notice (the "Extension Notice") that it is exercising this option to Landlord on
or prior to twelve (12) months before the end of the Additional Term for which the notice is being
given, and such Extension Notice shall state the exact length (between three and twelve months) of
the Additional Term. As an example, if Tenant wishes to extend the term of this Lease for an
Additional Term of five (5) months such that the Additional Term would expire on February 29, 2020,
then Tenant must give the Extension Notice on or before February 28, 2019. Time is agreed to be of
the essence with respect to this notice requirement. Tenant shall not have the option to extend the
term of this Lease Agreement with respect to less than all of the Premises.
2.

Rental.

As of the Effective Date, the Monthly Rent payable for the Premises shall be as follows:
Lease Period

Monthly
Base Rent

8/1/18-8/31/18
9/1/18-9/30/18
10/1/18-10/31/18
11/1/18-11/30/18
12/1/18 -12/31/18
1/1/19-1/31/19
2/1/19-2/28/19
3/1/19-3/31/19
4/1/19-4/30/19
5/1/19-5/31/19
6/1/19-6/30/19
7/1/19-7/31/19
8/1/19 - 8/31/19
9/1/19-9/30/19
10/1/19-10/31/19*
11/1/19-11/30/19*
12/1/19-12/31/19*
1/1/20-1/31/20*
2/1/20-2/28/20*
3/1/20-3/31/20*
4/1/20 - 4/30/20*
5/1/20 - 5/31/20*

$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,000.00
$14,300.00
$14,300.00
$14,300.00
$14,300.00
$14,300.00
$14,300.00
$14,300.00
$14,300.00
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6/1/20 - 6/30/20*
7/1/20 - 7/31/20*
8/1/20 - 8/31/20*
9/1/20 - 9/30/20*

$14,300.00
$14,300.00
$14,300.00
$14,300.00

(* - If Tenant Exercises Option to Extend pursuant to Section 1 above)
Said Monthly Rent shall be payable without demand in advance on the first day of each
calendar month. Tenant shall not be responsible for any Common Area Maintenance fees.
3.

Uses permitted.
Tenant shall use the Premises for general office space, including the regular functions of

municipal government administration, and file storage, and not for the purposes of storing,
manufacturing or selling any explosives, flammables or other inherently dangerous substance,
chemical, thing or device.
4.

Sublease and Assignment.
Tenant shall not sublease all or any part of the Premises, or assign this Lease in whole or in

part, without Landlord's consent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.
5.

Repairs.
During the Lease term, Landlord shall make, at Landlord's expense, all necessary repairs to

the Premises except those caused by the negligence or misuse of the Premises by Tenant, its agents
or invitees. Repairs shall include such items as floors, walls, ceilings, major mechanical systems, roof,
and other structural components of the facility, subject to the obligations of the parties otherwise set
forth in this Lease. Landlord's repair obligations shall not include replacing carpet, painting, making
upgrades to the Leased Premises, or addressing damage due to ordinary wear and tear.
6.

Alterations and Improvements.

A.

Tenant, at Tenant's expense, shall have the right, following Landlord's consent, to remodel,

redecorate, and make additions, improvements, and replacements of and to all or any part of the
Premises from time to time as Tenant may deem desirable, provided the same are made in a

3
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workmanlike manner and utilizing good quality materials. Tenant shall have the right to place and
install personal property, trade fixtures, equipment, and other temporary installations in and upon the
Premises, and fasten the same to the Premises. All personal property, equipment, machinery, trade
fixtures, and temporary installations, whether acquired by Tenant at the commencement of the Lease
term or placed or installed on the Premises by Tenant thereafter, shall remain Tenant's property free
and clear ofany claim by Landlord. Tenant shall have the right to remove the same at any time during
the term of this Lease, provided that all damage to the Premises caused by such removal shall be
repaired by Tenant at Tenant's expense. Tenant shall have no obligation to remove trade fixtures or
installations upon termination of the Lease, except that Tenant shall remove, at its expense, the vault
that was installed in the first floor space and shall repair any damage to the Premises caused by such
removal.
B.

Upon termination of this Lease, Tenant shall have no obligation to repaint, repair, or replace

carpet, �r otherwise perform general maintenance activities to restore the premises to their condition
prior to the commencement of its occupancy of the Premises, except that Tenant shall make any
necessary repairs to the Premises ifthe need for such repairs is due to the negligence or misuse ofthe
Premises by Tenant, its agents or invitees.
7.

Insurance.
A.

Landlord shall maintain fire and extended coverage insurance on the Building and the

Premises in such amounts as Landlord shall deem appropriate. Landlord shall provide an "in force"
certificate of coverage to the Tenant for the term(s) of the Lease. Tenant shall be responsible, at its
expense, for fire and extended coverage insurance on all ofits personal property, including removable
trade fixtures, located in the Premises.
B.

Tenant and Landlord shall, each at its own expense, maintain a policy or policies of

comprehensive general liability insurance (or, in the case of Tenant, comprehensive public liability
insurance) with respect to the respective activities ofeach in the Building with the premiums thereon
4
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fully paid on or before due date, issued by and binding upon some insurance company approved by
Landlord, such insurance to afford minimum protection of not less than $1,000,000 combined single
limit coverage of bodily injury, property damage or combination thereof.
C.

Each party shall be listed as an additional insured on the policy or policies of insurance

required by paragraph B of this Section, and each party shall provide the other with current
Certificates of Insurance evidencing said party's compliance with this Section. Each party shall seek
to obtain the agreement of its insurer(s) to notify the other Party that a policy is due to expire at least
(10) days prior to such expiration. Landlord shall not be required to maintain insurance against thefts
within the Premises or the Building.
8.

Utilities.
Tenant shall pay all charges for gas, electricity, telephone, and internet used by Tenant on the

Premises during the term of this Lease, unless otherwise expressly agreed in writing by Landlord. In
the event that any utility or service provided to the Premises is not separately metered, Landlord shall
pay the amount due and separately invoice Tenant for Tenant's pro rata share of the charges. Tenant
shall pay such amounts within thirty (30) days of invoice. Tenant acknowledges that the Premises are
designed to provide standard office use electrical facilities and standard office lighting. Tenant shall
not use any equipment or devices that utilize excessive electrical energy or which may, in Landlord's
reasonable opinion, overload the wiring or interfere with electrical services to other tenants. Charges
for water and sewer shall be paid as provided in Section 26 hereof.
9.

Signs.
Tenant may retain through the termination of the Lease those signs constructed or installed

prior to the commencement of this Lease. Following Landlord's consent, Tenant shall have the right
to place on the Premises, at locations selected by Tenant, any additional signs which are permitted by
applicable zoning ordinances and private restrictions. Landlord may refuse consent to any proposed
signage that is in Landlord's opinion too large, deceptive, unattractive, or otherwise inconsistent with
5
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or inappropriate to the Premises or use of any other tenant. Tenant shall repair all damage to the
Premises resulting from the removal of signs installed by Tenant.
10.

Entry.
Landlord shall have the right to enter upon the Premises at reasonable hours to inspect the

same, provided Landlord shall not thereby unreasonably interfere with Tenant's business on the
Premises.
11.

Parking.
During the term of this Lease, Tenant shall have the non-exclusive use in common with

Landlord, other tenants of the Building, their guests and invitees, of any non-reserved/metered
common automobile parking areas in the front of the Building ("the Parking Lot"), subject to rules
and regulations for the use thereof as prescribed from time to time by Landlord. Tenant shall not have
any rights to park in the unmetered lot located adjacent to the side of the Building. The Parking Lot,
which is more particularly described in Exhibit "B", is owned by the Tenant. At the time of the
expiration of this Lease, unless the Lease is terminated over Tenant's objection prior to its stated
expiration date by the Landlord and not as a result of Tenant's default, Tenant shall sell the Parking
Lot to Landlord for the amount of $120,000.00 in accordance with the terms of any purchase and sale
agreement contemplated by the Letter of Intent by and between Landlord and Tenant, and executed
on or about the date hereof Nothing in this paragraph is intended to give the Landlord a right of early
termination of this Lease for which this Lease does not otherwise provide.
12.

Building Rules.
Tenant will comply with the rules of the Building adopted and altered by Landlord from time

to time and will cause all of its agents, employees, invitees, and visitors to do so; all changes to such
rules will be sent by Landlord to Tenant in writing. The initial rules for the Building are attached
hereto as Exhibit "C" and incorporated herein for all purposes.
13.

Damage and Destruction.

6
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A.

Subject to Section 7.A. ("Insurance") above, if the Premises or any part thereof or any

appurtenance thereto is so damaged by fire, or other casualty such that the Premises cannot, in the
Tenant's reasonable determination, be occupied by Tenant for the conduct of its operations, and if
such damage shall be so great that the Premises, with the exercise of reasonable diligence, cannot be
made fit for occupancy within one hundred twenty (120) days from the date of such occurrence, then
either Landlord or Tenant shall have the right within thirty (30) days following damage to elect by
notice to the other party to terminate this Lease as of the date of such damage. Landlord and Tenant
shall cooperate in promptly making the evaluation of the extent of damage, and the feasibility of
repairing the damage within one hundred twenty (120) days, and shall work together to assure that
any necessary repair work is completed as soon as practicable under the circumstances. If this Lease
is not terminated as herein provided, or in the event of minor damage to any part of the Premises, and
such damage does not render the Premises unusable for Tenant's operations, Landlord shall promptly
repair such damage at the cost of the Landlord, except that any repairs made to Tenant's additions,
improvements, or other alterations to the Leased Premises shall be made at the expense of Tenant. In
making the repairs called for in this paragraph, Landlord shall not be liable for any delays resulting
from strikes, governmental restrictions, inability to obtain necessary materials or labor or other
matters which are beyond the reasonable control of Landlord.
B.

During any portion of the Lease term that the Premises are inoperable or unfit for

occupancy, or use, in whole or in part, for Tenant's purposes as a result of a fire or other casualty, the
Rent shall be abated on a prorated basis (based on the loss of functionality of the Premises) until the
Premises shall once again be wholly tenantable. Rentals and other charges paid in advance for any
such periods shall be credited on the next ensuing payments, if any, but if no further payments are to
be made, any such advance payments shall be refunded to Tenant. The rent abatement provisions of
this paragraph shall apply also to any interruption of Essential Services (defined as elevator service,
electricity, HVAC, sewer, water, and air quality) that (i) continues for seven (7) consecutive business
7
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days, (ii) was not caused by Tenant, (iii) the repair of which is within Landlord's reasonable control,
and (iv) which renders the Premises, or any appurtenance thereto, inoperable or unfit for occupancy
or use, in whole or in material part, for Tenant's purposes.
14.

Default.
If default shall at any time be made by Tenant in the payment of rent when due to Landlord

as herein provided, and if said default shall continue for fifteen (15) days after written notice thereof
shall have been given to Tenant by Landlord, or if default shall be made in any of the other covenants
or conditions to be kept, observed, and performed by Tenant, and such default shall continue for thirty
(30) days after notice thereof in writing to Tenant by Landlord without correction thereof then
having been commenced and thereafter diligently prosecuted,

Landlord may, at its option and

without further notice to Tenant, utilize any one or more of the following rights:
(a)

to cancel and terminate this Lease and all interest of the Tenant hereunder by giving

notice of such cancellation and termination not less than ten (10) days prior to the effective date of
such termination. Upon the expiration of said ten (10) day period, the Tenant shall have no further
rights under this Lease (but such cancellation shall not serve to release or discharge the damages
Tenant owes to Landlord, said damages upon termination being calculated as set forth in Section
14(b) herein); and/or
(b)

to re-enter the Leased Premises (but such re-entry shall not serve to release or

discharge the damages Tenant owes the Landlord) upon order of court, remove the property of Tenant
and store such property in a public warehouse or such other location selected by Landlord, all at the
expense of Tenant. After such re-entry, Landlord shall have the right to terminate this Lease by giving
ten (10) days' notice of termination to Tenant, but without such notice, the re-entry by Landlord shall
not terminate this Lease. On termination, Landlord may recover from Tenant all damages resulting
from Tenant's breach; and/or
(c)

to re-let the Leased Premises or any part thereof for any term, with or without
8
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terminating the Lease, and at such rentals and on such other terms as Landlord may elect including
the right to grant free rental, and to alter and repair the Leased Premises as Landlord deems necessary.
Should Landlord re-let the Leased Premises, Tenant shall pay all expenses of re-letting including
brokers' or finders' fees and such reasonable attorneys' fees as Landlord may incur. Upon re-letting,
sums received from such new tenant by Landlord shall be applied in the following order: (i) payment
of costs incident to re-letting; (ii) payment of Rent due and unpaid; (iii) deficiency between all
amounts to be received hereunder and sums to be received by Landlord upon re-letting, which
deficiency Tenant shall pay to Landlord in full within five (5) days of notice of the same from
Landlord.; and/or
(d)

all other rights and remedies provided by law or in equity to a Landlord with a

defaulting Tenant including all such money damages as Landlord shall be entitled pursuant to the law
of damages.
(e)
15.

Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to mitigate its damages.

Quiet Possession.
Landlord covenants and warrants that upon performance by Tenant of its obligations

hereunder, Landlord will keep and maintain Tenant in exclusive, quiet, peaceable, and undisturbed
and uninterrupted possession of the Premises during the term of this Lease.
16.

Condemnation.
If any legally, constituted authority condemns the Building or such part thereof which shall

make the Premises unsuitable for leasing, this Lease shall cease when the public authority takes
possession, and Landlord and Tenant shall account for rental as of that date. Such termination shall
be without prejudice to the rights of either party to recover compensation from the condemning
authority for any loss or damage caused by the condemnation. Neither party shall have any rights in
or to any award made to the other by the condemning authority.
17.

Subordination.
9
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A.

Tenant accepts this Lease subject and subordinate to any mortgage, deed of trust, or

other lien presently existing or hereafter arising upon the Premises, or upon the Building and to any
renewals, refinancing and extensions thereof, but Tenant agrees that any such mortgagee shall have
the right at any time to subordinate such mortgage, deed of trust, or other lien to this Lease on such
terms and subject to such conditions as such mortgagee may deem appropriate in its discretion.
B.

Tenant agrees that it will from time to time upon request by Landlord execute and

deliver to such persons as Landlord shall request a statement in recordable form certifying that this
Lease is unmodified and in full force and effect (or if there have been modifications, that the same is
in full force and effect as so modified), stating the dates to which rent and other charges payable under
this Lease have been paid, stating that Landlord is not in default hereunder (or if Tenant alleges a
default stating the nature of such alleged default) and further stating such other matters as Landlord
shall reasonably require.
18.

Notices.
Any notice required or permitted under this Lease shall be deemed sufficiently given or served

if sent by United States certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed as follows:
If to Landlord:

Winchester West, LLC
c/o The Roswell LLC
One South Street, Suite 2800
Baltimore, MD 21202
Attn: Jeffrey McCormack, Vice-President

If to Tenant:

City of Westminster
56 West Main Street
Westminster, Maryland 21157
Attention: Ms. Barbara B. Matthews, City Administrator

With a copy to:

Elissa D. Levan, City Attorney
Funk & Bolton, P.A.
100 Light Street, Suite1400
Baltimore, Maryland 21202

Landlord and Tenant shall each have the right from time to time to change the place notice is to be
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given under this paragraph by written notice thereof to the other party.
19.

Waiver.
No waiver of any default of Landlord or Tenant hereunder shall be implied from any omission

to take any action on account of such default if such default persists or is repeated, and no express
waiver shall affect any default other than the default specified in the express waiver and that only for
the time and to the extent therein stated. One or more waivers by Landlord or Tenant shall not be
construed as a waiver of a subsequent breach of the same covenant, term, or condition.
20.

Successors.
The provisions of this Lease shall extend to and be binding upon Landlord and Tenant and

their respective legal representatives, successors, and assigns.
21.

Consent.
Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold or delay its consent with respect to any matter for

which Landlord's consent is required or desirable under this Lease.
22.

Performance.
If there is a default with respect to any of Landlord's covenants, warranties, or representations

under this Lease, and if the default continues more than fifteen (15) days after notice in writing from
Tenant to Landlord specifying the default, Tenant may, at its option and without affecting any other
remedy hereunder, cure such default and deduct the cost thereof from the next accruing installment
or installments of rent payable hereunder until Tenant shall have been fully reimbursed for such
expenditures, together with interest thereon at a rate equal to the lessor of twelve percent (12%) per
annum or the then highest lawful rate. If this Lease terminates prior to Tenant's receiving full
reimbursement, Landlord shall pay the unreimbursed balance plus accrued interest to Tenant on
demand.
23.

Compliance with Law.
Tenant shall comply with all laws, orders, ordinances, and other public requirements now or
11
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hereafter pertaining to Tenant's use of the Premises. Landlord shall comply with all laws, orders,
ordinances, and other public requirements now or hereafter affecting the Leased Premises. This Lease
will be governed by the laws of the State of Maryland. Any suit to enforce the terms hereof or for
damages or other remedy for breach or anticipated breach hereof shall be brought exclusively in the
courts of the State of Maryland for Carroll County and the parties expressly acknowledge that venue
is proper therein and consent to the jurisdiction thereof and waive any right that they may otherwise
have to bring such action in or transfer or remove such suit to the courts of any other jurisdiction.
24.

Broker(s).
Landlord and Tenant each represents and warrants to the other that, except for D'Anthony

Property Management, LLC ("DPM"), it has not had any dealing with any other real estate broker or
finder with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement, and agrees to hold the other harmless from
and against any and all damages, costs and expenses resulting from any claim(s) for a brokerage
commission or finder's fee that may be asserted against the other by any other broker or finder with
whom it has dealt. Landlord agrees to pay any fee that may be owed to DPM in connection with this
Agreement.
25.

Final Agreement.
This Agreement terminates and supersedes all prior understandings or agreements on the

subject matter hereof. In particular, this Agreement supersedes the Prior Lease, which shall have no
further force or effect as of the Effective Date of this Agreement. This Agreement may be modified
only by a further writing that is duly executed by both parties. By the execution of this Lease and in
consideration thereof, the parties acknowledge that any balances owed one another under the Prior
Lease, except Rent due and payable after the date hereof, are satisfied and any debt therefor is
extinguished.
26.

Water and Sewer Service.
Water and sewer service, which have heretofore been paid by the City for the entire building,
12
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will be opened or transferred into the name of Winchester West LLC ( or such other corporate entity
and Landlord may designate) upon the e ffective date hereof, but only for service dates occurring from
and after the Effective Date.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the LANDLORD and TENAt�T have hereunto set their hands and
acknowledged this Lease as their free and voluntary act and deed, as of the day and year first
hereinabove written.
Attest:

LANDLORD:
WINCHESTER WEST, LLC
By THE ROSWELL LLC, its sole member
By:

Attest:

annon Visocsky, City Cl

TENANT:
THE MAYOR AND COMMON COUNCIL OF
WESTMINSTER
By:

�

.IDo::;k,Mayor

APPROYFJ) AS TO ,fOR,M AND LEGAL SUFFICIENCY
July
k" 2018.
This 31 day of
,

Elissa D. Levan, City Attorney

13
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PROFESSIONAL CERTIFICATION:
I certify Iha! lhcsc documents were
prepared or approved by me, and
thal
I am a duly licensed architect under
the laws of the State of Maryland.
License No. 7243-A.
Expiration date: 8-21-2014.

Drrr.vinu Titb:

Dean Robert
CamlinARCHITECT
& Assoc., Inc.

Overall 2nd Floor Plan

'v"i!�'§tfninster City Offices 2nd Floor

182 East U13in S\rcel Wcs1minstcu. Maryland 21157
.. , 0-876-6900 '110-848-3939 FAX: 41 o-a 7692G0cnmlin@drcamlin.com ','N/\"1.drcomlG"l.com
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EXHIBIT B
LEGAL DESCRJPTION
MAP 104, GRJD 9, PARCELS 1297 AND 1298
PARCEL 1297
All that lot or parcel of land fronting 30 feet on West Main Street at John Street, in the
City of Westminster, Seventh Election District, Carroll County, Maryland with a uniform depth of
198 feet to an alley, containing 1/8 of an acre ofland, more or less, being the same land conveyed
unto Walter H. Davis by deed of Elias 0. Grimes and Charles L. Thomson, Administrators of
Jacob Thomson, dated June 13, 1904, and recorded among the Land Records ofCarroll County in
Liber D.P.S. No. 99, folio 543.
All that lot or parcel of land, fronting 30 feet on said Main Street, with a uniform depth of
198 feet to an alley, containing 1/8 of an acre ofland, more or less, being the same land conveyed
unto Walter 11. Davis, by deed of Rebecca Zieber and Charles W. Zieber, dated May 10, 1906,
and recorded among the Land Records aforesaid in Liber D.P.S. No. 104, folio 153.
All that lot or parcel of land fronting 20 feet on said Main Street, with a uniform depth of
198 feet to an alley, containing 1/12 ofan acre ofland, more or less, being the same land conveyed
unto Walter H. Davis by deed of John B, Saylor, bearing date December 11,1908, and recorded
among the Land Records aforesaid in Liber D P.S. No, 110, folio 177.
The aggregate alnount of the above land being 1/3 of an acre, more or less, having an
aggregate frontage on Main Street of80 feet and a uniform depth of 198 feet to an alley.
BEING the same land which was granted, conveyed and assigned unto Davis Library, Inc.,
by the deed of Walter H. Davis and Elizabeth R. Davis, dated January 31, 1948, and recorded
among the Land Records ofCarroll County in Liber No, 201, folio 25 et seq.
PARCEL 1298
All of that lot or parcel of land situate on West Main Street, in the City of Westmtinster,
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Seventh Election District, Carroll County, Maryland and more particularly described and
designated as Lot No. 3 on a plat and certificate ofsurvey made by J. Henry Hoppe and recorded
among the Land Records ofCarroll County in Liber G.E.W. No 29, Folio 442 as follows:
Beginning for Lot No. 3 at "C" on the plat, at the end of the third line of Lot No. 2 and
running thence with and bounding on said line reversely as marked and bounded:
1. North 54 ½ degrees East 198 feet to Back Alley, thence with and bounding on said
Alley
2. North 35 ¾ degrees West 60 feet then
3. South 54 ½ degrees West 198 feet to King or Main Street, then running with and
bounding on said street
4. South 35 ¾ degrees East 60 feet to the beginning,
CONTAINING¼ acre more or less.
SAYING AND EXCEPTING THEREFROM the following parcels ofland:
FIRST: All that part ofLot No. 3 that was conveyed unto Walter H. Davis by deed ofJohn
B. Saylor. dated December 11, 1908 and recorded among the Land Records ofCarroll County in
Liber D .P .S. No. 110, Folio 177, and described therein as follows:
By a point on West Main Street in said City ofWestminster where the lands ofsaid
Walter H. Davis and John B. Saylor adjoin each other and running back on a straight line
one hundred ninety-eight feet to an alley, thence along said alley North twenty feet, then
by a straight line one hundred ninety-eight t to intersect said Main Street and adjoining the
lands ofsaid John B. Saylor purchased this date from The George W. Albaugh Real Estate
and Brokerage Company ofCarroll County, thence bounding on said Main Street South
twenty feet to the place ofbeginning ... CONTAINING one-twelfth ofan acre ofland more
or less.
SECOND: All those two parcels or strips ofland designated and described on State Roads
Commission Plats Nos. 43951 and 43952 that were conveyed unto the State ofMary land to the
use ofthe State Highway Administration by deed ofPopi Amprazes, dated March 21, 1975, and
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recorded among the Land Records of Carroll County in Liber c.c.c. No. 591, folio 260, etc. and
more particularly described on said plats as follows:
A . Beginning at a point on Back Alley, said point being the end of the second line of Lot
No . 3 as described in the Plat made by J. Henry Hoppe and recorded among the Land Records of
Carroll County in Liber G.E .W . No . 29, folio 442, and proceeding therefrom:
1)

South 37 degrees 55 minutes 00.2 seconds East 40.60 feet: thence

2)

South 52 degrees 05 minutes O 1 .1 second West 5.56 feet; thence

3)

North 39 degrees 24 minutes 34.6 seconds West 40.81 feet; thence

4)

North 52 degrees 05 minutes 01.l second East, 6.62 feet to the place of beginning

... CONTAINING 249 square feet of land, more or less.
B. Beginning at a point distant twenty feet from the end of the fourth line of Lot No. 3 as
described in the Plat of J. Henry Hoppe and recorded in the Land Records of Carroll County in
Liber G.E.W. No. 29, Folio 442 and proceeding therefore reversely with the fourth line of Lot No.
3:
1)

North 37 degrees 54 minutes 55,4 seconds West, 18.64 feet; thence

2)

By an arc 57.17 feet in length having a radius of 229.63 feet and a chord bearing

North 79 degrees 46 minutes 27.1 seconds East 57.09 feet; thence
3)

North 85 degrees 14 minutes 24.3 seconds East, 22.15 feet; thence

4)

South 52 degrees 05 minutes 01.1 second West, 69.09 feet to the place of beginning

... CONTAINING 1447 square feet of land, more or less.
Being the remaining interest in the land conveyed to Thomas H. Amprazes by deed of
William Lefteris dated January 22, 1937, and recorded among the Land Records of Carroll
County in Liber No. L.D.M. 166, Folio 43 and further being all of the remaining interest in the
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second parcel described and conveyed unto Thomas H. Amprazes and Popi Amprazes by deed of
Phyllis E. Schneider, dated May 7, 1959, and recorded among the Land Records of Carroll County
in Liber. 304, Folio 432, the herein described vested in Popi Amprazes on the death of Thomas H.
Amprazes on July 16, 1959.
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EXHIBIT

._

Cf,�

RULES AND REGULATIONS

1.
Tenant will comply with all rules and regulations issued by all
governmental agencies whose jurisdiction affects the Premises or the Building of which
the Premises are a part.
2.

Tenant shall not overload the floor capacity of the Premises.

3.

Tenant shall not sell any pornographic books, magazines or other material.

4.
Tenant shall not sell or serve any alcoholic beverages for consumption on
or off the Premises.
5.
Tenant shall not sell any additional merchandise or conduct any business
or perform any additional service on the Premises which would violate or be in conflict
with any restrictive use covenant or exclusive use privilege at any time binding upon
landlord under any lease in the Building, but this shall not be deemed to preclude the use
allowed under the "Permitted Use" section of the Lease.
6.
No sign, placard, picture, advertisement, name or notice shall be
inscribed, displayed, printed or affixed on or to any part of the outside or inside of the
Building without the Tenant first obtaining the wrttten consent of Landlord. Landlord
shall have the right to remove any such sign, placard, picture, advertisement, name or
notice without notice to and at the expense of Tenant. All approved signs or lettering on
doors shall be printed, painted, or affixed or inscribed at the expense of Tenant by a
person or company approved by the Landlord. Tenant shall not place anything or allow
anything to be placed near or on the glass of any window, door, partition or wall which
may appear unsightly from outside the Premises.
7.
No awnings or other projections shall be attached to the outside walls of
the Building. No curtains, blinds, shades or screens shall be attached to or hung in, or
used in connection with, any window or door of the Premises, without the prior written
consent of Landlord. Such curtains, blinds and shades must be of a quality, type, design,
and color, and attached in a manner approved by Landlord.
8.
The sidewalks, halls, passages, exits, entrances, elevators and stairways
shall not by obstructed by Tenants or used by them for any purpose other than for ingress
to and egress from their respective Premises. All halls, passages, exits, entrances,
elevators, stairways, balconies and roof are not for the use of the general public and the
Landlord shall in all cases retain the right to control and prevent access thereto by all
persons whose presence, in the sole judgment of the Landlord, shall be prejudicial to the
safety, character, reputation and interests of the Building and its Tenants, provided, that
nothing herein contained shall be construed to prevent such access to persons with whom
the Tenant normally deals in the ordinary course of business, unless such persons are
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engaged in illegal activities. Unless making repairs required to be made under the terms
of the Lease to heating, ventilation or air-conditioning located thereon, neither Tenant nor
any employees or invitees of the Tenant shall have access to or go upon the roof of the
Building without the prior approval of the Landlord.
9.
After regular business hours on weekdays, Saturdays, Sundays and legal
holidays, Tenant, its agents, servants, employees and invitees, shall abide by such
security rules and regulations as Landlord may promulgate.
10.
Water closets and urinals shall not be used for any purpose other than
those for which they were constructed; and no sweepings, rubbish, ashes, newspaper or
any other substances of any kind shall be thrown into them. Waste and excessive or
· unusual use of electricity or water is prohibited.
11.
Abnormal amounts of trash or garbage generated by either Tenant's initial
move into, or occupancy of the Premises, or the purchase of equipment or fixtures placed
on the Premises shall be removed by Tenant at its sole cost or expense and shall not be
placed in the dumpster provided by Landlord.
12.
Tenant shall not make or permit to be made any loud or offensive noises
which can be heard beyond the confines of its Premises, keep any foul or noxious gas or
substance or other disturbances of any kind in the Premises or within the Building.
Tenant shall be responsible for insuring that any office equipment and machinery is
installed in such a manner as to absorb and prevent the transmission of vibration and
noise beyond the confines of the Premises so as not to disturb other Tenants in the
Building.
13.
No additional lock or locks shall be placed by Tenant on any door in the
Building, without the prior written consent of Landlord. Two keys will be furnished
Tenant by Landlord; two additional keys will be supplied to Tenant by Landlord, upon
request, without charge; any additional keys requested by Tenant shall be paid for by
Tenant. Tenant, its agents and employees, shall not have any duplicate key made and
shall not change any locks. All keys to doors and washrooms shall be returned to
Landlord at the termination of the tenancy, and, in the event of loss of any keys
furnished, Tenant shall pay Landlord the cost thereof.
14.
Tenant shall not use any other method of heating or air conditioning than
that provided by the Landlord, without first obtaining the written consent of the Landlord.
15.
No animals or birds of any kind shall be kept in or permitted on or about
the Premises or any other part of the Building.
16.
No cooking (except with minor appliances, ie.- coffee pot, small
microwave) shall be done 01· permitted by any Tenant on the Premises, nor shall the
Premises be used for the storage of merchandise, washing clothes, lodging or for any
improper, objectionable or immoral purposes.
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17.
Tenant shall not be pennitted to use or keep explosives, kerosene, cleaning
fluid or any other illuminating, combustible or explosive material or substance of any
kind in the Building or the Premises.
18.
Tenant shall not be permitted to keep food upon the Premises except in
proper containers, cabinets and refrigerators and in strict accordance with all applicable
rules, regulations and ordinances of all local health and sanitation authorities.
19.
Tenant shall comply with all Tenant requirements issued and mandated
by insurance companies insuring the Building. Tenant covenants that it will not do nor
permit to be done, nor keep nor pe1mit to be kept upon the Premises, anything which will
contravene the policy or policies of insurance against loss by fire or other causes, or
which will increase the rate of fire or other insurance on the Building or on the Premises
beyond the rate payable by the Landlord prior to the Tenant's occupancy. Should any act
of the Tenant so increase such rate, then, in addition to the rentals in the lease, the Tenant
shall pay when billed such additional premium, which shall be payable as additional rent,
collectible in the same manner as the rentals provided for. The Tenant covenants that
under no circumstances will it keep or permit to be kept, do or permit to be done in or
about said premises, anything of a character so hazardous as to render it difficult,
impracticable or impossible to secure such insurance in companies acceptable to the
Landlord, and further, immediately upon notice, to remove from the Premises anything
and desist from any practice deemed by the insurance companies or the Association of
Fire Underwriters as so affecting the insurance risk. The Tenant covenants that no waste
or damage shall be committed upon the Premises. Tenant shall bear all risks of any
violation of any provision of this section of the Lease and shall defend, indemnify and
save Landlord harmless from all damages and expenses (including legal fees) resulting
from any such violation.
20.
Landlord reserves the right to institute energy management procedures
(such as programmable thermostats) when applicable.
21.
No vending, video, amusement machine or machines of any other
description shall be installed, maintained or operated upon the Premises or the Building
without the prior written consent of the Landlord.
22.
No Tenant shall lay linoleum, tile, carpet or other similar floor covering so
that the same shall be affixed to the floor of the Premises or the Building in any manner
except as approved by the Landlord. The expense of repairing any damage resulting
from violation of this rule, or of removing any floor covering shall be borne and paid for
by the Tenant who violated or permitted the violation of this Rule, either by its own
actions or the actions of its contractors or employers.
23.
Landlord shall inspect the Premises prior to the vacation of the Premises
by the Tenant and the Tenant shall be responsible for any damage done to the Premises
by Tenant in the course of its occupancy or vacation of the Premises.
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24.
No contract of any kind for the removal of waste paper, rubbish or
garbage, or other cleaning service shall be entered into by Tenant for the Premises or any
other portion of the Premises without the prior written approval of the Landlord.
25.
Canvassing, soliciting and peddling in the Building are prohibited, and
Tenant shall cooperate with Landlord to prevent these practices.
26.
There shall not be used in the Premises or in the Building, either by
Tenant or by others in the delivery or receipt of merchandise, any hand trucks except
those equipped with rubber tires and side guards.
27.
Landlord shall have the right to prohibit any advertising by Tenant
(including, but not limited to, advertising concerning liquidation, going out of business
sales and the like) which in Landlord's opinion tends to impair the reputation of the
Building or its desirability as a building for offices, and upon written notice from
Landlord, Tenant shall refrain from or discontinue such adve11ising.
28.
Landlord hereby reserves to itself any and all rights not granted to Tenant
hereunder, including, but not limited to, the following rights which are reserved to
Landlord for its purposes in operating the Building:
(a) the exclusive right to the use of the name of the Building for all purposes,
except that Tenant may use the name as its business address and for no other purpose;
(b) the right to change the name or address of the Building, without incurring
any liability to Tenant for so doing;
(c) the right to install and maintain a sign or signs on the exterior of the
Building or within the Building Area;
(d) the exclusive right to use or dispose of the use of the roof of the Building;
(e) the right to limit the space on the directory of the Building to be allotted to
Tenant except that Tenant's name shall appear on an directories; and
(f) the right to grant to anyone the right to conduct any pa11icular business or
undertaking in the Building.
29. The Building is a smoke-free building. Tenant shall not allow their
employees, agents, customers, licensees, invitees and parties with whom they do business
to use the Premises, the common areas or any area within fifty (50) feet for smoking.
30.
The Landlord reserves the right at any time to rescind any one or more of
these Rules and Regulations, or to make such other and further reasonable Rules and
Regulations as in the Landlord's judgment may, from time to time, be necessary for the
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safety, care artd cleanliness of the Building or any part thereof, and for the preservation of
other herein.
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Resolution No. 20-01 -Sustainable Maryland

To:

Mayor and Common Council

From: Barbara B. Matthews, City Administrator
Date:

March 2, 2021

Re:

Sustainable Maryland Program

Background
On October 28, 2019, the Mayor and Common Council discussed the possibility of pursuing certification
through the Sustainable Maryland Program. Sustainable Maryland is a free and voluntary certification
program for municipalities in Maryland that want to go green, save money, and take steps to sustain their
quality of life over the long term. Sustainable Maryland is a collaborative effort between the Environmental
Finance Center at the University of Maryland and the Maryland Municipal League.
The elected body held a follow up discussion regarding the Sustainable Maryland Program on February 22,
2021. On this date, the Mayor and Common Council agreed that the City of Westminster should pursue
becoming Sustainable Maryland Certified.
The first step in the certification process is adoption of a resolution stating the municipality’s intent to pursue
Sustainable Maryland certification and designating a person to be the formal liaison and contact with
Sustainable Maryland. Resolution No. 21-01 would fulfill this requirement.
Once a municipality is certified, the certification is valid for three program years. Re-certification is required
prior to the end of the third year.
Recommendation
Staff recommends that the Mayor and Common Council adopt Resolution No. 21-01.
Attachments
• Resolution No. 21-01
• Sustainable Maryland Overview Brochure
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CITY OF WESTMINSTER, MARYLAND
RESOLUTION NO. 21-01
SUPPORTING THE CITY OF WESTMINSTER’S PARTICIPATION
IN THE SUSTAINABLE MARYLAND CERTIFICATION PROGRAM
WHEREAS,

a sustainable community seeks to optimize the quality of life for its residents by ensuring
that its environmental, economic, and social objectives are balanced and mutually
supportive; and

WHEREAS,

the City of Westminster strives to save tax dollars; ensure clean land, air, and water;
and, improve working and living environments as steps to building a sustainable
community that will thrive in the future; and

WHEREAS,

the City of Westminster hereby acknowledges that the residents of Westminster desire
a stable, sustainable future for themselves and future generations; and

WHEREAS,

the City of Westminster wishes to support a model of government that benefits its
residents now and far into the future by exploring and adopting local government
practices that are sustainable and economically sound; and

WHEREAS,

by endorsing a sustainable path, the City of Westminster is pledging to educate itself
and members of the Westminster community further about sustainable activities and
to develop initiatives supporting sustainable local government practices; and

WHEREAS,

as elected representatives of the City of Westminster, the Mayor and Common Council
have a significant responsibility to provide leadership in seeking community-‐based
sustainable solutions to strengthen the Westminster community.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT to focus attention and effort within the City of Westminster
on matters of sustainability, the Mayor and Common Council wish to pursue local initiatives and actions
that will lead to Sustainable Maryland Municipal Certification.
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT the Mayor and Common Council do hereby authorize the City
Administrator to serve as the City of Westminster’s agent for the Sustainable Maryland Municipal
Certification process and hereby authorize the City Administrator to complete the Municipal
Registration on behalf of the City of Westminster.
Attest: ______________________________
Shannon M. Visocsky, City Clerk
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SUSTAINABLE

MARYLAND
•CERTIFIED•

HELPING COMMUNITIES INVEST TODAY FOR A MORE LIVABLE TOMORROW

Sustainable Maryland

is a free and voluntary certification program for municipalities in Maryland
that want to go green, save money, and take steps to sustain their quality of life.
The mission of Sustainable Maryland is to enhance livability for all Marylanders
by helping municipalities choose a direction for their sustainability efforts,
improve access to resources needed to implement action, measure their progress,
and gain recognition for their accomplishments.
Sustainable Maryland helps communities:
• Gain access to training, tools, funding, and expert guidance;
• Save money and improve the bottom line;
• Conserve resources while promoting community resiliency.

Sustainable Maryland features:
• Free and voluntary program that makes participation easy and accessible
• Comprehensive vision that helps communities plan across multiple priorities
•C
 ustomizable menu of concrete actions, allowing communities to select
initiatives that best fit their specific needs
• Statewide recognition of certified communities’ accomplishments

Getting Started
Please visit the Sustainable Maryland website, www.sustainablemaryland.com,
to learn more about the program and how to begin the process of certification.
The list of sustainability actions and implementation tools available for your
community to consider adopting are provided and explained in detail on
the website.
To initiate the certification process, municipalities need to adopt a resolution,
ordinance, or proclamation or draft a formal letter stating intent to pursue
Sustainable Maryland certification and then register on the website. After
registration, municipalities are strongly encouraged to participate in Green
Team Training. To achieve certification, municipalities will need to implement
the necessary actions to qualify and submit the appropriate documents as
evidence that satisfies the Sustainable Maryland requirements.
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SPONSORS

Actions for Sustainable Communities:
To become Sustainable Maryland Certified, municipalities must complete and document actions from the list below. To achieve
certification, municipalities will need to complete actions worth a total of 150 points, including two Mandatory Actions (M) and
two of six Priority Actions (P), and submit the appropriate documents as evidence that the requirements have been satisfied.
ACTION ITEM
LOCAL ECONOMIES (CONTINUED)

POINTS

COMMUNITY ACTION
Green Team
Participate in SM Green Team Training
Create a Green Team
Complete a Green Team Action Plan
Conduct Community Barriers and Benefits Assessment
Build SM Resource Center
Participation in MD Green Schools
Innovative Demonstration Projects

Green Business Certification Program
Green Purchasing
Green Purchasing Policy
Evaluate Current Purchasing Practices
Vendor Preference Statement
Purchase Recycled Products
Purchase Environmentally Preferable Products
Implement Waste Reduction Program
Innovative Demonstration Projects

5
10 M
10 M
15
5
10
5 to 20

COMMUNITY-BASED FOOD SYSTEM
Local Food Consumption
Local Food Fair
Local Food Consumption & Preservation Classes
Establish Local Farmers Market
Promote Local Farmers Market
Local Food Production
Community Gardens
Spring Transplant Sale
Fall Transplant Sale
Establish CSA Drop-off Location
Innovative Demonstration Projects

Watershed Stewardship
Implement Watershed Stewardship/Pollution
Prevention Outreach Program(s)
Facilitate Engagement in Existing Watershed
Stewardship Opportunities
Provide Voluntary Opportunities for Citizen
Engagement in Watershed Stewardship
Provide Incentives for Watershed Stewardship
on Private Lands
Create a Watershed Plan
Stormwater Management
Stormwater Management Program
Stormwater Manager/Coordinator
Stormwater Fee Structure
Septic Management
Septics System Assessment and Inventory
Septics System Management Plan
Dedicated Septic System Fund
Water Conservation
Develop a Water Conservation Plan
Develop a Water Conservation Outreach Program
Tree City USA
Pet Waste
Implement a Pet Waste Education Program
Develop a Pet Waste Program
Adopt a Pet Waste Ordinance
Innovative Demonstration Projects

10
5 per class
15
5
15 P
10
10
10
5 to 20

10 (1st bldg), 5 (consec bldgs) P
5 to 20+
10
5 to 20

GREENHOUSE GAS
Municipal Carbon Footprint
Community Carbon Footprint
Climate Planning
Climate Action Plan
Cliimate Change Adaptation Element
Innovative Demonstration Projects

15 P
15
10 to 25+
5
5 to 20

HEALTH & WELLNESS
Let’s Move
Workplace Wellness
Join Healthiest Maryland Businesses
Workplace Wellness Program
Living Well Program
Innovative Demonstration Projects

15
15 P
10
10
10
10
10
5 to 20

NATURAL RESOURCES

ENERGY
Municipal Energy Audits
Residential Energy Efficiency
Wind Energy Project
Innovative Demonstration Projects

POINTS

15

5 per event
10
15
20 P
15 P
15
20
15
20
20
15
10
15
5
5
5
5 to 20

PLANNING AND LAND USE

5
5 to 15
5 per class
5 to 20

Participation in DHCD Sustainable Communities
Housing and the Comprehensive Plan
Land Preservation
Conduct Easement Outreach that Encourages
Inspection, Evaluation, and Stewardship
Build Easement Inventory
Innovative Demonstration Projects

LOCAL ECONOMIES
Buy Local
Establish Local Business Directory
10
Promote Local Business Directory
5
Buy Local Campaign
15
Local Business Roundtable
5 per roundtable
Local Business Procurement Notices
10
Economic Analysis of Procurement Practices
15
Local Purchasing Preference Policy
10
Green Business Recognition
Join Maryland Green Registry
5
Promote Maryland Green Registry
5 points per 2 businesses
Please note: Sustainable Maryland Certified actions and points may be subject to change.
Printed on 55% recycled & 30% post-consumer waste paper.

10

P denotes Priority Action

VISIT
EMAIL
PHONE
LIKE
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20
10
15
10
5 to 20

M denotes Mandatory Action

www.sustainablemaryland.com
info@sustainablemaryland.com
301.405.7956
www.facebook.com/SustainableMaryland

ENVIRONMENTAL
FINANCE CENTER

October 2015

ACTION ITEM

